# Dietary Manipulation of Fatty Acid Biosynthesis and Metabolism to Improve Fish Performance and Fillet Content With an Emphasis on Omega-3 LC-PUFA and Arachidonic Acid When Feeding High Plant oil Feeds

A Dissertation

Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the

Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

with a

Major in Natural Resources

In the

College of Graduate Studies

University of Idaho

By

Jeongwhui Hong

Major Professor: Brian C. Small, Ph.D.

Committee Members: Ronald W. Hardy, Ph.D; Kenneth E. Overturf, Ph.D;

Kenneth D. Cain, Ph.D.

Department Administrator: Janet Rachlow, Ph.D.

December 2022

### Abstract

Fish oils have been used as the primary source of dietary lipid in aquafeeds, especially for salmonids and marine species, which require the supply of long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids (LC-PUFA) such as eicosapentaenoic acid (20:5n-3, EPA), docosahexaenoic acid (22:6n-3, DHA) and arachidonic acid (20:5n-6, ARA), considered essential fatty acids for many species. However, fish oils have been in increasingly higher demand in the aquaculture industry, while fixed or diminishing supplies have resulted in higher prices, creating the need for alternative oils. In recent decades, extensive research has been conducted to find alternative, sustainable lipid sources for aquafeeds. Plant-derived oils such as soybean, canola, and linseed oil have been widely used and studied in the aquaculture field because they are reasonably cost-effective and readily available. However, the increasing use of such oils has resulted in the decline of beneficial omega-3 fatty acids in the fish fillet, thereby reducing the nutritional value to the final consumer. This thesis aims to investigate fatty acid metabolism by supplementing cholesterol, which plays a vital role in stimulating fatty acid  $\beta$ -oxidation and the conversion of  $\alpha$ -linolenic acid (ALA) to DHA, to plant oils (soybean and linseed oils) widely used in aquafeed. Furthermore, this thesis includes an investigation of a novel lipid source to replace fish oil in the trout diet and to better understand fatty acid metabolism in an effort to increase beneficial omega-3 fatty acids in the fish fillet through metabolic processes. Following these studies, experiments were conducted to examine the effects of ARA, known as an essential fatty acid in some marine carnivorous species, on fatty acid metabolism, growth performance, health, and inflammatory responses of different size classes of trout. The first study demonstrated that fish fed 100% of linseed oil with cholesterol supplementation had significantly higher weight gain and feed intake compared to other plant-based diets. In addition, cholesterol supplementation numerically increased EPA and DHA levels in fish fillet when linseed oil was provided above 50%. The second study was conducted over a complete production cycle to evaluate a new transgenic canola oil (Latitude<sup>TM</sup> oil; Cargill) high in EPA, DPA and, DHA compared with conventional canola oil as a substitute for fish oil in rainbow trout feeds. The results of that study demonstrated that Latitude<sup>TM</sup> oil improves fish growth and yields elevated n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acid content in the fillet, making it a candidate lipid source

for use in rainbow trout feeds. However, both intestinal inflammation and size and number of absorptive vacuoles showed significant differences among diet with the distal intestine of fish fed 100% Latitude<sup>TM</sup> oil having a reduction in size and number of absorptive vacuoles and signs of inflammation. The last two studies, evaluating the effect of ARA in two different stages, swim-up and sub-adult, demonstrated that dietary ARA neither negatively nor positively affected growth performance during both stages. However, dietary ARA improved the immune and inflammatory response to hypoxia and high temperature by enhancing the activation of antioxidant pathways and inhibiting pro-inflammatory responses.

# Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to express my deep and sincere gratitude to my advisor, Dr. Brian C. Small, for giving me the opportunity to do research and providing invaluable guidance throughout this research. It was a great privilege and honor to work and study under his guidance. I would also like to express my gratitude to my graduate committee: Drs. Ronald W. Hardy, Kenneth E. Overturf, and Kenneth D. Cain. Thank you for challenging me and working to make me a better scientist.

I wish to express my sincere appreciation to the Aquaculture Research Institute faculty and staff (Dr. Matt Powell, Jana Cole, Carol Hoffman, Tim Boyle, and Julie Browning). This wouldn't have been possible without them. Special thanks to Dr. Jacob W. Bledsoe for his advice, guidance, and friendship.

I am thankful to all the personnel who were involved in my research: Eli Gough, Lorrie VanTassel, Sharla Smith, Jose Ortiz, Dr. Zhongqi Chen and, Dr. Seunghan Lee. The journey has been very pleasing and memorable with their presence.

# Dedication

I would like to dedicate this dissertation to my excellent wife, Yujin Kim, who has stuck by me throughout the entire doctorate program. To my wonderful son, Gio, you are my inspiration to achieve greatness. I would also like to dedicate to my parents for the neverending support, encouragement, and love and for making me who I am. I hope that I have made you proud. Without them, I would not be where I am today

ABSTRACT ······ii	ABSTRA
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS ······iv	ACKNO
DEDICATION ·······v	DEDICA
LIST OF TABLES ······xi	LIST OF
LIST OF FIGURES xiv	LIST OF
STATEMENT OF CONTRIBUTION xvi	STATEN
CHAPTER 1: REVIEW OF LITERATURE 1	CHAPTI
FISH OILS USE IN AQUAFEED 1	FIS
Introduction	1
Fish oil production 2	1
Uses of fish oil in aquaculture	l
LIPIDS IN FISH NUTRITION	LIF
Introduction	1
Lipid classes & Structures 4	1
Monoacylglycerols, Diacylglycerols, and Triacylglycerols	Λ
Wax esters and Sterols 5	I
Phospholipids and Sphingolipids	I
<i>Fatty acids</i> 6	1
Essential fatty acids in fish7	1
ALTERNATIVE OILS IN AQUAFEED	AL
Introduction ······ 8	1
<i>Vegetable oils</i> ······ 9	Ţ
Terrestrial animal fat ······11	5
Single-cell oils ······12	
Genetically modified oilseed plants	(
FISH OIL REPLACEMENT BY PLANT-BASED OILS	FIS
Effects on fish growth	1
Effects on fatty acid metabolism ······15	1
Effects on fish health and inflammatory response	1

# **Table of Contents**

Effects on human health	
CONCLUSION AND OBJECTIVES ······	
LITERATURE CITED	
CHAPTER 2: BALANCING DIETARY LIPID AND CHOLEST	EROL TO
INCREASE FILLET OMEGA-3 DEPOSITION IN RAINBOW 7	FROUT FED A SOY-
BASED DIET	
ABSTRACT ·····	
INTRODUCTION	
METHODS AND MATERIALS	
Dietary Treatments and Formulation	
Fish and Feeding Trial	
Fatty Acid Analysis	
Real-time qPCR ·····	
Calculations	
Statistical analysis	
RESULTS ·····	
Diets	
Growth Trial	
Whole-Body Proximate Composition	
Chemical analysis	
Fatty acid analysis	
Gene expression	
DISCUSSION ·····	
LITERATURE CITED	

CHAPTER 3: LATITUDE <sup>TM</sup>	OIL AS A SUSTAINABLE ALTERNATIVE TO
DIETARY FISH OIL IN RAI	NBOW TROUT (ONCORHYNCHUS MYKISS):
EFFECTS ON FILET FATTY	ACID PROFILES, INTESTINAL HISTOLOGY, AND
PLASMA BIOCHEMISTRY	
ABSTRACT ······	
INTRODUCTION	

METHODS AND MATERIALS ······77
Experimental Design and Diets ······77
Experimental Fish and Feed Trial······78
Sample Collection and Proximate Analysis78
Antioxidant and Non-specific Immune Assays80
Histological Analysis ······81
RNA Extraction and Quantitative PCR81
Calculation and Statistical Method······82
RESULTS ······83
Growth Performance and Feed Utilization83
Whole-Body, Liver and Filet Proximate Composition
Antioxidant and Non-specific Immune Responses
Histological Examination ······84
Fatty Acid Composition of Filet
Gene Expression85
DISCUSSION ······85
CONCLUSIONS
LITERATURE CITED

CHAPTER 4: EFFECTS OF DIETARY ARACHIDONIC ACID ON THE EARLY-		
STAGE GROWTH PERFORMANCE, OXIDATIVE STRESS AND INFLAMMATORY RESPONSES OF RAINBOW TROUT TO HYPOXIA AT TWO		
ABSTRACT ······		
INTRODUCTION	113	
METHODS AND MATERIALS	115	
Experimental Diets	115	
Fish, Feeding Trial and Experimental design	115	
Proximate and Fatty acid Analysis	117	
Antioxidant, Non-specific Immune Assays and Prostagla	undin E2 Analysis 118	
Blood Biochemical Parameters	118	

RNA Extraction and Quantitative PCR 119
Calculation and Statistical Method 120
RESULTS 121
Growth Performance and Feed Utilization
Antioxidant, Non-specific Immune Assays and Prostaglandin E2 Analysis 121
Blood Biochemical Parameters 121
Gene Expression 122
DISCUSSION
LITERATURE CITED 128

<b>CHAPTER 5: EFFECTS OF DIETARY ARACHIDONIC ACID</b>	)
SUPPLEMENTATION ON GROWTH PERFORMANCE, NON	-SPECIFIC
IMMUNITY, INFLAMMATORY RESPONSE TO ACUTE STR	RESS DURING FINAL
GROW-OUT IN RAINBOW TROUT	
ABSTRACT	
INTRODUCTION ·····	146
METHODS AND MATERIALS	147
Experimental Diets	147
Fish, Feeding Trial and Experimental design	
Sample collection and Proximate and Fatty acid Analysis $\cdots$	
Non-specific immune responses, Prostaglandin E2, and Cor	tisol analysis 149
RNA Extraction and Quantitative PCR	150
Calculation and Statistical Method	151
RESULTS	152
Growth Performance and Feed Utilization	152
Whole-body proximate composition	152
Fatty acid composition of whole-body and ovary	152
Non-specific immune responses, Prostaglandin E2, and Cor	tisol analysis 153
Gene Expression	153
DISCUSSION ·····	153
LITERATURE CITED	158

CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSION ·····	• 174
SYNTHESIS OF RESEARCH FINDINGS	· 174
Nutritional and Biochemical Approach to Enhance n-3 LC-PUFA	• 174
Potential Issues of Fish oil Replacement	· 177
Future Research Directions ·····	· 179
LITERATURE CITED	· 182

# List of Tables

Table 2.1. Ingredient and nutrient composition of the experimental diets fed to rainbow
trout juveniles (%, as-fed basis)59
Table 2.2. Fatty acid composition (% of total fatty acids) of the experimental diets60
Table 2.3. Sterol concentration of the experimental diets.   61
Table 2.4. Growth performance and feed utilization of rainbow trout juveniles fed all 12
experimental diets for 12 weeks62
Table 2.5. Whole-body proximate composition (%, wet basis) of rainbow trout juveniles
fed experimental diets for 12 weeks62
Table 2.6. Two-way ANOVA of growth performance and feed utilization of rainbow
trout juveniles fed 10 experimental diets (w/o FM/FO, PM/FO) for 12 weeks63
Table 2.7. Plasma cholesterol content of rainbow trout juveniles fed experimental diets
for 12 weeks
Table 2.8. Fillet fatty acid composition (% of total fatty acids) of rainbow trout
juveniles fed experimental diets for 12 weeks65
Table 2.9. Two-way ANOVA of fillet fatty acid composition of rainbow trout juveniles
fed 10 experimental diets (w/o FM/FO, PM/FO) for 12 weeks66
Table 3.1. Formulation and proximate composition of the experimental diets (as fed).   99
Table 3.2. Analyzed fatty acid profile of the experimental diets.   100
Table 3.3. Primers sequences used in real-time qPCR for the determination of gene
expression. •••••• 101
Table 3.4. Growth performance and feed utilization of rainbow trout fed for 52 weeks.
Table 3.5. Whole-body, liver and filet proximate composition and gross energy (wet
basis) of rainbow trout fed experimental diets for 52 weeks 103
Table 3.6. Non-specific immune responses of rainbow trout fed experimental diets for
<b>52 weeks.</b> 103
Table 3.7. Histological scoring of rainbow trout distal intestine and liver tissue
following different dietary treatment fed for 52 weeks

Table 3.8. Filet fatty acid composition of rainbow trout fed experimental diets for 52
weeks
Table 3.9. Criteria used for the histological evaluation of the distal intestine and liver of
rainbow trout at the end of feeding trial
Table 4.1. Formulation and proximate composition of the experimental diets (as fed).
Table 4.2. Analyzed fatty acid profile of the experimental diets. 138
Table 4.3. Growth performance and feed utilization of rainbow trout swim-up fed for 8
weeks
Table 4.4. Growth performance and feed utilization of rainbow trout juvenile fed for 16
weeks after redistribution
Table 4.5. Primers sequences used in real-time qPCR for the determination of gene
expression. ····· 140
Table 4.6. Plasma non-specific immune responses, prostaglandin $E_2$ , and cortisol
concentrations of rainbow trout fed the different ARA levels
Table 4.7. Hematological and biochemical characteristics of rainbow trout fed the
different ARA levels. 142
Table 4.8. Plasma non-specific immune responses, prostaglandin E2, and cortisol
concentrations of rainbow trout fed the different ARA levels
Table 5.1. Formulation and proximate composition of the experimental diets (as fed).
Table 5.2. Analyzed fatty acid profile of the experimental diets. 167
Table 5.3. Growth performance and feed utilization of rainbow trout sub-adult fed for
<b>12 weeks.</b>
Table 5.4. Primers sequences used in real-time qPCR for the determination of gene
expression 169
Table 5.5. Whole-body proximate composition and gross energy (wet basis) of rainbow
trout fed experimental diets for 12 weeks 169
Table 5.6. Fatty acid composition (% of total fatty acids) of whole-body of rainbow
trout sub-adult fed experimental diets for 12 weeks

Table 5.7. Fatty acid composition (% of total fatty acids) of ovaries of rainbow trout
sub-adult fed experimental diets for 12 weeks 171
Table 5.8. Plasma non-specific immune responses, prostaglandin E2, and cortisol
concentrations of rainbow trout fed for 12 weeks 172
Table 6.1. Fatty acid composition of fish oil and Latitude oil used in the study (Chapter
<b>3</b> )168

# List of Figures

Figure 1.1. World capture fisheries and aquaculture production. Notes: Excluding
aquatic mammals crocodiles, alligators, caimans and algae. Data expressed in live weight
equivalent. Source: FAO 41
Figure 1.2. Utilization of fish oil. Source: IFFO
Figure 1.3. Polyunsaturated fatty acid biosynthesis pathway. $\Delta 12$ and $\Delta 15$ desaturases
are found only in plants and some invertebrates, thus C18:2n-6 and C18:3n-3 cannot be
synthesized in vivo. 42
Figure 2.1. Weight gain (g/fish) of rainbow trout juveniles fed experimental diets for 12
weeks. Bars represent mean ± SE of triplicate samples
Figure 2.2. Feed intake (g, DM/ fish) of rainbow trout juveniles fed experimental diets
for 12 weeks. Bars represent mean $\pm$ SE of triplicate samples. Two-way ANOVA indicated a
significant Cholesterol x Soy oil / Linseed oil ratio interaction ( $P < 0.05$ )
Figure 2.3. EPA and DHA contents in fillet of rainbow trout juveniles fed experimental
diets for 12 weeks. Bars represent mean $\pm$ SE of triplicate samples. The interaction of the
two main factors (Cholesterol x Soy/Linseed oil ratio) significantly affected EPA ( $P = 0.051$ )
DHA content in fish fillet ( $P < .05$ )
Figure 2.4. Relative mRNA expression of genes (normalized against $elf1\alpha$ ) involved in
elongase ( <i>elovl2</i> and <i>elovl5</i> ), desaturase ( <i>d5fad</i> and <i>d6fad</i> ), $\beta$ -oxidation ( <i>ehhadh</i> ) and
fatty acid transport (fabp2) of liver of rainbow trout juveniles fed experimental diets for
12 weeks. Mean $\pm$ SE (n=9 fish per treatment) in the same row that share the same
superscript are not statistically different ( $P > 0.05$ ; Completely Randomized Design, One-
factor ANOVA; Tukey's HSD test)
Figure 2.5. Relative mRNA expression of genes (normalized against $elf1\alpha$ ) involved in
elongase ( <i>elovl2</i> and <i>elovl5</i> ), desaturase ( <i>d5fad</i> and <i>d6fad</i> ), $\beta$ -oxidation ( <i>ehhadh</i> ) and
fatty acid transport (fabp2) of muscle of rainbow trout juveniles fed experimental diets
for 12 weeks. Mean $\pm$ SE (n=9 fish per treatment) in the same row that share the same
superscript are not statistically different ( $P > 0.05$ ; Completely Randomized Design, One-
factor ANOVA; Tukey's HSD test)

Figure 3.1. Mean body weight over time of rainbow trout fed experimental diets
differing in oil source for 52 weeks 107
Figure 3.2. Principal component analysis (PCA) of the non-specific immune response
parameters (A) and the fillet fatty acid composition (B) of rainbow trout fed
experimental diets for 52 weeks 108
Figure 3.3. Relative mRNA expression (normalized against <i>arp</i> ) of genes involved in
elongation ( <i>elovl2</i> and <i>elovl5</i> ), desaturation ( $\Delta$ <i>5fad</i> and $\Delta$ <i>6fad</i> ) and $\beta$ -oxidation ( <i>acox</i> ) in
liver of rainbow trout fed experimental diets for 52 weeks. Mean $\pm$ SE (n = 9 fish per
treatment except diet 2, $n = 6$ ) in the same row that share the same superscript are not
statistically different ( $P > 0.05$ ) 109
Figure 3.4. Relative mRNA expression (normalized against Arp) of genes involved in

Figure 5.1. Relative mRNA expression of genes involved in conversion of ARA to eicosanoids (*cox-2* and *lox*), and pro- and anti-inflammatory response (*il-8*, *tnf-a*, *il-10*, *and tgf-β*) in distal intestine of rainbow trout fed experimental diets for 12 weeks. Mean  $\pm$  SE (n = 9 fish per treatment) in the same row that share the same superscript are not statistically different (*P* > 0.05). Three fish from each tank were used for gene expression.

# **Statement of Contribution**

The following people and institutions contributed to publications as part of this dissertation:

Candidate: Jeongwhui Hong, University of Idaho

Author 1: Jacob W. Bledsoe, University of Idaho

Author 2: Seunghan Lee, National Institute of Fisheries Science, South Korea

Author 3: Diliara Iassonova, Cargill

Author 4: Jose G. Ortiz, University of Idaho

Author 5: Kenneth E. Overturf, United States Department of Agriculture

Author 6: Ronald W. Hardy, University of Idaho

Author 7: Wendy M. Sealey, United States Department of Agriculture

Author 8: Brian C. Small, University of Idaho

Contribution of work by co-authors for each paper:

## Paper 1: Located in Chapter 2

Hong, J., Bledsoe, J.W., Overturf, K.E., Hardy, R.W. and Small, B.C., 2022. Balancing lipid and cholesterol to increase fillet omega-3 deposition in rainbow trout fed a soy-based diet.

- Conceived and designed experiment: Candidate, Author 5, Author 6, Author 8
- Performed the experiment: Candidate, Author 1
- Analyzed the date: Candidate, Author 1
- Wrote the manuscript: Candidate, Author 8

#### **Paper 2**: Located in Chapter 3

Hong, J., Bledsoe, J.W., Overturf, K.E., Lee, S., Iassonova, D. and Small, B.C., 2022. Latitude<sup>™</sup> Oil as a sustainable alternative to dietary fish oil in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus*  *mykiss*): Effects on filet fatty acid profiles, intestinal histology, and plasma biochemistry. Frontiers in Sustainable Food System, 6, p. 837628

- Conceived and designed experiment: Candidate, Author 2, Author 3, Author 5, Author 8
- Performed the experiment: Candidate, Author 1
- Analyzed the date: Candidate, Author 1
- Wrote the manuscript: Candidate, Author 8

# Paper 3: Located in Chapter 4

Hong, J. and Small, B.C., 2022. Effects of dietary arachidonic acid on the early-stage growth performance, oxidative stress and inflammatory responses of rainbow trout to hypoxia at two different temperatures.

- Conceived and designed experiment: Candidate, Author 8
- Performed the experiment: Candidate
- Analyzed the date: Candidate, Author 8
- Wrote the manuscript: Candidate, Author 8

# Paper 4: Located in Chapter 5

Hong, J., Ortiz, J.G., Sealey, W.M. and Small, B.C., 2022. Effects of dietary arachidonic acid supplementation on growth performance, non-specific immunity, inflammatory response to acute stress during final grow-out in rainbow trout.

- Conceived and designed experiment: Candidate, Author 7, Author 8
- Performed the experiment: Candidate, Author 4
- Analyzed the date: Candidate, Author 4
- Wrote the manuscript: Candidate, Author 8

# Chapter 1: Review of Literature

#### Fish Oils use in Aquafeed

## Introduction

Aquaculture is recognized as the fastest and largest growing food sector. Each year total capture fisheries production remains steady or decreases while total aquaculture production increases. The Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) reported that aquaculture production reached 87.5 million tonnes in 2020, 6% higher than in 2018. At the same time, capture fisheries production declined to 90.3 million tonnes, a 4% decrease compared to the average over the previous three years (Figure 1.1). Aquaculture began to be recognized as an important food production sector three to four decades ago that could bridge the gap between supply and demand for food fish. As the aquaculture industry grows, the importance of replacing fishmeal and fish oil has been highlighted for decades. It was estimated that the aquaculture sector utilized 3,724,000 and 835,000 metric tons of fishmeal and fish oil, approximating 68.2% and 88.5% of global production, respectively, in 2006 (Tacon and Metian, 2008). The overuse of fishmeal and fish oil is often considered a waste of valuable primary resources (Naylor et al., 2000; Aldhous, 2004; Turchini et al., 2010). In the early stages of aquaculture development, only fishmeal was considered a potential limiting factor in the development of the sector, and fish oil became important only in the last decade, with the development of high-lipid extruded salmonid feeds and the growing inclusion of EPA and DHA. (de Decker et al., 1998; Turchini et al., 2010). A metaanalysis reported in 2020 merged over ten years of experiments and data from aquaculture operations and documented that lowering fish oil in aquafeeds would substantially drop pelagic fish demand more than lowering fishmeal levels since it takes more biomass to produce one tonne of fish oil than one tonne of fishmeal (Cottrell et al., 2020). Aquaculture uses around 75% of the global fish oil supply, and the price of fish oil is expected to continue to rise (Bachis, 2017; Shepherd, 2011; Naylor et al., 2021). In addition to the economic issue of the increasing fish oil price, the aquaculture industry has been heavily criticized by scientists and environmental groups for its excessive use of fishmeal and fish oil (Naylor et

al., 2000; Worm et al., 2006; Turchini et al., 2009). Therefore, it is urgent to find sustainable alternatives to fish oil in aquaculture feeds.

#### Fish oil production

Fish oil is produced through a process called the reduction process, which includes the cycling of cooking, pressing, extraction, and drying to separate the fishmeal and fish oil (IFFO, 2021). In general, via the reduction process, 100 kg of fresh-fish raw material yields an average of 5-10 kg of fish oil (Turchini et al., 2010; Naylor et al., 2021). Over the last few years, the reduction industry has used approximately 25% of the world's capture fisheries. However, this volume of raw material has been causing ongoing controversy, with the advocacy being that this raw material should be utilized for direct human consumption, particularly in the developing world (Tacon and Metian, 2009).

A number of different species are used as whole fish, mainly small pelagic fish, such as Peruvian anchovy (*Engraulis ringens*), menhaden (*Brevoortia* spp.), blue whiting (*Micromesistius poutassou*), capelin (*Mallotus* spp.), sardine (*Sardinops sagax*), mackerel (*Trachurus/Scomber* spp.) and herring (*Clupea harengus*), Peruvian anchovy is the most utilized species for fishmeal and fish oil production among them. All of these species are considered fatty fish, having a fat content of 8% or more (Turchini et al., 2010).

The percentage of world fisheries destined for fish oil production has decreased over the last 20 years. Fish oil production amounts vary between 0.8 and 1.3 million tonnes yearly (IFFO, 2021). The variations from year to year are significantly affected by the supply of forage fish; the Peruvian anchovy fisheries are the world's largest in volume (varying between 3 and 7 million tonnes/year). The fluctuation of fish oil production is due to changes in the catches of those species linked to El Nino climate events, which bring warm water into the upwelling areas affecting stock quantity. The amount used for the reduction process to fishmeal and fish oil production peaked in 1994 at over 30 million tonnes and then decreased to less than 14 million tonnes in 2014. In 2018, it went up to about 18 million tonnes due to increased catches of Peruvian anchovy before dropping in the subsequent two years to reach over 16 million tonnes in 2020 (FAO, 2022). Continued reduction in supply has been associated with an increased demand caused by a fast-growing aquaculture industry, as well as pig and poultry farming and the pet food and nutraceutical industries (FAO, 2022). The increasing demand for fishmeal and fish oil led to an increase in their price because of the fact that supply is lower than demand.

#### Uses of fish oil in aquaculture

Fish oil is considered the most nutritious oil source, being a primary source of beneficial omega-3 fatty acids such as EPA and DHA, for farmed fish. Most of these omega-3 fatty acids are not made by the fish but are concentrated in fish through the food chain from the marine phytoplanktons that synthesize them. Fish evolved in environments that have limited availability of simple carbohydrates. In consequence, fish metabolism is adapted to depend on lipids as the main energy source compared to terrestrial animals (Hemre et al., 2002; Sargent et al., 2002; Polakof et al., 2012; Turchini et al., 2022). In the wild, carnivorous fish eat other fish to obtain omega-3 fatty acids in their diet, which the fish do not produce de novo. Fish oil from wild forage fish allows aquaculture feed to mimic the natural diets of carnivorous species and produce healthier and more valuable farmed seafood.

Fish oil is mainly used for aquaculture feeds, especially for carnivorous fish such as salmonids (salmon and trout) and marine species. According to the Marine Ingredients Organization (IFFO) estimates, in 2020, about 86% of fishmeal was used in aquaculture, 9% was destined for pig farming, 4% for other uses (mainly pet food), and 1% for poultry. In the same year, about 73% of fish oil was destined for aquaculture, 16% for human consumption, and 11% for other uses (including pet food and biofuel) (Figure 1.2).

## Lipids in Fish Nutrition

### Introduction

For fish, lipids are an important source of energy and essential fatty acids for regular growth, health, reproduction and bodily functions. Lipids also serve as structural components of biomembranes, carriers of fat-soluble vitamins, precursors to eicosanoids, hormones and vitamin D, and as enzyme co-factors (Higgs and Dong 2000; Turchini et al., 2009). The importance of lipids to fish production has become more critical recently concerning the production and implementation of high-lipid, energy-dense diets. Improvements in growth, feed utilization efficiency, and nutrient retention in fish fed such energy-dense diets benefit the fish farmer and the environment (Sargent et al., 2002). Insufficient dietary lipid levels in

feeds may increase the use of protein for energy and, as a consequence, increase ammonia excretion and thus water pollution (Kaushik and Cowey, 1991). On the other hand, excessive dietary lipid was reported to reduce feed intake and growth performance of several fish species (Peres and Oliva-Teles, 1999; Regost et al., 2003; Kim et al., 2006).

### Lipid classes & Structure

Lipid can be divided into two main classes, nonpolar lipids and polar lipids. Nonpolar lipids include monoacylglycerols, diacylglycerols, triacylglycerols, free fatty acids, steryl esters, and wax esters, while the major polar lipids include phospholipids and sphingolipids (Turchini et al., 2022).

#### Monoacylglycerols, Diacylglycerols, and Triacylglycerols

Glycerol, also known as glycerides, are a simple polyol compounds containing three carbon atoms with hydroxyl (-OH) groups bound to it. Monoacylglycerols are a type of glycerol that are made up of glycerol and one fatty acid chain. Monoacylglycerols are found naturally in almost all foods in small amounts. They can be either saturated or unsaturated depending on what type of fatty acid is esterified to a molecule of glycerol. Diacylglycerol, or diglyceride, is glycerol consisting of two fatty acid chains bound to a glycerol molecule through ester linkages. Monoacylglycerols and diacylglycerols can be extracted from plant or animal fats and oils as they are intermediates in the biosynthesis of triacylglycerols and other lipids and intermediates in catabolic processes, including the digestion of triacylglycerols (Turchini et al., 2022). Triacylglycerols comprise three fatty acids esterified with a glycerol backbone and are the most abundant lipid compound specifically used for energy storage. Many different fatty acids can be esterified to any site (sn-1, sn-2, and sn-3) of glycerol, enabling a great variety of triacylglycerol combinations. However, saturated fatty acids and monounsaturated fatty acids are commonly located in the sn-1 and sn-2 sites, whereas polyunsaturated and long-chain polyunsaturated are preferentially found in the sn-2 site of glycerol (Bell and Koppe, 2011). Accordingly, most of the EPA (50%) and DHA (80%) in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) were reported to be located in the sn-2 site of triacylglycerol (Ruiz-Lopez et al., 2015).

#### Wax esters and Sterols

A wax ester is an ester of fatty acid and fatty alcohol. Wax esters are particularly widespread in marine environments where they are present in animals, plants, and microbial tissues, performing a wide range of functions from energy storage to serving as waterproofing agents (Turchini et al., 2022). Wax esters are significantly abundant in marine zooplankton, such as calanoid copepods. Copepods are able to store substantial amounts of lipid at certain times of the year (Falk-Petersen et al., 1982, 2000; Turchini et al., 2009). Wax esters can contribute significant amounts of energy-rich fatty alcohols, including the long-chain monounsaturated 20:1 and 22:1 alcohols, which are generally oxidized upon absorption in fish intestine to long-chain monounsaturated fatty acid, preferred substrates for energy production (Henderson, 1996).

Sterols are tetracyclic hydrocarbon compounds, and cholesterol is the most abundant sterol in animals. Cholesterol has a unique structure consisting of four linked hydrocarbon rings forming the bulky steroid structure. A hydrocarbon tail is linked to one end of the steroid and a hydroxyl group is linked to the other. Cholesterol balances the fluidity of cell membranes, which is essential for cell membranogenesis, growth and differentiation, is a crucial structural element of muscle, brain, and the nervous system, and is the precursor for many physiologically active compounds, including sex and molting hormones, adrenal corticoids, bile acids and vitamin D (Vlahcevic et al., 1994, Kritchevsky, 2008; Parish et al., 2008; Zhang et al., 2009; Norambuena et al., 2013). Cholesterol is found only in small amounts in plants. On the other hand, phytosterols are present in plants such as campesterol, stigmasterol, sitosterol, and brassicasterol. It is known that phytosterols inhibit intestinal cholesterol absorption (Ostlund, 2004). Like cholesterol, phytosterols can occur as free sterols or as steryl esters, and there are significant variations between different vegetable oils in total sterol content (Verleyen et al., 2002)

#### Phospholipids and Sphingolipids

Phospholipids are amphiphilic molecules comprising a glycerol backbone with a hydrophilic polar head group and two hydrophobic fatty acyl tails (Sebaaly et al., 2019). The most well-known constituents of phospholipids are phosphatidylcholine, phosphatidylethanolamine, phosphatidylserine, and phosphatidylinositol, which are esterified to choline, ethanolamine, serine, and inositol, respectively (Turchini et al., 2010). Among them, the most common phospholipid is phosphatidylcholine, a principal constituent of cellular membranes. Phosphatidylcholine, also referred to as lecithin, has numerous roles, including providing a source of catabolic energy during embryogenesis in eggs and larvae (Finn et al., 1996), a source of essential fatty acids, phosphorous, and choline (Fraser et al., 1988) and an essential component in plasma lipoprotein synthesis involved in intestinal lipid absorption (Fontagne et al., 1998).

The major sphingolipid is sphingomyelin, a phospholipid but not based on a phosphatidic acid backbone. Instead, sphingolipids consist of a sphingoid base backbone and an amino alcohol. The phospholipids and sphingolipids function a major structural role in vertebrate cell membranes where they have several functions, including transport of ions, endo- and exocytosis, and providing an optimized environment for membrane-bound receptors and enzymes (Turchini et al., 2010). It was reported that lower sphingolipid content was seen in fish meat compared to red meat and poultry (Hellgren, 2001). The most abundant fatty acids in fish sphingomyelin were 24:1n-9 and 22:1n-9, whereas in red meat and poultry, 16:0 and 18:0 were the primary fatty acids (Hellgren, 2001).

## Fatty acids

Fatty acids are comprised of hydrocarbon chains terminating with carboxyl (-COOH) groups. The most commonly occurring fatty acids found in fish possess even numbers of carbon atoms (C12-C22). The fatty acids are named on the basis of the length of the carbon chain, the number of double bonds, and the position of the double bounds. The simplest fatty acids are the saturated form, referring to the fact that the carbon chains have no double bonds, and are designated 14:0, 16:0, etc., with the first number being the number of carbon atoms and the second being the number of double bonds. Saturated fatty acids are the predominant fatty acids in the highest amount of 92% of total fatty acids in coconut oil, mainly lauric acid (C12:0) and myristic acid (C14:0) (Kostik et al., 2013). Saturated fatty acids levels in rapeseed oil and rice bran oil are reported to be 6.3% and 22.5% of total fatty acids, respectively (Orsavova et al., 2015). Palmitic acid (C16:0) is the predominant saturated fatty acid in rice bran oil (20%) (Orsavova et al., 2015). Monounsaturated fatty acids are chemically categorized as fatty acids possessing a double bond. These fatty acids are present in fish and have chain lengths from C14 to C24. Monounsaturated fatty acids generally form the main part of the fatty acid composition in vegetable oils used to replace fish oil, such as 72.8% in rapeseed oil and 44% in rice bran oil, oleic acid (C18:1-9) being the most abundant monounsaturated fatty acids in these oils (Orsavova et al., 2015).

Polyunsaturated fatty acids are hydrocarbon chains containing two or more double bonds. The definition of polyunsaturated fatty acids as either n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid or n-6 polyunsaturated fatty acid refers to the position of the first double bond close to the methyl group of the fatty acid. Polyunsaturated fatty acids, including n-3 and n-6 fatty acids, are plentiful in fish oils and fewer quantities are present in some meat. The most important and abundant polyunsaturated fatty acids in fish are generally the n-3 fatty acids, whereas in freshwater fish, n-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids are often found at similar or higher concentrations (Karapanagiotidis et al., 2007). The primary n-3 fatty acids in marine fish are long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids such as EPA and DHA. Long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids refer to polyunsaturated fatty acids with 20 or more carbon atoms and three or more double bonds. The main n-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids in fish are linoleic acid (18:2n-6) and its metabolic product arachidonic acid (20:4n-6).

## Essential fatty acids in fish

The term 'essential' refers to those polyunsaturated fatty acids that must be provided in the diet because they cannot be synthesized de novo. According to the precise meaning of this term, only linoleic acid (18:2n-6) and alpha-linolenic acid (18:3n-3) can theoretically be considered essential fatty acids since fish do not possess the enzyme,  $\Delta 12$  and  $\Delta 15$ , that are involved in converting oleic acid to linoleic acid and to alpha-linolenic acid (present only in plants). Almost all vertebrates potentially have the ability to convert linoleic acid and alphalinolenic acid into arachidonic acid and EPA and DHA in vivo, respectively, by elongation and desaturation (Nakamura and Nara, 2004). However, these abilities seem to be lost in many fish as they adapted to environments where long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids are abundant. As a result of this, these species exhibit a dietary requirement for LC-PUFA (Sargent et al., 2002). The essential fatty acid requirements of fish can vary within a species according to their developmental stage and the environments where they evolved. It was documented that cold water freshwater fish such as salmonids have an essential requirement for n-3 fatty acids, mainly alpha-linolenic acid, whereas warm water freshwater fish such as tilapia require linoleic acid, and fish like catfish (*Ictalurus punctatus*) and common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*) require both n-3 and n-6 fatty acids (De Silva and Anderson, 1995; Tocher 2010). The requirements for n-6 fatty acid can be met by supplying linoleic acid, which is adequately present in almost all terrestrial and marine sources.

In contrast to freshwater species, studies on marine fish indicate that the essential fatty acid requirements cannot be met by either linoleic acid or alpha-linolenic acid; instead, EPA and DHA are required. Levels of n-3 LC-PUFA of less than or up to 1% of diet dry weight can meet the requirements for juvenile turbot (Psetta maxima), red sea bream (Pagrus major), European sea bass (Dicentrarchus labrax), red drum (Sciaenops ocellatus), and Korean rockfish (Sebastes schlegeli). Other species including silver bream (Thabdosargus sarba) and yellowtail flounder (*Pleuronectes ferrugineus*) appear to require levels above 1% (Tocher, 2010; NRC, 2011). In recent years, the role of arachidonic acid is becoming increasingly crucial for the aquafeed industry. The importance of ARA was overlooked for years because it was supplied in abundance in feeds containing fishmeal and fish oil, but it has become an important fatty acid since the industry started replacing fishmeal and fish oil in aquafeeds (Bell and Sargent, 2003). Some studies have shown that ARA plays crucial roles in marine fish growth and survival (Xu et al., 2010; Yuan et al., 2015; Rombenso et al., 2016; Torrecillas et al., 2018), reproduction (Bromage et al., 2001; Kowalska and Kowalski, 2014) and stress and disease resistance (Koven et al., 2001, 2003; Martins et al., 2013), hence playing a vital role across the entirety of the fish life cycle (Hong et al., 2022).

#### **Alternative Oils in Aquafeed**

#### Introduction

Aquaculture production has been increasing steadily in the past few decades while during the same period fishery resources have declined due to overfishing. In 2020, global capture fisheries production was 90.3 million tonnes, including 78.8 million tonnes from marine waters and 11.5 million tonnes from inland waters; a decline of 4% compared to the

average of the previous three years. On the other hand, global aquaculture production in the same year reached a record 122.6 million tonnes. Around 54.5 million tonnes were farmed in inland waters and 68.1 million tonnes were obtained from marine and coastal aquaculture (FAO, 2022). With the growth of aquaculture industry, global consumption of aquatic foods increased at an average annual rate of 3% from 1961 to 2019 (FAO, 2022). The continued growth of aquaculture production along with global consumption has supported a high demand for fish oil, leading to an increase in its price. Because of the fluctuations in production and price variations, studies are focusing on finding and evaluating alternative oil sources of polyunsaturated fatty acids. In addition to the price issue, environmental issues have been emerging. High-value species such as salmon and trout require a relatively higher lipid level in their diets, which traditionally depend on fish oil extracted from wild forage fish resources. Most forage fisheries are fully or over exploited, and landings are now strictly managed to support stock recovery and sustainable harvest (Alder et al., 2008, Naylor et al., 2009). Most of the forage fish catch is processed into fishmeal and fish oil instead of directly consumed by humans. In natural systems, forage fish consume microscopic plants and animals called plankton and convert them into food for larger fish such as salmon and cod, seabirds, and marine mammals (Cury et al., 2000). Their critical role in the marine food web makes forage fish important to wildlife. Cury et al. (2011) recommended that at least a third of forage fish biomass needs to be left in the water in order to maintain seabird populations.

Despite many efforts to replace fishmeal and fish oil in aquafeed, many consumers, producers, and buyers are questioning whether these alternatives are suitable substitutes. In order to be a realistic substitute for fish oil, nutritional quality and sustainability of ingredients need to be considered. Furthermore, these ingredients must be competitively priced and be selected considering the impact on fish health and the environment (Naylor et al., 2009).

#### Vegetable oils

Vegetable oils have been used extensively as energy sources in aquaculture feeds. They include palm oil, coconut oil, soybean oil, linseed oil corn oil, camelina oil, and cotton seed oil. Vegetable oils have different fatty acid profiles than fish oil. They lack n-3 longchain polyunsaturated fatty acids but contain higher levels of other fatty acids such as n-3 polyunsaturated, n-6 polyunsaturated, monounsaturated, and saturated fatty acids. Olive oil, rapeseed, and canola oils are rich in monounsaturated fatty acids, whereas sunflower oil, corn oil, and soybean oil possess higher levels of n-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids.

Global production of fish oil has remained stagnant over the past several decades. In contrast, production of vegetable oils, such as palm oil, soybean oil, and canola oil, has increased considerably, and these oils have been used progressively in aquafeeds as alternatives to fish oil. Global production of crude palm oil has almost doubled between 2007 and 2017, and global production of soybean oil and canola oil has increased by nearly 50% (USDA, 2018). Other oils produced commercially in lower amounts, such as sunflower, cottonseed, coconut, and linseed oils, have been used in aquafeeds.

Most vegetable oils are relatively poor sources of long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids in comparison to fish oil. Instead, they are rich sources of monounsaturated fatty acids, mainly oleic acid, with the exception of linseed oil and coconut oil, which are rich in alpha-linolenic acid and lauric acid (C12:0), respectively.

Linseed oil is high in alpha-linolenic acid, a precursor of the n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acid series. Linseed oil may have potential as an alternative to fish oil, but the production scale is not comparable with other vegetable oils (USDA, 2018).

Echium oil has been investigated as an alternative to dietary fish oil in marine and freshwater fish. Stearidonic acid (18:4n-3), the product of the delta-6 desaturation of alphalinolenic acid, was shown to be readily elongated to eicosatetraenoic acid (20:4n-3) and eventually converted to EPA in fish (Ghioni et al., 2002), suggesting that stearidonic acidrich oils could be used in aquafeed formulations. As it is rich in stearidonic acid, echium oil has the potential to increase eicosatetraenoic acid, a precursor of EPA, in fish tissue (Alhazzaa et al., 2019). However, this oil's current low production volume leads to a higher price than other practical alternatives to fish oil in aquaculture (Alhazzaa et al., 2019).

Depending on the fish species, fish have varying abilities to convert 18:3n-3 to longer and more unsaturated fatty acids in vivo (Sargent et al., 2002). However, particularly for marine carnivorous species, the quantity of n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids produced in vivo is not enough to support the optimal growth and health of the fish (Mourente et al., 2005). As a result, vegetable oil and fish oil blends are typically used in aquafeeds, with the blending ratio considering the price and developmental stage of the fish (Naylor et al., 2009)

#### Terrestrial animal fat

Terrestrial animal fat has been utilized as an alternative lipid source in aquafeeds for decades due to stable production and its significantly lower cost than vegetable oils. Animal fats generally contain high levels of saturated fatty acids and monounsaturated fatty acids, ranging from 31.2% in poultry fat to 52.1% in tallow and 40.5% in tallow to 44.9% in lard, respectively. Animal fats are attractive lipid sources as a fish oil replacer since they are inexpensive and good sources of dietary energy for fish. However, they contain high levels of saturated fatty acids and therefore have low digestibility at cold temperatures suggesting that these fats need to be blended with polyunsaturated fats to improve digestion (Naylor et al., 2009). Increased replacement of fish oil with rendered terrestrial animal fats rich in saturated fatty acids results in increased levels of saturated fatty acid in the edible portion of fish fillet. In conclusion, the use of terrestrial animal fat in aquafeeds can reduce the use of fish oil but cannot be a complete solution to fish or consumer needs.

Nowadays, insects are regarded as the most promising and sustainable ingredient to supply protein and lipid in aquafeeds mainly because of their nutritional value, fast life cycles, and ability to grow on various substrates, yielding well-balanced amino acid profiles and highly unsaturated fatty acids, as well as vitamins and functional compounds (Tacon and Metian, 2008; Gasco et al., 2016; Gasco et al., 2020; Shafique et al., 2021). In Europe, the interest in insects as a feed ingredient primarily emerged in 2017 when the European Union authorized the use of insects in aquafeeds (Daniso et al., 2020). The use of insects as an ingredient for aquafeeds and a potential substitute for fishmeal is currently widely accepted (Huis and Tomberlin, 2016; Tran et al., 2015). In terms of substitutes for fish oil, a low quantity of polyunsaturated fatty acids in insects reduces their suitability as marine fish feed. However, rearing the insects on substrate rich in n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids can increase the n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids content in insects (Zarantoniello et al., 2020).

## Single-cell oils

Single-cell ingredients are a class of materials encompassing bacterial, fungal (yeast), and microalgal-derived products (Glencross et al., 2020). Much research has been done on single-cell ingredients, and now they are being used as amino acid sources, n-3 longchain polyunsaturated sources, and sources of bioactive molecules such as astaxanthin and peptidoglycans (Guedes and Malcata, 2012; Cohen and Ratledge, 2005). The lipid content in fungal and bacterial ingredients tend to be relatively lower than in microalgae; therefore, there has been less interest in the fatty acid profile of these resources (Glencross et al., 2020). On the other hand, single-cell oils extracted from microalgae grown under heterotrophic conditions contain significant amounts of n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids (van Ginneken et al., 2011; Borowitzka, 2013). The application of thraustochytrid biomass has been studied extensively over the last 20 years, and recent studies showed that thraustochytrid completely replaced fish oil resulting in comparable growth while increasing the levels of EPA and DHA in fish fillet (Carter et al., 2003; Miller et al., 2007; Sprague et al., 2015). However, the current inconsistent supply and overly high production costs of these resources constrain the use of these alternatives in aquafeeds. A potential cost-effective strategy to use single-cell oils in aquafeed is to incorporate these alternatives to finishing diets for the 6-12 weeks prior to harvesting. This approach would enhance the nutritional value of the final product with higher levels of EPA and DHA for human consumption.

#### Genetically modified oilseed plants

As plant-based oils cannot fully replace fish oil, commercial feeds generally include a minimum level of fish oil required to meet n-3 LC-PUFA requirements for normal fish growth, with the remaining energy demands met by terrestrial ingredients. This meets the fish's health and growth requirements but results in lower levels of n-3 LC-PUFA in the edible portion of fish, which deteriorate nutritional value for human consumption in terms of EPA and DHA contents (Sprague et al., 2016).

There has been considerable interest in developing genetically modified plants that produce n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids within their seeds. As terrestrial plants are not capable of producing n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids, genetic modification is the only possible option to alter the fatty acid composition of oilseeds to produce novel n-3

long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids. Transgenic plants are typically created by editing their genome by adding or deleting existing innate genes within the plant's genome or incorporating external nonhost DNA through splicing (Osmon and Colombo, 2019). Until now, two oilseed crops have been engineered to produce EPA and DHA: camelina (*C. sativa*) and canola (*B. napus L.*). Two different industry co-operations (BASF and Cargill; Nuseed, CSIRO and GRDC) have developed genetically modified canola oil, and both plants produce oils high n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids content (~12%), suggesting that these genetically modified oils can be effective alternatives to fish oil (Napier et al., 2019).

Although the fatty acid composition of plant ingredients has been enhanced by gene modification, the use of genetically modified plant ingredients in aquafeed is strictly regulated by certain parts of the world, especially in Europe. The major concern about genetically modified ingredients has been the expression of the modified gene in targeted species, but there is no solid evidence of horizontal gene transfer from genetically modified ingredients to the fish or gut-associated microflora (Sissener et al., 2011). Generally, protein and genetic materials are removed by the process of oil extraction from the seeds of genetically modified ingredients, ensuring that inserted genes will not be included in aquafeeds (Alhazzaa et al., 2019).

#### Fish oil Replacement by Plant-Based Oils

### Effects on fish growth

Over the past decades, there has been an increase in the use of terrestrial plant-based oils, such as canola, soy, linseed, and palm oils, to replace fish oil in aquafeeds. The increasing cost of fish oil has mainly driven extensive research to evaluate replacement oil sources. In the 1980s and 1990s, the cost of fish oil was lower than that of vegetable oils, but since 2001, fish oil has been more expensive (Naylor et al., 2009). Since 2001, considerable efforts have been made to evaluate vegetable oils inclusion in aquafeeds for a variety of farmed species.

In general, dietary fish oil can be replaced with vegetable oils without compromising fish growth and feed efficiency in almost all finfish species, if fish essential fatty acid requirements are met (Turchini et al., 2009). In salmonids species such as Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar), rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*), and charrs (*Salvelinus* sp.), essential

fatty acid requirements are met with n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids, mainly from linseed oil, and therefore vegetable oils are being used as primary lipid sources in salmonids diets without detrimental effects on fish growth (Turchini et al., 2009; Tocher et al., 2010; Shahrooz et al., 2018; Dupont-Cyr et al., 2022). However, most experimental diets for fish oil replacement study contain fish meal as a protein source and fishmeal contains some residual fish oil that supplies a small but significant amount of n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids. Regardless of which lipid material is used, if a large amount of fish meal is included in the diet, it may be unnecessary to supply essential fatty acids through fish oil in the feed (Turchini et al., 2009). Fish meal commonly retains 8-10% residual fat containing around 20 to 35% n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids, depending on the species (Martin et al., 2000, Turchini et al., 2009). Therefore, if 30% fishmeal is included in the feed, 0.5 to 1% of dry diet n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids will be supplied, which may meet or exceed the fatty acid requirement of currently farmed fish regardless of the dietary lipid source in the diet (Turchini et al., 2009).

Interestingly, although salmonids are classified as anadromous fish, they possess a 'freshwater fish pattern' in the metabolism of alpha-linolenic acid to EPA and DHA. In addition, salmonids can store a relatively large amount of lipid in muscle tissue compared to other fish species that is used to supply metabolic energy. These features of salmonids make it possible to effectively replace fish oil in these species. It has been shown that various vegetable sources can replace fish oil by up to 100% without compromising fish growth, but it results in a lowering of the n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acid content in the fillet. The effects of fish oil replacement in other farmed species differ from those reported for salmonids species.

Marine species generally require n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids; in some species, n-6 polyunsaturated fatty acid requirements, the only commercially utilized source of these fatty acids is fish oil (Turchini et al., 2009). Recently, algae oil has been used in a finishing diet for salmon, but the amount added to the diet is not significant. Many studies on marine species have investigated the effects of replacing dietary fish oil with different vegetable oils. In gilthead sea bream (*Sparus aurata*), 80% substitution of fish oil with linseed oil or soybean oil significantly reduced fish performance (Monoto et al., 2004). Also, it was reported that in European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*), one of the most important marine

carnivorous species farmed in Europe, 50-60% of dietary fish oil could be replaced by vegetable oils without any detrimental effect on growth parameters (Izquierdo et al., 2003; Montero et al., 2005). Similar results were observed in a study with juvenile barramundi (*Lates calcarifer*) of 19 g average initial weight. Soybean, canola, or linseed oils were used to replace fish oil, which resulted in a significant reduction in the growth when those vegetable oils substituted fish oil (Raso and Anderson, 2003). Japanese sea bass of 5.8 g average initial weight were fed on diets containing soybean and corn oils at 50% replacements level of fish oil (Xue et al., 2006). After 10 weeks, growth performance parameters and survival rates were similar compared with fish fed exclusively on fish oil as the dietary lipid.

However, several studies have shown that vegetable oils can totally substitute fish oil in some marine fish species without adverse effects on fish growth. Partial or complete fish oil replacement using a vegetable oil blend of palm and linseed oil was conducted for 22 weeks in juvenile (39 g average initial weight) greater amberjack (*Seriola dumerili*) and revealed that replacement of fish oil did not compromise fish growth performance (Monge-Ortiz et al., 2018). A similar result was observed in a yellowtail (*Seriola quinqueradiata*) study of 252 g average initial weight fed for 40 days on diets containing fish oil or olive oil (Seno-O et al., 2008). It is worth mentioning that most studies on fish have been conducted in a relatively short feeding period (6-12 weeks), and it is challenging to detect nutritional and composition effects over such a short period.

#### Effects on fatty acid metabolism

Fish oil replacement by vegetable oils in aquafeed significantly alters the fatty acid composition of fish since fish fatty acid profiles generally reflect dietary fatty acid profile. The most significant issue with regard to replacing fish oil with vegetable oils is that it results in lowering the n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids content in the fish fillet, which is essential for human health. Almost all fish have the ability to bioconvert alpha-linolenic acid into EPA and DHA through desaturase and elongase enzymatic processing (Sargent et al., 2002; Nakamura and Nara, 2004). However, fish cannot convert oleic acid to linoleic acid and alpha-linolenic acid as they do not possess the vital  $\Delta 12$  and  $\Delta 15$  desaturases (Figure 1.3). Therefore, most fish require linoleic acid or more extended and unsaturated fatty acids, which must be provided in the diet. Despite the fact that fish are theoretically able to biosynthesize n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids through the desaturation and elongation from alpha-linolenic, their lipid metabolism has long been adapted to n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acid rich environment. Therefore, fish possess a low capacity to utilize this fatty acid biosynthetic pathway. Even freshwater fish, which can efficiently convert alpha-linolenic acid to EPA and DHA, showed higher expression levels of desaturase and elongase when fish oil was substituted by vegetable oil compared to fish fed fish oil-based diet and had significantly lower amounts of n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids, suggesting that no matter how high the fatty acid bioconversion rate in the fish is, the fatty acids deposition in the fish body is insufficient compared to the fish fed an n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids.

Nile tilapia fry (Onreochromis niloticus) of the initial weight of 0.5-2 g were fed on diets containing 3% of either linseed oil, a mixture of linseed oil with palm oil, or fish oil as controls. After a 20-week feeding trial, results have demonstrated that replacing fish oil with vegetable oils lowered EPA and DHA tissue concentrations and consequently produced a product of lower nutritional value for consumers (Karapanagiotidis et al., 2007). Similar results were observed in the studies with anadromous and marine fish. Dupont-Cyr et al. (2022) reported that the complete substitution of fish oil with linseed oil in char feed had no impact on growth rate but yielded a decrease in the content of EPA and DHA in fish fillets compared to the fish fed a fish oil diet. Mourente et al. (2005) pointed out that the bioconversion rate of radiolabeled α-linolenic acid (14C-ALA) to eicosapentaenoic acid (20:5n-3) and docosahexaenoic acid (22:6n-3) was quantitatively very limited in hepatocytes of European sea bass fed a diet containing a partial substitution of dietary fish oil with blends of rapeseed, linseed, and palm oil. Therefore, it is obvious that European sea bass possesses a 'marine fish pattern' in the metabolism of alpha-linolenic acid to EPA, and therefore, they require relatively high dietary levels of n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids in the diet to meet their fatty acid requirements (Mourente and Dick, 2002; Mourente et al., 2005). In gilthead sea bream (Sparus aurata), the total substitution of fish oil with vegetable oil modified the fatty acid profile of their tissues (Benedito-Palos et al., 2010), given their inefficient n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acid biosynthesis pathway (Mourente and Tocher, 1993; Izquierdo et al., 2008).

There are several practical and feasible methods to solve the aforementioned issue. One of the methods is the use of new n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acid-rich alternative lipid sources. For instance, microalgae are regarded as a promising alternative to fish oil as they are rich sources of n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids and pigments. Although they are considered a suitable alternative from a nutritional point of view, insufficient supply and the high prices are obstacles to using these new sources. The incorporation of transgenic oilseed crops in aquafeed and the development of transgenic fish have shown outstanding results, but negative public perception inhibits the advancement of this technology in aquaculture.

Another approach to guarantee high levels of n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids in fish is by implementing a finishing diet. This strategy has been adopted where fish initially fed vegetable-based diets for the grow-out phase are fed diets containing only fish oil as the dietary lipid source at the final phase of their rearing period (Jobling, 2003; Turchini et al., 2007, Stone et al., 2011). The fish oil-finishing method has been extensively evaluated in many farmed fish such as Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) (Bell et al., 2004; Torstensen et al., 2004; Codabaccus et al., 2012), rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) (Stone et al., 2011; Cleveland et al., 2018; Yıldız et al., 2018), European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) (Mourente et al., 2005; Mourente and Bell, 2006), Medierranean yellowtail (Seriola *dumerili*) (Bordignon et al., 2020). In most of the aforementioned studies, a finishing diet could restore the DHA level up to between 70 and 90% compared to fish that continuously consumed feed containing fish oil. However, regardless of the duration of the experiments, it has been reported that the high level of some fatty acids derived from vegetable oils, especially linoleic acid, are stored in the fish body until the end of the production period. Although the finishing diet method can partly improve the final fatty acid profile of fish fed alternative oil sources earlier, this is only a temporary solution, not a permanent solution, because a considerable amount of fish oil is still needed.

Dietary supplementation can be another potential option for increasing n-3 longchain polyunsaturated fatty acids content in fish by improving their fatty acid biosynthesis. It has been examined with bioactive fatty acids (conjugated linoleic acid, 3-thia acids, petroselinic acid), cholesterol, and other botanicals, such as the lignin sesamin (Kennedy et al., 2006; Moya-Falcón et al., 2004; Randall et al., 2013; Ruyter et al., 1997; Trattner et al., 2008 a, b; Norambuena et al., 2013; Tocher, 2015), but these studies have shown that the increase in bioconversion rate has been too low for this approach to be a viable strategy.

Selective breeding is also one of the strategies to enhance n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acid levels in fish. Leaver et al. (2011) reported that fillet n-3 longchain polyunsaturated fatty acid level is a highly heritable trait in Atlantic salmon and that specific hepatic mRNA expression patterns are related to high fillet n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acid, which shows possible mechanisms for family-dependent deposition in the fish fillet. Horn et al. (2018) have also reported genetic variation in the level of individual fatty acids in salmon fillets; thus, modifying its fatty acid composition by selective breeding is viable. Hence, there is potential in using selective breeding as a tool to increase levels of n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acid in salmonids muscle by improving the salmon's natural ability to convert  $\alpha$ -linolenic acid from alternative oil sources into n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acid and to deposit these fatty acids in the muscle more efficiently.

### Effects on fish health and inflammatory response

The effects of fish oil replacement on fish health have been extensively studied. In recent years, there has been increasing concern among aquaculture producers about the adverse outcomes of stress and feeding unbalanced diets, which result in increased production costs due to effects on disease susceptibility.

Replacement of fish oil high in n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids by vegetable oils typically high in n-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids alters fatty acid profiles of fish tissues and cells, influencing the general fish health in various manners, including innate and adaptive immunity as well as eicosanoid production (Montero et al., 2015). It is also known that substituting fish oil with vegetable oil affects the n-3/n-6 ratio, which is crucial to health maintenance of fish (Simopoulos, 2008). Furthermore, Montero and Izquierdo (2010) demonstrated that higher substitution levels by a single vegetable oil affected fish immune response over lower substitution levels or blends of vegetable oil. Despite the fact that dietary fatty acids modify the immune system and health status of fish, the changes in fatty acid composition do not always result in reduced disease resistance since pathogen infection is dependent on intricate interactions between the environment, pathogen, and fish (Montero

et al., 2010). The dietary content of the lipid as well as the fatty acid composition of the diet, fish species, the feeding duration, environmental conditions, and the presence of pathogens in the environment can affect fish immunity and resistance to a pathogen (Montero and Izquierdo, 2010).

In general, replacing fish oil with vegetable oil commonly high in linoleic acid increases arachidonic acid (20:4n-6) content in fish via an n-6 fatty acid pathway. As a result, arachidonic acid and its metabolites (eicosanoids) have attracted much attention with regard to inflammatory processes and disease resistance (Bell and Sargent, 2003; Martins et al., 2012; Norambuena et al., 2015; Asil et al., 2017). Eicosanoids are an important class of biologically active molecules derived from the metabolism of polyunsaturated fatty acids, mainly arachidonic acid and EPA. When the membrane phospholipids are cleaved by phospholipases, primarily phospholipase A2, lipooxygenase (LOX), and cyclooxygenase (COX) enzymes function on free fatty acids to produce pro- or anti-inflammatory mediators. Due to the functions of the LOX and COX enzymes in converting n-3 and n-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids, the two classes of fatty acids compete for these enzymes. In addition, it is known that the fatty acid content of fish generally reflects the fatty acid composition of the diet, suggesting that fish oil replacement influences the levels of particular metabolites. COX enzymes have more affinity for arachidonic acid, a precursor for the pro-inflammatory processes, producing series-2 prostanoids, whereas EPA provides precursors for the production of the anti-inflammatory mediator family of series-3 prostanoids. (Lenihan-Geels et al., 2013). Even though inflammation is a crucial process in relation to innate immunity, excessive production of pro-inflammatory metabolites during chronic inflammation can lead to adverse effects and increase vulnerability to disease. These processes occur through an increase in reactive oxygen species and cellular stress (B Vendramini-Costa and E Carvalho, 2012). Few studies have explicitly focused on the effects of arachidonic acid on disease resistance in fish. Improvement of fish survival during pathogen challenge by moderate levels of dietary arachidonic acid has been observed in Atlantic salmon (Dantagnan et al., 2017), rabbitfish (Nayak et al., 2017), and guppy (Khozin-Goldberg et al., 2006).

Another health concern can arise when excess dietary lipid or energy exceeds the capacity of hepatocytes to oxidize fatty acids. This results in production and accumulation of
triglycerides causing the histological condition, steatosis (Montero and Izquierdo, 2010). The effects of various vegetable oils on liver histology have been widely studied in Atlantic salmon (Ruyter et al., 2006; Kjaer et al., 2008), rainbow trout (Caballero et al., 2002; Figueiredo-Silva et al., 2005), gilthead sea bream (Wassef et al., 2007; Benedito-Palos et al., 2008), and European sea bass (Mourente et al., 2005, 2007; Torrecillas et al., 2017). The liver morphological alterations derived from different dietary vegetable oils seem to depend on the fish species and type of vegetable oil; marine species are more susceptible to the signs of steatosis when n-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids-rich vegetable oils are incorporated into the diet (Montero and Izquierdo, 2010).

Defining the effect of dietary vegetable oils on fish health and immunity is complicated because of the complex relationships between nutrition, health, and environment and the insufficient data available for different species. Thus, further studies are necessary to clarify the most suitable oil blends for each fish species to promote optimum health and immunity. According to the literature published to date, blends of vegetable oil balancing the n-3/n-6 ratios have been shown more suitable in terms of fish health and disease resistance than using a single vegetable oil source (Montero and Izquierdo, 2010).

## Effects on human health

Fish consumption has attracted substantial interest in the past few decades regarding human health benefits. Fish with high levels of EPA and DHA and a high n-3/n-6 ratio is essential to a healthy human diet. As mentioned earlier, fish consumption is growing globally, and most governmental food agencies recommend its consumption. An EPA+DHA intake of at least 250 to 500 mg day<sup>-1</sup> is recommended and the American Heart Association recommends 1000 mg of EPA+DHA day<sup>-1</sup> for reducing coronary heart disease (USDA, 2019). As fish and seafood are considered the primary provider of EPA and DHA in the human diet, their health-beneficial characteristics must be maintained (Pickova and Mørkøre, 2007). However, as the world's population and consumption of aquatic products increase and wild fishery resources decrease, an increasing proportion of fish consumed by humans is farmed fish. In fact, aquaculture has been the fastest-growing animal food production sector for the past few decades, supplying more than 50% of the world's fish and seafood consumed by humans today. (FAO, 2022).

Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*) is an increasingly popular fish species in the world seafood market due to its high market value. Atlantic salmon is marketed for its health-promoting characteristics and high nutritional content, mainly its high n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids. However, it is clear that this property will diminish as alternative sources such as vegetable oils replace fish oils in salmonid feeds. Similar to human fatty acid metabolism, salmon are inefficient at bioconverting shorter n-3 chain fatty acids, such as alpha-linolenic acid, to EPA and DHA, similar to findings in cold-water marine fish. Therefore, n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids must be included in the diet to maintain healthful levels in fillets (Tocher, 2015; Sprague et al., 2016). Several reports have shown that the higher use of plant-based ingredients in salmon diets is associated with higher n-6 levels in farmed fish fillets (Bell et al., 2004; Torstensen et al., 2005; Nichols et al., 2014). Despite the fact that n-6 fatty acids such as linoleic and arachidonic acid play important roles for humans, there is already a very high intake in the human diet of oils having lower n-3/n-6 ratios, affecting the metabolism of beneficial n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids (Simopoulos, 2008; Calder, 2014; Marventano et al., 2015; Simopoulos, 2016).

Bell et al. (2004) reported that the development of sustainable aquaculture feeds with increased use of terrestrial materials, primarily oilseed-derived, did not significantly affect the health or growth performance of salmon. However, modifications in dietary oil sources pose challenges for the aquaculture industry since the fatty acid composition of fish muscle reflects the fatty acid composition of the diet (Turchini et al., 2022). The use of plant-based alternatives in aquafeeds has resulted in increased levels of terrestrial-origin fatty acids such as oleic, linoleic, and to some extent, alpha-linolenic acid. At present, commercial aquafeeds increasingly incorporate blends of plant-based and fish or other oils to fulfill the energy and fatty acid requirements of fish, reducing pressure on marine resources. However, this results in a compromise of the health benefit to the human consumers. For instance, the inclusion levels of fish oil in Norwegian salmon diets fell from 24% in 1990 to 11% in 2013 (Ytrestøyl et al., 2015). According to Sprague et al. (2016), while EPA and DHA content fell by approximately half, oleic, linoleic, and alpha-linolenic acid tended to rise from 2010, when the use of vegetable oil in the salmon diet began to grow, and the values of 15%, 5%, and 2% recorded in 2010, doubled in 2015 to ~30%, 10%, and 5%, respectively.

#### **Conclusion and Objectives**

Aquaculture expansion is limited primarily by its reliance on marine resources such as fish oil derived predominantly from forage fisheries (Turchini et al., 2009). Therefore, in order to overcome the limitation and continue expanding the aquaculture industry, there is an urgent need for further efforts to find suitable and sustainable alternatives to produce highquality fish products. As such, the research presented in this dissertation sought to evaluate dietary manipulation of fatty acid metabolism and biosynthesis with an emphasis on fillet omega-3 LC-PUFA content and fish performance.

The objectives and hypotheses were as follows:

- The use of a low-phytosterol oil, such as soy-oil, in combination with a high ALA rich oil, such as linseed oil, and supplemental cholesterol could effectively replace fish oil in salmonid feeds.
- Latitude oil containing high EPA and DPA would effectively replace fish oil in trout feeds without detrimental impact on fish performance and fatty acid composition in fillets over a complete production cycle, from fingerling to market weight.
- 3. Dietary ARA supplementation in swim-up and sub-adult rainbow trout would improve growth performance, feed utilization, and resistance to stressors, such as hypoxia, high temperature and density.

## **Literature Cited**

- Alder, J., Campbell, B., Karpouzi, V., Kaschner, K. and Pauly, D., 2008. Forage fish: from ecosystems to markets. Annual Review of Environment and Resources, 33(1), pp.153-166.
- Aldhous, P., 2004. Fish farms still ravage the sea. Sustainable aquaculture takes one step forward, two steps back. Nature online, 17, pp.040216-10.
- Alhazzaa, R., Nichols, P.D. and Carter, C.G., 2019. Sustainable alternatives to dietary fish oil in tropical fish aquaculture. Reviews in Aquaculture, 11(4), pp.1195-1218.
- Alves Martins, D., Rocha, F., Castanheira, F., Mendes, A., Pousão-Ferreira, P., Bandarra, N., Coutinho, J., Morais, S., Yúfera, M., Conceição, L.E. and Martínez-Rodríguez, G., 2013. Effects of dietary arachidonic acid on cortisol production and gene expression in stress response in Senegalese sole (*Solea senegalensis*) post-larvae. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry, 39(5), pp.1223-1238.
- Aquaculture, E.O., 2017. European Market Observatory for Fisheries and Aquaculture Products (EUFOMA).
- Asil, S.M., Kenari, A.A., Miyanji, G.R. and Van Der Kraak, G., 2017. The influence of dietary arachidonic acid on growth, reproductive performance, and fatty acid composition of ovary, egg and larvae in an anabantid model fish, Blue gourami (*Trichopodus trichopterus*; Pallas, 1770). Aquaculture, 476, pp.8-18.
- B Vendramini-Costa, D. and E carvalho, J., 2012. Molecular link mechanisms between inflammation and cancer. Current pharmaceutical design, 18(26), pp.3831-3852.
- Bachis, E., 2017, October. Fishmeal and fish oil: a summary of global trends. In 57th IFFO Annual Conference (pp. 23-25).
- Bell, J.G. and Sargent, J.R., 2003. Arachidonic acid in aquaculture feeds: current status and future opportunities. Aquaculture, 218(1-4), pp.491-499.
- Bell, J.G., Henderson, R.J., Tocher, D.R. and Sargent, J.R., 2004. Replacement of dietary fish oil with increasing levels of linseed oil: modification of flesh fatty acid

compositions in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) using a fish oil finishing diet. Lipids, 39(3), pp.223-232.

- Benedito-Palos, L., Navarro, J.C., Kaushik, S. and Pérez-Sánchez, J., 2010. Tissue-specific robustness of fatty acid signatures in cultured gilthead sea bream (*Sparus aurata L.*) fed practical diets with a combined high replacement of fish meal and fish oil. Journal of Animal Science, 88(5), pp.1759-1770.
- Bordignon, F., Martínez-Llorens, S., Trocino, A., Jover-Cerdá, M. and Tomás-Vidal, A., 2020. Recovery of fatty acid composition in Mediterranean yellowtail (*Seriola dumerili*, Risso 1810) fed a fish-oil finishing diet. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 21(14), p.4871.
- Borowitzka, M.A., 2013. High-value products from microalgae—their development and commercialisation. Journal of Applied Phycology, 25(3), pp.743-756.
- Bromage, N.R., Mazorra, C., Davie, A., Alorend, E., Bruce, M.P., Bell, J.G. and Porter, M., 2001. Optimising broodstock performance: maturation, fecundity, and gamete quality. Larvi, 1, p.87.
- Calder, P.C., 2014. Very long chain omega-3 (n-3) fatty acids and human health. European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology, 116(10), pp.1280-1300.
- Carter, C.G., Bransden, M.P., Lewis, T.E. and Nichols, P.D., 2003. Potential of thraustochytrids to partially replace fish oil in Atlantic salmon feeds. Marine Biotechnology, 5(5), pp.480-492.
- Cleveland, B.M., Raatz, S., Hanson, B.K., Wickramaratne, A. and Picklo, M.J., 2018. Deposition and mobilization of lipids varies across the rainbow trout fillet during feed deprivation and transition from plant to fish oil-based diets. Aquaculture, 491, pp.39-49.
- Codabaccus, M.B., Bridle, A.R., Nichols, P.D. and Carter, C.G., 2012. Restoration of fillet n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acid is improved by a modified fish oil

finishing diet strategy for Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*) smolts fed palm fatty acid distillate. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 60(1), pp.458-466.

- Cohen, Z. and Ratledge, C., 2005. Single cell oils: microbial and algal oils. AOCS Publishing.
- Cottrell, R.S., Blanchard, J.L., Halpern, B.S., Metian, M. and Froehlich, H.E., 2020. Global adoption of novel aquaculture feeds could substantially reduce forage fish demand by 2030. Nature Food, 1(5), pp.301-308.
- Cury, P., Bakun, A., Crawford, R.J., Jarre, A., Quinones, R.A., Shannon, L.J. and Verheye, H.M., 2000. Small pelagics in upwelling systems: patterns of interaction and structural changes in "wasp-waist" ecosystems. ICES Journal of Marine Science, 57(3), pp.603-618.
- Cury, P.M., Boyd, I.L., Bonhommeau, S., Anker-Nilssen, T., Crawford, R.J., Furness, R.W., Mills, J.A., Murphy, E.J., Österblom, H., Paleczny, M. and Piatt, J.F., 2011.
  Global seabird response to forage fish depletion—one-third for the birds. Science, 334(6063), pp.1703-1706.
- Daniso, E., Tulli, F., Cardinaletti, G., Cerri, R. and Tibaldi, E., 2020. Molecular approach for insect detection in feed and food: the case of Gryllodes sigillatus. European Food Research and Technology, 246(12), pp.2373-2381.
- Dantagnan, P., Gonzalez, K., Hevia, M., Betancor, M.B., Hernández, A.J., Borquez, A. and Montero, D., 2017. Effect of the arachidonic acid/vitamin E interaction on the immune response of juvenile Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) challenged against Piscirickettsia salmonis. Aquaculture Nutrition, 23(4), pp.710-720.
- De Silva S.S. and Anderson T.A., 1995. Fish Nutrition in Aquaculture. Chapman & Hall, London.
- Dupont-Cyr, B.A., Le François, N.R., Christen, F., Desrosiers, V., Savoie, A., Vandenberg, G.W., Dufresne, F. and Blier, P.U., 2022. Linseed oil as a substitute for fish oil in

the diet of Arctic charr (*Salvelinus alpinus*), brook charr (*S. fontinalis*) and their reciprocal hybrids. Aquaculture Reports, 22, p.100949.

- Falk-Petersen, S., Hagen, W., Kattner, G., Clarke, A. and Sargent, J., 2000. Lipids, trophic relationships, and biodiversity in Arctic and Antarctic krill. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 57(S3), pp.178-191.
- Falk-Petersen, S., Sargent, J.R., Hopkins, C.C.E. and Vaja, B., 1982. Ecological investigations on the zooplankton community of Balsfjorden, northern Norway: lipids in the euphausiids Thysanoessa raschi and T. inermis during spring. Marine Biology, 68(1), pp.97-102.
- FAO. 2022. The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture 2022. Towards Blue Transformation. Rome, FAO. https://doi.org/10.4060/cc0461en
- Finn, R.N., Fyhn, H.J., Henderson, R.J. and Evjen, M.S., 1996. The sequence of catabolic substrate oxidation and enthalpy balance of developing embryos and yolksac larvae of turbot (*Scophthalmus maximus L.*). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Physiology, 115(2), pp.133-151.
- Fontagne, S., Geurden, I., Escaffre, A.M. and Bergot, P., 1998. Histological changes induced by dietary phospholipids in intestine and liver of common carp (*Cyprinus carpio L.*) larvae. Aquaculture, 161(1-4), pp.213-223.
- Fraser, A.J., Gamble, J.C. and Sargent, J.R., 1988. Changes in lipid content, lipid class composition and fatty acid composition of developing eggs and unfed larvae of cod (*Gadus morhua*). Marine Biology, 99(3), pp.307-313.
- Gasco, L., Acuti, G., Bani, P., Dalle Zotte, A., Danieli, P.P., De Angelis, A., Fortina, R., Marino, R., Parisi, G., Piccolo, G. and Pinotti, L., 2020. Insect and fish byproducts as sustainable alternatives to conventional animal proteins in animal nutrition. Italian Journal of Animal Science, 19(1), pp.360-372.
- Gasco, L., Henry, M., Piccolo, G., Marono, S., Gai, F., Renna, M., Lussiana, C., Antonopoulou, E., Mola, P. and Chatzifotis, S., 2016. Tenebrio molitor meal in

diets for European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax L.*) juveniles: growth performance, whole body composition and in vivo apparent digestibility. Animal Feed Science and Technology, 220, pp.34-45.

- Ghioni, C., Porter, A.E., Taylor, G.W. and Tocher, D.R., 2002. Metabolism of 18: 4n-3 (stearidonic acid) and 20: 4n-3 in salmonid cells in culture and inhibition of the production of prostaglandin F2α (PGF2α) from 20: 4n-6 (arachidonic acid). Fish Physiology and Biochemistry, 27(1), pp.81-96.
- Glencross, B.D., Huyben, D. and Schrama, J.W., 2020. The application of single-cell ingredients in aquaculture feeds—a review. Fishes, 5(3), p.22.
- Guedes, A.C. and Malcata, F.X., 2012. Nutritional value and uses of microalgae in aquaculture. Aquaculture, 10(1516), pp.59-78.
- Hellgren, L.I., 2001. Occurrence of bioactive sphingolipids in meat and fish products. European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology, 103(10), pp.661-667.
- Hemre, G.I., Mommsen, T.P. and Krogdahl, Å., 2002. Carbohydrates in fish nutrition: effects on growth, glucose metabolism and hepatic enzymes. Aquaculture Nutrition, 8(3), pp.175-194.
- Henderson, R.J., 1996. Fatty acid metabolism in freshwater fish with particular reference to polyunsaturated fatty acids. Archives of Animal Nutrition, 49(1), pp.5-22.
- Higgs, D.A. and Dong, F.M., 2000. Lipids and fatty acids. Encyclopedia of Aquaculture, pp.476-496.
- Hong, J., Bledsoe, J.W., Overturf, K.E., Lee, S., Iassonova, D. and Small, B.C., 2022.
   Latitude<sup>™</sup> Oil as a Sustainable Alternative to Dietary Fish Oil in Rainbow Trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss): Effects on Filet Fatty Acid Profiles, Intestinal Histology, and Plasma Biochemistry. Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems, p.62.
- Horn, S.S., Ruyter, B., Meuwissen, T.H., Hillestad, B. and Sonesson, A.K., 2018. Genetic effects of fatty acid composition in muscle of Atlantic salmon. Genetics Selection Evolution, 50(1), pp.1-12.

- Huis, A.V. and Tomberlin, J.K., 2016. Insects as food and feed: from production to consumption. Wageningen Academic Publishers.
- IFFO (Marine Ingredients Organisation). 2021. By-product. In: IFFO. Cited 30 March 2022.
- Izquierdo, M.S., Obach, A., Arantzamendi, L., Montero, D., Robaina, L. and Rosenlund, G., 2003. Dietary lipid sources for seabream and seabass: growth performance, tissue composition and flesh quality. Aquaculture Nutrition, 9(6), pp.397-407.
- Izquierdo, M.S., Robaina, L., Juárez-Carrillo, E., Oliva, V., Hernández-Cruz, C.M. and Afonso, J.M., 2008. Regulation of growth, fatty acid composition and delta 6 desaturase expression by dietary lipids in gilthead seabream larvae (*Sparus aurata*). Fish Physiology and Biochemistry, 34(2), pp.117-127.
- Jobling, M., 2003. Do changes in Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar L., fillet fatty acids following a dietary switch represent wash-out or dilution? Test of a dilution model and its application. Aquaculture Research, 34(13), pp.1215-1221.
- Karapanagiotidis, I.T., Bell, M.V., Little, D.C. and Yakupitiyage, A., 2007. Replacement of dietary fish oils by alpha-linolenic acid-rich oils lowers omega 3 content in tilapia flesh. Lipids, 42(6), pp.547-559.
- Kaushik, S.J. and Cowey, C.B., 1990. Dietary factors affecting nitrogen excretion by fish.
- Kennedy, S.R., Leaver, M.J., Campbell, P.J., Zheng, X., Dick, J.R. and Tocher, D.R., 2006. Influence of dietary oil content and conjugated linoleic acid (CLA) on lipid metabolism enzyme activities and gene expression in tissues of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*). Lipids, 41(5), pp.423-436.
- Khozin-Goldberg, I., Cohen, Z., Pimenta-Leibowitz, M., Nechev, J. and Zilberg, D., 2006.
  Feeding with arachidonic acid-rich triacylglycerols from the microalga
  Parietochloris incisa improved recovery of guppies from infection with
  Tetrahymena sp. Aquaculture, 255(1-4), pp.142-150.

- Kim, K.D., Kang, Y.J., Lee, H.Y., Kim, K.W., Kim, K.M. and Lee, S.M., 2006. Evaluation of extruded pellets as a growing diet for adult flounder *Paralichythys olivaceus*. Journal of Aquaculture, 19(3), pp.173-177.
- Kostik, V., Memeti, S. and Bauer, B., 2013. Fatty acid composition of edible oils and fats. Journal of Hygienic Engineering and Design, 4, pp.112-116.
- Koven, W., Barr, Y., Lutzky, S., Ben-Atia, I., Weiss, R., Harel, M., Behrens, P. and Tandler, A., 2001. The effect of dietary arachidonic acid (20: 4n-6) on growth, survival and resistance to handling stress in gilthead seabream (*Sparus aurata*) larvae. Aquaculture, 193(1-2), pp.107-122.
- Koven, W., Van Anholt, R., Lutzky, S., Atia, I.B., Nixon, O., Ron, B. and Tandler, A., 2003. The effect of dietary arachidonic acid on growth, survival, and cortisol levels in different-age gilthead seabream larvae (*Sparus auratus*) exposed to handling or daily salinity change. Aquaculture, 228(1-4), pp.307-320.
- Kowalska, A. and Kowalski, R.K., 2014. The effect of cyclooxygenase (COX) inhibitors on Japanese medaka (*Oryzias latipes*) reproduction parameters fed with high level of arachidonic acid (20: 4 n-6). Aquaculture International, 22(1), pp.185-193.
- Lenihan-Geels, G., Bishop, K.S. and Ferguson, L.R., 2013. Alternative sources of omega-3 fats: can we find a sustainable substitute for fish? Nutrients, 5(4), pp.1301-1315.
- Li, Y., Monroig, O., Zhang, L., Wang, S., Zheng, X., Dick, J.R., You, C. and Tocher, D.R., 2010. Vertebrate fatty acyl desaturase with Δ4 activity. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 107(39), pp.16840-16845.
- Martin, R.E., Carter, E.P. and Davis, L.M., 2000. Marine and freshwater products handbook. CRC Press.
- Martins, D.A., Rocha, F., Martínez-Rodríguez, G., Bell, G., Morais, S., Castanheira, F.,
   Bandarra, N., Coutinho, J., Yúfera, M. and Conceição, L.E., 2012. Teleost fish
   larvae adapt to dietary arachidonic acid supply through modulation of the

expression of lipid metabolism and stress response genes. British Journal of Nutrition, 108(5), pp.864-874.

- Marventano, S., Kolacz, P., Castellano, S., Galvano, F., Buscemi, S., Mistretta, A. and Grosso, G., 2015. A review of recent evidence in human studies of n-3 and n-6 PUFA intake on cardiovascular disease, cancer, and depressive disorders: does the ratio really matter? International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition, 66(6), pp.611-622.
- Menoyo, D., Izquierdo, M.S., Robaina, L., Ginés, R., Lopez-Bote, C.J. and Bautista, J.M., 2004. Adaptation of lipid metabolism, tissue composition and flesh quality in gilthead sea bream (*Sparus aurata*) to the replacement of dietary fish oil by linseed and soyabean oils. British Journal of Nutrition, 92(1), pp.41-52.
- Miller, M.R., Nichols, P.D. and Carter, C.G., 2007. Replacement of fish oil with thraustochytrid Schizochytrium sp. L oil in Atlantic salmon parr (*Salmo salar L*) diets. Comparative biochemistry and physiology part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology, 148(2), pp.382-392.
- Min, D.B., 2008. Fats and Oils in Human Health. In Food Lipids (pp. 513-526). CRC Press.
- Monge-Ortiz, R., Tomás-Vidal, A., Rodriguez-Barreto, D., Martínez-Llorens, S., Pérez, J.A., Jover-Cerdá, M. and Lorenzo, A., 2018. Replacement of fish oil with vegetable oil blends in feeds for greater amberjack (*Seriola dumerili*) juveniles: Effect on growth performance, feed efficiency, tissue fatty acid composition and flesh nutritional value. Aquaculture Nutrition, 24(1), pp.605-615.
- Montero, D., and Izquierdo, M., 2010. Welfare and health of fish fed vegetable oils as alternative lipid sources to fish oil. Fish oil replacement and alternative lipid sources in aquaculture feeds.
- Montero, D., Benitez-Dorta, V., Caballero, M.J., Ponce, M., Torrecillas, S., Izquierdo, M., Zamorano, M.J. and Manchado, M., 2015. Dietary vegetable oils: effects on the

expression of immune-related genes in Senegalese sole (*Solea senegalensis*) intestine. Fish & Shellfish Immunology, 44(1), pp.100-108.

- Montero, D., Mathlouthi, F., Tort, L., Afonso, J.M., Torrecillas, S., Fernández-Vaquero, A., Negrin, D. and Izquierdo, M.S., 2010. Replacement of dietary fish oil by vegetable oils affects humoral immunity and expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines genes in gilthead sea bream *Sparus aurata*. Fish & Shellfish Immunology, 29(6), pp.1073-1081.
- Montero, D., Robaina L, Caballero MJ, Gines R, Izquierdo MS (2005) Growth, feed utilization and flesh quality of European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) fed diets containing vegetable oils: a time-course study on the effect of are-feeding period with a 100% fish oil diet. Aquaculture 248:121–134
- Mourente, G. and Bell, J.G., 2006. Partial replacement of dietary fish oil with blends of vegetable oils (rapeseed, linseed and palm oils) in diets for European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax L.*) over a long-term growth study: effects on muscle and liver fatty acid composition and effectiveness of a fish oil finishing diet. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part B: Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, 145(3-4), pp.389-399.
- Mourente, G. and Tocher, D.R., 1993. Incorporation and metabolism of <sup>14</sup>C-labelled polyunsaturated fatty acids in juvenile gilthead sea bream *Sparus aurata L*. in vivo. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry, 10(6), pp.443-453.
- Mourente, G., Dick, J.R., Bell, J.G. and Tocher, D.R., 2005. Effect of partial substitution of dietary fish oil by vegetable oils on desaturation and β-oxidation of [1-14C] 18:
  3n-3 (LNA) and [1-14C] 20: 5n-3 (EPA) in hepatocytes and enterocytes of European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax L*.). Aquaculture, 248(1-4), pp.173-186.
- Mourente, G., Good, J.E. and Bell, J.G., 2005. Partial substitution of fish oil with rapeseed, linseed and olive oils in diets for European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax L.*):

effects on flesh fatty acid composition, plasma prostaglandins  $E_2$  and  $F_{2\alpha}$ , immune function and effectiveness of a fish oil finishing diet. Aquaculture Nutrition, 11(1), pp.25-40.

- Moya-Falcón, C., Hvattum, E., Dyrøy, E., Skorve, J., Stefansson, S.O., Thomassen, M.S., Jakobsen, J.V., Berge, R.K. and Ruyter, B., 2004. Effects of 3-thia fatty acids on feed intake, growth, tissue fatty acid composition, β-oxidation and Na+, K+ ATPase activity in Atlantic salmon. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part B: Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, 139(4), pp.657-668.
- Nakamura, M.T. and Nara, T.Y., 2004. Structure, function, and dietary regulation of (delta) 6,(delta) 5, and (delta) 9 desaturases. Annual Review of Nutrition, 24, p.345.
- Napier, J.A., Olsen, R.E. and Tocher, D.R., 2019. Update on GM canola crops as novel sources of omega-3 fish oils. Plant Biotechnology Journal, 17(4), p.703.
- Nayak, S., Koven, W., Meiri, I., Khozin-Goldberg, I., Isakov, N., Zibdeh, M. and Zilberg, D., 2017. Dietary arachidonic acid affects immune function and fatty acid composition in cultured rabbitfish *Siganus rivulatus*. Fish & Shellfish Immunology, 68, pp.46-53.
- Naylor, R.L., Goldburg, R.J., Primavera, J.H., Kautsky, N., Beveridge, M., Clay, J., Folke, C., Lubchenco, J., Mooney, H. and Troell, M., 2000. Effect of aquaculture on world fish supplies. Nature, 405(6790), pp.1017-1024.
- Naylor, R.L., Hardy, R.W., Bureau, D.P., Chiu, A., Elliott, M., Farrell, A.P., Forster, I., Gatlin, D.M., Goldburg, R.J., Hua, K. and Nichols, P.D., 2009. Feeding aquaculture in an era of finite resources. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 106(36), pp.15103-15110.
- Naylor, R.L., Hardy, R.W., Buschmann, A.H., Bush, S.R., Cao, L., Klinger, D.H., Little, D.C., Lubchenco, J., Shumway, S.E. and Troell, M., 2021. A 20-year retrospective review of global aquaculture. Nature, 591(7851), pp.551-563.

- Nichols, P.D., Glencross, B., Petrie, J.R. and Singh, S.P., 2014. Readily available sources of long-chain omega-3 oils: is farmed Australian seafood a better source of the good oil than wild-caught seafood? Nutrients, 6(3), pp.1063-1079.
- Norambuena, F., Lewis, M., Hamid, N.K.A., Hermon, K., Donald, J.A. and Turchini, G.M., 2013. Fish oil replacement in current aquaculture feed: is cholesterol a hidden treasure for fish nutrition? PLoS One, 8(12), p.e81705.
- Norambuena, F., Morais, S., Emery, J.A. and Turchini, G.M., 2015. Arachidonic acid and eicosapentaenoic acid metabolism in juvenile Atlantic salmon as affected by water temperature. PLoS One, 10(11), p.e0143622.
- NRC (National Research Council), (2011). Nutrient Requirements of Fish and Shrimp. National Academy Press, Washington, DC, p. 110.
- Orsavova, J., Misurcova, L., Vavra Ambrozova, J., Vicha, R. and Mlcek, J., 2015. Fatty acids composition of vegetable oils and its contribution to dietary energy intake and dependence of cardiovascular mortality on dietary intake of fatty acids. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 16(6), pp.12871-12890.
- Osmond, A.T. and Colombo, S.M., 2019. The future of genetic engineering to provide essential dietary nutrients and improve growth performance in aquaculture: Advantages and challenges. Journal of the World Aquaculture Society, 50(3), pp.490-509.
- Ostlund Jr, R.E., 2004. Phytosterols and cholesterol metabolism. Current opinion in lipidology, 15(1), pp.37-41.
- Parish EJ, Li S. and Bell AD., 2008. Chemistry of waxes and sterols In Food Lipids: chemistry, nutrition, and biotechnology; Min CCADB, editor: CRC Press Boca Raton, FL., USA.
- Peres, H. and Oliva-Teles, A., 1999. Effect of dietary lipid level on growth performance and feed utilization by European sea bass juveniles (*Dicentrarchus labrax*). Aquaculture, 179(1-4), pp.325-334.

- Pickova, J. and Mørkøre, T., 2007. Alternate oils in fish feeds. European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology, 109(3), pp.256-263.
- Polakof, S., Panserat, S., Soengas, J.L. and Moon, T.W., 2012. Glucose metabolism in fish: a review. Journal of Comparative Physiology B, 182(8), pp.1015-1045.
- Prado, I.N., Ito, R.H., Prado, J.M., Prado, I.M., Rotta, P.P., Matsushita, M., Visentainer, J.V. and Silva, R.R., 2008. The influence of dietary soyabean and linseed on the chemical composition and fatty acid profile of the Longissimus muscle of feedlotfinished bulls. Journal of Animal and Feed Science, 17, pp.307-317.
- Randall, K.M., Drew, M.D., Øverland, M., Østbye, T.K., Bjerke, M., Vogt, G. and Ruyter,
  B., 2013. Effects of dietary supplementation of coriander oil, in canola oil diets, on the metabolism of [1-14C] 18: 3n-3 and [1-14C] 18: 2n-6 in rainbow trout hepatocytes. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part B: Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, 166(1), pp.65-72.
- Raso, S. and Anderson, T.A., 2003. Effects of dietary fish oil replacement on growth and carcass proximate composition of juvenile barramundi (*Lates calcarifer*). Aquaculture Research, 34(10), pp.813-819.
- Regost, C., Arzel, J., Robin, J., Rosenlund, G. and Kaushik, S.J., 2003. Total replacement of fish oil by soybean or linseed oil with a return to fish oil in turbot (*Psetta maxima*): 1. Growth performance, flesh fatty acid profile, and lipid metabolism. Aquaculture, 217(1-4), pp.465-482.
- Rombenso, A.N., Trushenski, J.T., Jirsa, D. and Drawbridge, M., 2016. Docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) and arachidonic acid (ARA) are essential to meet LC-PUFA requirements of juvenile California yellowtail (*Seriola dorsalis*). Aquaculture, 463, pp.123-134.
- Ruiz-Lopez, N., Stubhaug, I., Ipharraguerre, I., Rimbach, G. and Menoyo, D., 2015. Positional distribution of fatty acids in triacylglycerols and phospholipids from fillets of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) fed vegetable and fish oil blends. Marine Drugs, 13(7), pp.4255-4269.

- Ruyter, B., Andersen, Ø., Dehli, A., Farrants, A.K.Ö., Gjøen, T. and Thomassen, M.S., 1997. Peroxisome proliferator activated receptors in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*): effects on PPAR transcription and acyl-CoA oxidase activity in hepatocytes by peroxisome proliferators and fatty acids. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Lipids and Lipid Metabolism, 1348(3), pp.331-338.
- Sargent, J.R., Tocher, D.R., Bell, J.G., Halver, J.E. and Hardy, R.W., 2002. Fish nutrition. The Lipids, pp.182-257.
- Sebaaly, C., Greige-Gerges, H. and Charcosset, C., 2019. Lipid membrane models for biomembrane properties' investigation. In Current Trends and Future Developments on (Bio-) Membranes (pp. 311-340).
- Seno-o, A., Takakuwa, F., Hashiguchi, T., Morioka, K., Masumoto, T. and Fukada, H., 2008. Replacement of dietary fish oil with olive oil in young yellowtail Seriola quingqueradiata: effects on growth, muscular fatty acid composition and prevention of dark muscle discoloration during refrigerated storage. Fisheries Science, 74(6), pp.1297-1306.
- Shafique, L., Abdel-Latif, H.M., Hassan, F.U., Alagawany, M., Naiel, M.A., Dawood, M.A., Yilmaz, S. and Liu, Q., 2021. The feasibility of using yellow mealworms (*Tenebrio molitor*): Towards a sustainable aquafeed industry. Animals, 11(3), p.811.
- Shahrooz, R., Agh, N., Jafari, N., Kalantari, A., Jalili, R. and Karimi, A., 2018. Effects of fish oil replacement with vegetable oils in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) fingerlings diet on growth performance and foregut histology. Turkish Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 18(6), pp.825-832.
- Shepherd, J., 2011. Responsible marine ingredients for agriculture.
- Simopoulos, A.P., 2008. The importance of the omega-6/omega-3 fatty acid ratio in cardiovascular disease and other chronic diseases. Experimental Biology and Medicine, 233(6), pp.674-688.

- Simopoulos, A.P., 2008. The omega-6/omega-3 fatty acid ratio, genetic variation, and cardiovascular disease. Asia Pacific Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 17.
- Simopoulos, A.P., 2016. An increase in the omega-6/omega-3 fatty acid ratio increases the risk for obesity. Nutrients, 8(3), p.128.
- Sissener, N.H., Sanden, M., Krogdahl, Å., Bakke, A.M., Johannessen, L.E. and Hemre, G.I., 2011. Genetically modified plants as fish feed ingredients. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 68(3), pp.563-574.
- Sprague, M., Dick, J.R. and Tocher, D.R., 2016. Impact of sustainable feeds on omega-3 long-chain fatty acid levels in farmed Atlantic salmon, 2006–2015. Scientific Reports, 6(1), pp.1-9.
- Sprague, M., Walton, J., Campbell, P.J., Strachan, F., Dick, J.R. and Bell, J.G., 2015.
  Replacement of fish oil with a DHA-rich algal meal derived from Schizochytrium sp. on the fatty acid and persistent organic pollutant levels in diets and flesh of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar, L.*) post-smolts. Food Chemistry, 185, pp.413-421.
- Stone, D.A.J., Oliveira, A.C.M., Plante, S., Smiley, S., Bechtel, P. and Hardy, R.W., 2011. Enhancing highly unsaturated ω-3 fatty acids in phase-fed rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) using Alaskan fish oils. Aquaculture Nutrition, 17(2), pp. e501-e510.
- Tacon, A.G. and Metian, M., 2008. Global overview on the use of fish meal and fish oil in industrially compounded aquafeeds: Trends and future prospects. Aquaculture, 285(1-4), pp.146-158.
- Tacon, A.G. and Metian, M., 2009. Fishing for aquaculture: non-food use of small pelagic forage fish—a global perspective. Reviews in Fisheries Science, 17(3), pp.305-317.
- Tocher, D.R., 2010. Fatty acid requirements in ontogeny of marine and freshwater fish. Aquaculture Research, 41(5), pp.717-732.

- Tocher, D.R., 2015. Omega-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids and aquaculture in perspective. Aquaculture, 449, pp.94-107.
- Tocher, D.R., Francis, D.S. and Coupland, K., 2010. n-3 Polyunsaturated fatty acid-rich vegetable oils and blends. Fish oil replacement and alternative lipid sources in aquaculture feeds, 209, p.244.
- Torrecillas, S., Betancor, M.B., Caballero, M.J., Rivero, F., Robaina, L., Izquierdo, M. and Montero, D., 2018. Supplementation of arachidonic acid rich oil in European sea bass juveniles (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) diets: effects on growth performance, tissue fatty acid profile and lipid metabolism. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry, 44(1), pp.283-300.
- Torrecillas, S., Robaina, L., Caballero, M.J., Montero, D., Calandra, G., Mompel, D., Karalazos, V., Kaushik, S. and Izquierdo, M.S., 2017. Combined replacement of fishmeal and fish oil in European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*): production performance, tissue composition and liver morphology. Aquaculture, 474, pp.101-112.
- Torstensen, B.E., Bell, J.G., Rosenlund, G., Henderson, R.J., Graff, I.E., Tocher, D.R., Lie, Ø. and Sargent, J.R., 2005. Tailoring of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*) flesh lipid composition and sensory quality by replacing fish oil with a vegetable oil blend. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 53(26), pp.10166-10178.
- Torstensen, B.E., Frøyland, L., Ørnsrud, R. and Lie, Ø., 2004. Tailoring of a cardioprotective muscle fatty acid composition of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) fed vegetable oils. Food Chemistry, 87(4), pp.567-580.
- Tran, G., Heuzé, V. and Makkar, H.P.S., 2015. Insects in fish diets. Animal Frontiers, 5(2), pp.37-44.
- Trattner, S., Kamal-Eldin, A., Brännäs, E., Moazzami, A., Zlabek, V., Larsson, P., Ruyter,
  B., Gjøen, T. and Pickova, J., 2008a. Sesamin supplementation increases white muscle docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) levels in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus*)

*mykiss*) fed high alpha-linolenic acid (ALA) containing vegetable oil: metabolic actions. Lipids, 43(11), pp.989-997.

- Trattner, S., Ruyter, B., Østbye, T.K., Gjøen, T., Zlabek, V., Kamal-Eldin, A. and Pickova, J., 2008b. Sesamin increases alpha-linolenic acid conversion to docosahexaenoic acid in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*) hepatocytes: Role of altered gene expression. Lipids, 43(11), pp.999-1008.
- Turchini, G.M., Francis, D.S. and De Silva, S.S., 2007. Finishing diets stimulate compensatory growth: results of a study on Murray cod, *Maccullochella peelii peelii*. Aquaculture Nutrition, 13(5), pp.351-360.
- Turchini, G.M., Francis, D.S., Du, Z.Y., Olsen, R.E., Ringø, E. and Tocher, D.R., 2022. The lipids. In Fish nutrition (pp. 303-467). Academic Press.
- Turchini, G.M., Ng, W.K. and Tocher, D.R., 2010. Fish oil replacement and alternative lipid sources in aquaculture feeds. CRC Press.
- Turchini, G.M., Torstensen, B.E. and Ng, W.K., 2009. Fish oil replacement in finfish nutrition. Reviews in Aquaculture, 1(1), pp.10-57.
- USDA, 2018. Oilseeds: World Markets and Trade. Foreign Agricultural Service (ed). United States Department of Agriculture, Washington, DC.
- USDA, 2019. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Agricultural Research Service. Food Data Central. fdc.nal.usda.gov.
- Van Ginneken, V.J., Helsper, J.P., de Visser, W., van Keulen, H. and Brandenburg, W.A.,
   2011. Polyunsaturated fatty acids in various macroalgal species from north
   Atlantic and tropical seas. Lipids in Health and Disease, 10(1), pp.1-8.
- Verleyen, T., Forcades, M., Verhé, R., Dewettinck, K., Huyghebaert, A. and De Greyt, W., 2002. Analysis of free and esterified sterols in vegetable oils. Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society, 79(2), pp.117-122.

- Vlahcevic ZR., Hylemon PB., and Chiang JYL., 1994. Hepatic cholesterol metabolism. In: Arias I, editor. The Liver Biology and Pathobiology. 3 ed. Raven Press, New York, NY. pp. 379–389.
- Worm, B., Barbier, E.B., Beaumont, N., Duffy, J.E., Folke, C., Halpern, B.S., Jackson, J.B., Lotze, H.K., Micheli, F., Palumbi, S.R. and Sala, E., 2006. Impacts of biodiversity loss on ocean ecosystem services. Science, 314(5800), pp.787-790.
- Xu, H., Ai, Q., Mai, K., Xu, W., Wang, J., Ma, H., Zhang, W., Wang, X. and Liufu, Z., 2010.
   Effects of dietary arachidonic acid on growth performance, survival, immune response and tissue fatty acid composition of juvenile Japanese seabass, *Lateolabrax japonicus*. Aquaculture, 307(1-2), pp.75-82.
- Xue, M., Luo, L., Wu, X., Ren, Z., Gao, P., Yu, Y. and Pearl, G., 2006. Effects of six alternative lipid sources on growth and tissue fatty acid composition in Japanese sea bass (*Lateolabrax japonicus*). Aquaculture, 260(1-4), pp.206-214.
- Yıldız, M., Eroldoğan, T.O., Ofori-Mensah, S., Engin, K. and Baltacı, M.A., 2018. The effects of fish oil replacement by vegetable oils on growth performance and fatty acid profile of rainbow trout: Re-feeding with fish oil finishing diet improved the fatty acid composition. Aquaculture, 488, pp.123-133.
- Ytrestøyl, T., Aas, T.S. and Åsgård, T., 2015. Utilisation of feed resources in production of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) in Norway. Aquaculture, 448, pp.365-374.
- Yuan, Y., Li, S., Mai, K., Xu, W., Zhang, Y. and Ai, Q., 2015. The effect of dietary arachidonic acid (ARA) on growth performance, fatty acid composition and expression of ARA metabolism-related genes in larval half-smooth tongue sole (*Cynoglossus semilaevis*). British Journal of Nutrition, 113(10), pp.1518-1530.
- Zarantoniello, M., Randazzo, B., Gioacchini, G., Truzzi, C., Giorgini, E., Riolo, P., Gioia, G., Bertolucci, C., Osimani, A., Cardinaletti, G. and Lucon-Xiccato, T., 2020.
   Zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) physiological and behavioural responses to insect-based diets: A multidisciplinary approach. Scientific Reports, 10(1), pp.1-16.

Zhang, W., Mai, K., Yao, C., Xu, W., Wang, W., Liufu, Z. and Wang, X., 2009. Effects of dietary cholesterol on growth, survival and body composition of juvenile abalone *Haliotis discus hannai* Ino. Aquaculture, 295(3-4), pp.271-274.



**Figure 1.1. World capture fisheries and aquaculture production.** Notes: Excluding aquatic mammals crocodiles, alligators, caimans and algae. Data expressed in live weight equivalent. Source: FAO



Figure 1.2. Utilization of fish oil. Source: IFFO



Figure 1.3. Polyunsaturated fatty acid biosynthesis pathway.  $\Delta 12$  and  $\Delta 15$  desaturases are found only in plants and some invertebrates, thus C18:2n-6 and C18:3n-3 cannot be synthesized *in vivo*.

## Chapter 2:

# Balancing Dietary Lipid and Cholesterol to Increase Fillet Omega-3 Deposition in Rainbow Trout Fed a Soy-Based Diet

Jeongwhui Hong<sup>1</sup>, Jacob W. Bledsoe<sup>1</sup>, Kenneth E. Overturf<sup>2</sup>, Ronald W. Hardy<sup>1</sup>, and Brian C. Small<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Aqauculture Research Institute, Hagerman Fish Culture Experiment Station, University of Idaho, Hagerman, ID, 83332, United States, <sup>2</sup>United States Department of Agriculture, Hagerman Fish Culture Experiment Station, Hagerman, ID, 83332, United States

\*Corresponding Author: Brian C. Small

Aquaculture Research Institute, Hagerman Fish Culture Experiment Station, University of Idaho, Hagerman, ID, 83332, United States

Email: bcsmall@uidaho.edu

The following chapter is being prepared as an article for submission to the journal Aquaculture

#### Abstract

We hypothesized that a low phytosterol oil, such as soybean oil, in combination with an ALA rich oil, such as linseed oil, and supplemental cholesterol could effectively replace fish oil in salmonid feeds. A such, the primary objective was to blend soybean oil with linseed oil and supplemental cholesterol to maintain fish growth and increase de novo production of the omega-3 fatty acids (n-3 FA) EPA and DHA in trout muscle, since EPA and DHA have been identified as beneficial nutrients in human nutrition, and farmed seafood must meet consumer needs and expectations. To accomplish this, we used soy oil for its low phytosterol properties in combination with linseed oil for its n-3 FA content, with and without cholesterol to improve utilization. Upon conclusion of the study, our results did not support our hypothesis. Trout fed all-plant based diets containing any amount of soy oil had reduced growth performance. Only fish fed the all-plant diet with 100% linseed oil plus supplemental cholesterol grew as well as the fishmeal/fish oil positive control group. With regard to fillet EPA and DHA content, no improvements were seen with soybean oil. Dietary cholesterol supplementation improved plasma cholesterol levels (P < 0.05), and numerically, but not statistically (P>0.05), increased EPA and DHA levels in fillets when linseed oil was provided above 50% of total oil content. Gene expression results supported the results of fatty acid analysis, indicating no significant enhancement by soybean oil or cholesterol. Although, our hypothesis failed and soybean oil was found to be less accepted by the fish, resulting in lower growth and feed intake, we were successful in developing a high soyprotein diet (35%) with all-plant ingredients using linseed oil and supplemental cholesterol that resulted in equal fish performance to fish fed a fishmeal/fish oil control diet. More research is needed to identify a cost-effective EPA/DHA source to meet consumer needs and expectations for n-3 FA in trout fillets.

#### Introduction

Aquaculture is often touted as a solution to ensuring sufficient fish products for a rapidly increasing global population (FAO, 2014). A great deal of research in the aquaculture field now emphasizes the need to make fish farming more sustainable (FAO, 2014). A large effort in this regard is to develop feeds that reduce reliance on capture fisheries so supply fish meal and fish oil. Success in this regard has brought with it a complication for human health, which is lower omega-3 (n-3) fatty acids (FA) in fish feeds leading to lower n-3 FA in the

consumable flesh of the fish produced (Sprague et al., 2016). Omega-3 fatty acids, particularly EPA (20:5n-3) and DHA (22:6n-3) have been identified as beneficial nutrients in human nutrition for heart and brain health (Calder, 2014). For this reason, farmed seafood must meet consumer expectations as healthful products. One-for-one substitutions of fish oil with plant oils currently is not enough to ensure healthful levels of EPA and DHA in farmed fish products. Alternative feeding strategies, coupled with improved plant and fish genetics, must be developed to increase n-3 FA in farmed fish products.

Over the past decade, considerable research has been conducted on fatty acid metabolism in rainbow trout, a model species for other carnivorous fish species and an important food fish. This is mostly driven by increased demand, stagnant production, rising costs of fish oil and the inevitable modification of the final n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acid (LCPUFA) content of fish fillets when fish oil is replaced with more economical and sustainable plant oil alternatives. The thrust of much of the research has been on the capability of fish to biosynthesize DHA (22:6n-3) through the desaturation and elongation of  $\alpha$ -linolenic acid (ALA, 18:3n-3). The problem appears to be adaptation by the fish to abundant DHA in their natural diet leading to reduced or even "dormant" n-3 biosynthetic capacity (Gregory at el., 2016). As such, a better understanding of FA metabolism has evolved from recent research evaluating FA fate in fish fed alternative dietary oil sources (Turchini and Francis, 2009; Gregory at el., 2016; Teoh and Ng, 2016).

It is now clear that a lack of dietary n-3 LCPUFA leads to an increase in both elongase and desaturase activity and transcription rates (Gregory at el., 2016). However, research has demonstrated that this compensation in fish is insufficient to increase n-3 LCPUFA tissue concentrations to levels adequate to result in human health benefits. In a study by Turchini and Francis (2009) where rainbow trout were fed two different dietary treatments of fish oil or linseed oil, fish fed the linseed oil diet showed elevated delta-6 ( $\Delta$ -6) and delta-5 ( $\Delta$ -5) desaturases and commensurate increases in EPA and DHA. However, tissue levels of EPA and DHA were still 5- and 3-fold lower, respectively, than in fish fed the fish oil diet. In light of recent findings by Gregory et al. (2016), it is important to note that both dietary treatments contained fishmeal in the Turchini and Francis (2009) study. Gregory et al. (2016) concluded that when optimizing aquaculture feeds containing vegetable oils and/or fish oil or fishmeal, one must consider both the amount of dietary ALA and DHA. Their results suggest that dietary DHA has a large negative effect on downregulating both elongases and desaturases, and when no DHA was present in a diet high in ALA, expression levels of  $\Delta$ -6 and  $\Delta$ -5 desaturases and elongase-5 and -2 were highest. Cholesterol appears to also play a significant role in regulating FA metabolism by stimulating fatty acid  $\beta$ -oxidation and the conversion of ALA to DHA (Norambuena et al., 2013). Even so, cholesterol use in optimizing fish feed formulations for maximizing n-3 LCPUFA biosynthesis has been limited and not previously reported for fish fed an all-plant based diet replacing fish oil with soy oil. This is important since cholesterol's activity may be affected by phytosterols in plant oils, as phytosterols are known to inhibit intestinal cholesterol absorption (Ostlund, 2004). The deemphasized role of physosterols to date may have confounded much of the research done on FA metabolism and n-3 LCPUFA biosynthesis in trout because the focus has been on maximizing dietary ALA for conversion to DHA by using linseed oil in the diets. While linseed oil is the richest source of ALA among common plant oils, soy oil has about two-thirds the phytosterol content (300 mg/100 g; Verleyen et al., 2002) of linseed oil (467 mg/ 100 g; Yang et al., 2019).

Further development and utilization of soy-based feeds will likely rely on the formulation of diets composed of all plant-derived feed ingredients, including plant oils. However, substituting fish oil with plant oils lowers the levels of EPA and DHA compared to levels in fish fed diets containing fish oil. Omega-3 fatty acids are essential nutrients for fish and inclusion of 5-6% fish oil is sufficient to meet the dietary requirements of salmonids. However, this level of dietary fish oil is not sufficient to ensure levels of EPA and DHA in fillets meet consumer expectations and dietary intake recommendations. Among alternative lipid sources for fish feeds, plant oils high in ALA are of interest because ALA can serve as a precursor for the biosynthesis of EPA and DHA. We hypothesize that the use of a lowphytosterol oil, such as soy-oil, in combination with a high ALA oil, such as linseed oil, and supplemental cholesterol can be used to improve EPA + DHA biosynthesis and fillet content for human consumption. Salmonids possess the capacity to synthesize EPA and DHA from ALA, but the rate of bioconversion is extremely low. The objective of the proposed research was to provide a low amount of phytosterol oil in combination with a high amount of ALA oil and supplemental cholesterol in diets fed to rainbow trout as components of a fishmeal/fish oil free diet (low in LC-PUFA's) and demonstrate increased conversion of

ALA to DHA in the edible fillet. If successful, the results would have significant implications for salmonid diet formulation and warrant future investigations with non-salmonid species while improving the human health benefits associated with consuming DHA and EPA in fillets.

## **Materials and Methods**

## Dietary Treatments and Formulation

Diets were formulated to contain 48% protein, 21% lipid and 22.5 MJ/kg energy, and meet or exceed the published minimum nutrient requirements for rainbow trout (NRC, 2011). Experimental diets were cold pelleted at the University of Idaho's Hagerman Fish Culture Experiment Station (HFCES) using a laboratory-scale California pellet mill fitted with a 2.4-mm die. Feeds were dried in a forced-air dryer at 35°C to < 10% moisture, then stored at ambient temperature (20-22°C) until being fed. Samples of the diets were collected for chemical analyses. Dietary cholesterol supplementation was at a level of 1.43 mg/g of diet to mimic the amount of cholesterol in a fish oil-based diet.

Experimental diets: 12 experimental diets were formulated as follows (Table 2.1):

- 1. Diet 1 (Control): Fishmeal based control diet
- 2. Diet 2 (F0100): All-plant protein, soy-based diet with 100% fish oil
- 3. Diet 3 (SO100): All-plant protein, soy-based diet with 100% soy oil
- 4. Diet 4 (SO100+C): Diet 3 supplemented with 1.43 mg/g diet cholesterol
- 5. Diet 5 (SO75/25LO): All-plant protein, soy-based diet with 75% soy oil/25% linseed oil
- 6. Diet 6 (SO75/25LO+C): Diet 5 supplemented with 1.43 mg/g cholesterol
- 7. Diet 7 (SO50/50LO): All-plant protein, soy-based diet with 50% soy oil/50% linseed oil
- 8. Diet 8 (SO50/50LO+C): Diet 7 supplemented with 1.43 mg/g cholesterol
- 9. Diet 9 (SO25/75LO): All-plant protein, soy-based diet with 25% soy oil/75% linseed oil
- 10. Diet 10 (SO25/75LO+C): Diet 9 supplemented with 1.43 mg/g cholesterol
- 11. Diet 11 (LO100): All-plant protein, soy-based diet with 100% linseed oil
- 12. Diet 12 (LO100+C): Diet 11 supplemented with 1.43 mg/g cholesterol

#### Fish and Feeding Trial

The fish feeding trial was conducted at the University of Idaho's Hagerman Fish Culture Experiment Station in Hagerman, Idaho. All fish handling and sampling, plus the experimental protocols used in this project were approved in advance by the University of Idaho's Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC-2018-65).

Rainbow trout (initial body weight:  $18.8 \pm 0.3$ g) of the USDA-UI Hagerman strain crossed with Donaldson strain, selected for improved growth on an all-plant protein feed (Diet 2), were stocked into each of 36, 145-L tanks at 25 fish per tank. Each tank was supplied with 8-10 L/min of constant temperature (15 °C) spring water fed by gravity to the fish rearing laboratory. Each diet was assigned randomly to three tanks in a completely randomized design. Fish were hand-fed to apparent satiation two times per day, six days per week for 12 weeks. Photoperiod was maintained at 14 h light: 10 h dark with fluorescent lights controlled by electric timers. At the end of 12 weeks, 16-hour postprandial, three fish per tank were anesthetized with tricaine methanesulfonate (MS-222, 100 mg/L, buffered to pH 7.0). Plasma was collected from the caudal vessels of fish with 1-ml heparinized syringes fitted with 25G 3/4-inch needle for cholesterol analysis. Upon euthanizing those fish with MS-222, liver and white muscle were excised for gene expression analysis. Another three fish per tank were euthanized and filleted for muscle fatty acid analysis. Tissue samples were snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C until analysis.

#### Fatty Acid Analysis

Fatty acid analysis of feeds and muscle was conducted using gas chromatography. Lipids were extracted for fatty acid analysis following a modified Folch method (Folch et al.,1957; Clark et al., 1982). Extracted lipids were derivatized to prepare fatty acid methyl esters (FAME) using tert-butyl methyl ether (TBME) and trimethylsulfonium hydroxide in an Agilent 7696A Sample Prep WorkBench (Agilent Technologies (Shanghai) Co. Ltd, Shanghai, China). FAME was then analyzed using an Agilent 7890B GC System. Fatty acids in samples were identified by comparing the retention times with those of commercial fatty acid analytical standards. Results were expressed on a relative percentage basis, then normalized and reported as % of FAME (fatty acid methyl ester).

#### *Real-time qPCR*

Total RNA was isolated from each tissue using TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) extraction method following the manufacturer's suggested protocol. Purity and quantity of extracted RNA were assessed by Nanodrop ND-1000 spectrophotometer (260/230 and 260/280 ratios >1.8). Briefly, extracted RNA was treated with DNAse, then 1 µg of total RNA was reverse-transcribed using the iScript<sup>™</sup> cDNA Synthesis kit (BioRad, Hercules, CA). Real-time quantitative PCR was carried out on a CFX96 Real-Time System (BioRad) in a 10 µL total volume reaction using iTaq SYBR Green Supermix (BioRad) and 500 nmol primers according to the protocol provided by the manufacturer. PCR cycling conditions for all genes were as follows: 95 °C for 5 s followed by 55 °C for 30s over 40 cycles with an initial denaturation step of 95 °C for 3 min. For each fish, PCR reactions were run in duplicate on RNA samples. Relative expression values for genes constituting the FA transport, oxidation, desaturation, elongation, and incorporation, including delta-5 fatty acyl desaturase (d5fad), delta-6 fatty acyl desaturase (d6fad), fatty acid elongase 2 (elovl2), fatty acid elongase 5 (elov15), fatty acid bind protein 2 (fabp2), and enoyl-coa hydratase and 3hydroxyacyl coa dehydrogenase (ehhadh) were determined using primers designed from rainbow trout sequences in the NCBI Genbank® database. In addition, a cellular mRNA control was selected from a set of two reference genes (arp and elfla). Primer PCR efficiency was calculated by including six serial dilutions of a standard (pooled from each experimental sample for a given tissue) and utilized for PCR correction for all primer pairs (Pfaffl, 2001). Normalized data were analyzed using the relative quantification method described by Pfaffl (2001).

## Calculations

Using the live-weight and feed consumption data, the following indices were calculated.

Weight gain (WG, g/fish)

= (g mean final weight–g mean initial weight)

Specific growth rate (SGR,%/d)

= [(ln mean final weight–ln mean initial weight)/number of days] x 100

## Survival (%)

= (number of fish at the end of the trial/number of fish at the beginning) 100
Average feed intake (FI, g/fish)
= g total dry feed intake/number of surviving fish
Feed conversion ratio (FCR)

= g total feed consumed/ (g final biomass - g initial biomass + g dead fish weight)

#### Statistical analysis

Tank means were used for statistical analysis. Fish growth and feed utilization indices, physiological parameters, and gene expression data were tested for normality and homogeneity of variance prior to one or two-way factorial Analysis of Variance (ANOVA). If significant differences were found by ANOVA, data were subjected to Tukey's HSD test to separate the means with a significance level of P<0.05. IBM SPSS (Version 21 for Window; IBM SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) was used for all statistical analyses.

## Results

#### Diets

The proximate composition and energy content of the twelve experimental diets used in the growth trial are presented in Table 2.1. Experimental diets were isonitrogenous, isolipidic and isocaloric, and differed in total cholesterol (55 - 2040 mg/kg), total phytosterol content (1090 - 2350 mg/kg; Table 2.3) and fatty acid content (Table 2.2). FM/FO and PM/FO diets contained EPA (6.59 - 6.79%) and DHA (4.98 - 5.32%) and the rest of the diets did not contain EPA and DHA. Linoleic acid (LA) content decreased as soy oil level dropped to 75, 50, 25 and 0 % (49.5 - 16.4%). On the contrary, alpha-linolenic acid (ALA) content increased as linseed oil increased from 25 to 100% (6.87 - 45.1%) (Table 2.2).

## Growth Trial

Rainbow trout juveniles were fed diets containing different ratios of soybean oil and linseed oil and with or without added cholesterol for twelve weeks. The growth performance and feed utilization of the fish are presented in Table 2.4. Survival (93.3% to 100%) and feed conversion ratios (1.02 to 1.09) were similar among dietary treatments groups (P>0.05).

Weight gain of fish fed diet FM/FO, PM/FO or L100+C was the highest (P<0.05) compared with the fish fed other diets. Different ratios of SO/LO did not affect trout weight gain; however, the addition of cholesterol to the L100+C diet significantly increased fish weight gain. The interaction between the two main factors (Cholesterol and SO/LO ratio) significantly affected feed intake (Table 2.6, P<0.05). Fish fed L100+C showed increased feed intake but had no significant effects on FCR or survival (P>0.05).

#### Whole-body Proximate Composition

Whole-body proximate composition of rainbow trout juveniles fed the experimental diets are presented in Table 2.5. Dry matter of fish whole-body varied from 31.8% (SO50/LO50+C) to 33.3% (L100+C). Percent crude protein of fish whole-body ranged from 15.3% (FM/FO) to 16.0% (SO25/LO75, L100) on wet basis. Percent crude fat of fish whole-body ranged from 13.7% (SO50/LO50+C) to 15.2% (LO100+C) on wet basis. Ash content of fish whole-body ranged from 1.90% (SO100+C) to 2.20% (PM/FO) on wet basis. Gross energy of fish whole-body ranged from 27.2 MJ/kg (SO100) to 28.9 MJ/kg (L100+C) on wet basis. There were no differences in whole-body proximate composition among the treatment groups. All of these values are within expected ranges for rainbow trout of this size.

## Chemical Analysis

The result of the chemical assessment of plasma is presented in Table 2.7. Total cholesterol in plasma of fish fed diets ranged from 5.47 mmol/L (SO75/LO25) to 8.73 mmol/L (SO50/LO50+C, L100+C) on wet basis. Plasma cholesterol of fish fed L100+C diet was significantly higher than fish fed SO100 and SO75/LO25 diets. Plasma cholesterol of fish fed diet supplemented with cholesterol showed a higher level than those that were not supplemented with cholesterol.

## Fatty Acid Analysis

Fatty acid composition of rainbow trout juveniles fed the experimental diets are presented in Table 2.8 and 2.9. LA (C18:2n-6) of fish fillet decreased as soy oil level dropped to 75, 50, 25 and 0% (33.0 - 4.66%), while ALA (C18:3n-3) of fish fillet increased as linseed oil increased from 25 to 100% (0.64 - 24.9%). EPA (C20:5n-3) of fish fillet

ranged from 0.80% (SO100, SO100+C) to 5.34% (FM/FO). DHA (22:6n-3) of fish fillet varied from 3.68% (SO100+C) to 13.3% (PM/FO). The interaction of the two main factors (Cholesterol x SO/LO ratio) significantly affected EPA (P=0.051) and DHA content in fish fillet.

## Gene Expression

Relative gene expression in the liver and muscle of rainbow trout juvenile fed experimental diets is presented in Fig.2.4 and 2.5. *Elovl2* expression in liver and muscle varied from 1.07 (FM/FO) to 1.60 (SO100 and SO50/LO50) and 0.70 (FM/FO) to 1.27 (SO100), respectively. *Elovl5* expression in liver and muscle ranged from 0.84 (PM/FO) to 1.20 (LO100+C) and 0.55 (FM/FO) to 1.63 (SO100 and SO50/LO50+C), respectively. Expression of *elovl2* and *elovl5* was lowest with the control diets (FM/FO and PM/FO) but did not differ among diets containing vegetable oils. Similar trends were observed for *d5fad* and *d6fad* in both tissues. *D5fad* expression in liver and muscle varied from 1.02 (FM/FO) to 1.44 (SO100+C) and 0.68 (PM/FO) to 1.27 (SO100+C), respectively. D6fad expression in liver and muscle ranged from 1.74 (PM/FO) to 3.24 (SO100+C) and 3.26 (FM/FO) to 4.68 (SO75/LO25+C), respectively. On the contrary, expression of fabp2 was highest in the control treatments (FM/FO and PM/FO). Expression of *ehhadh* was not affected by diets (*P* > 0.05).

#### Discussion

The results of this study validate the use of supplemental cholesterol to support growth performance in rainbow trout fed all-plant protein diets. At the same time, phytosterol concentration did not affect the fish growth performance or circulating cholesterol. The central hypothesis of this study was that a plant-based diet would be responsible for increased energy expenditure for de novo cholesterol biosynthesis, and thus would have an impact on fish performance and apparent in vivo fatty acid metabolism. However, in the present study, only fish fed LO100+C showed higher growth performance than fish fed other plant-based diets. One would expect that rainbow trout require a sufficient level of ALA (C18:3n-3) to boost their growth performance. In the 12-week feeding trial with rainbow trout juveniles, replacing fish oil with different ratios of SO/LO showed reduced growth rates except for fish

fed L100+C diet. In Atlantic salmon, no effects of dietary cholesterol supplementation were observed on growth performances when fed high inclusion levels of fish meal and fish oil diets (Bjerkeng et al., 1999); similar observations were reported for channel catfish fed casein-based diets (Twibell and Wilson, 2004). However, improved growth performance was observed in response to supplementing dietary cholesterol when channel catfish were fed soybean-based diets (Twibell and Wilson, 2004). In hybrid striped bass (Morone chrysops x M. saxatilis) fed diets containing a large amount of fish meal and fish oil, no effect of cholesterol supplementation on growth performance was recorded (Sealey et al., 2001). These works all used experimental diets containing abundant fish meal and fish oil; thus, even the control treatments provided large amounts of dietary cholesterol. Furthermore, it was shown that the weight gain and feed intake in fish fed a fishmeal-based diet without plant protein ingredients were not influenced by cholesterol supplementation, as reported in Atlantic salmon (Bjerkeng et al., 1999) and Japanese flounder (Deng et al., 2010). However, in the present study, fish fed LO100+C diet had significantly higher weight gain and feed intake compared with those fish fed the other plant-based diets without cholesterol supplementation. Therefore, cholesterol supplementation may be beneficial when fish are fed plant-based diets with 100% linseed oil.

Dietary cholesterol supplementation had no effects on performance of fish fed diets containing soybean oil, although we hypothesized low phytosterol content would facilitate cholesterol uptake. This may be due to the lack of ALA in the diets that are required for bioconversion into EPA and DHA and this study showed that there were interactions between cholesterol and the ratio of SO and LO. Fish, like all vertebrates, cannot synthesize PUFA *de novo* as they lack the essential  $\Delta 12$  and  $\Delta 15$  FAD to convert Oleic acid (C18:1n-9) to LA (C18:2n-6) and ALA (C18:3n-3). However, the growth performance of fish fed S100 and L100 diet were not significantly different. Similarly, in juvenile sharpsnout seabream (*Diplodus puntazzo*) there were no significant differences in fish growth between fish fed soybean oil and linseed oil treatments (Piedecausa et al., 2007). On the other hand, differences in feed intake and weight gain were significant between soybean oil diets and control groups. The decrease in fish growth of fish fed soybean oil diets can be explained by reduced feed intake, likely a result of the absence of n-3 LCPUFA. Roy et al. (2020) showed that rainbow trout could discriminate between feeds with different levels of n-3 LCPUFA.

In this study, a hypocholesterolemic effect was observed in the plasma of fish fed the plant-based diet without cholesterol supplementation compared with the fish fed control treatments (FM/FO and PM/FO) and diets supplemented with cholesterol. It is reported that plant protein sources, such as soybean meal, soy protein concentrate, corn protein concentrate and wheat gluten meal, generally known for low-cost plant protein ingredients, have a hypocholesterolemic effect in rainbow trout, turbot, gilthead sea bream, Atlantic cod and parrot fish fed these ingredients compared to the fish fed fish meal-based diets (Yamamoto et al., 2007, Regost et al., 1999, Venou et al., 2006, Hansen et al., 2007, Lim and Lee, 2009)

Another aspect of the present study was assessing if dietary cholesterol affected fatty acid metabolism. In several species, the key enzymes involved in the fatty acid synthesis pathway are known to be affected by several physiological and nutritional factors, including dietary fatty acid composition and cholesterol. In rats, dietary supplementation of cholesterol reduced the expression of *D5fad* and *D6fad* (Muriana et al., 1992). On the contrary, in the Norambuena (2013) study on rainbow trout, a positive effect was shown in expression of *d6fad* and *elov15* and resulted in the modification of the whole-body fatty acid composition in fish fed a high cholesterol diet. In the present study, supplementation of cholesterol did not affect the expression of any genes in either tissue evaluated, liver and muscle, but there was an increasing trend in the gene expression of elongase and desaturase with cholesterol supplementation when linseed oil was provided above 50%. Had the study contained a higher level of cholesterol, this difference may have increased to a statistically significant level.

In conclusion, the results of the present study showed that: 1) A plant-based diet without added cholesterol resulted in a reduction in growth and induced a hypocholesterolemic effect in the plasma of juvenile rainbow trout; 2) fish fed 100% of linseed oil with cholesterol supplementation had significantly higher weight gain and feed intake compared with other plant-based diets; 3) cholesterol supplementation numerically increased EPA and DHA levels in fish fillet when linseed oil was provided above 50%; and 4) growth performance in trout fed an all-plant diet high in soy protein (35%) can be achieved by supplementing with cholesterol and using a plant oil high in  $\alpha$ -linolenic acid (ALA, 18:3n-3).

#### **Literature Cited**

- Bjerkeng, B., Storebakken, T. and Wathne, E., 1999. Cholesterol and short-chain fatty acids in diets for Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar* (L.): effects on growth, organ indices, macronutrient digestibility, and fatty acid composition. Aquaculture Nutrition 1999 v.5 no.3 pp. 181-191
- Calder, P.C., 2014. Very long chain omega-3 (n-3) fatty acids and human health. European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology, 116(10), pp.1280-1300.
- Clark, R.M., Ferris, A.M., Fey, M., Brown, P.B., Hundrieser, K.E. and Jensen, R.G., 1982. Changes in the lipids of human milk from 2 to 16 weeks postpartum. Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition, 1(3), pp.311-315.
- Deng, J., Mai, K., Ai, Q., Zhang, W., Wang, X., Tan, B., Xu, W., Liufu, Z. and Ma, H., 2010. Interactive effects of dietary cholesterol and protein sources on growth performance and cholesterol metabolism of Japanese flounder (*Paralichthys olivaceus*). Aquaculture Nutrition, 16(4), pp.419-429.
- Folch, J., Lees, M. and Sloane Stanley, G.H., 1957. A simple method for the isolation and purification of total lipids from animal tissues. J Biol Chem, 226(1), pp.497-509.
- Food and Agriculture Organization. 2014. The state of world fisheries and aquaculture 2014. United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization, Rome.
- Gregory, M.K., Collins, R.O., Tocher, D.R., James, M.J. and Turchini, G.M., 2016.
   Nutritional regulation of long-chain PUFA biosynthetic genes in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). British Journal of Nutrition, 115(10), pp.1721-1729.
- Hansen, A.C., Rosenlund, G., Karlsen, Ø., Koppe, W. and Hemre, G.I., 2007. Total replacement of fish meal with plant proteins in diets for Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua L.*) I—Effects on growth and protein retention. Aquaculture, 272(1-4), pp.599-611.
- Lim, S.J. and Lee, K.J., 2009. Partial replacement of fish meal by cottonseed meal and soybean meal with iron and phytase supplementation for parrot fish *Oplegnathus fasciatus*. Aquaculture, 290(3-4), pp.283-289.
- Muriana, F.J., Ruiz-Gutiérrez, V. and Vazquez, C.M., 1992. Influence of dietary cholesterol on polyunsaturated fatty acid composition, fluidity and membrane-bound enzymes in liver microsomes of rats fed olive and fish oil. Biochimie, 74(6), pp.551-556.
- Norambuena, F., Lewis, M., Hamid, N.K.A., Hermon, K., Donald, J.A. and Turchini, G.M., 2013. Fish oil replacement in current aquaculture feed: is cholesterol a hidden treasure for fish nutrition? PLoS One, 8(12), p.e81705.
- NRC (National Research Council), 2011. Nutrient Requirements of Fish and Shrimp. National Academy Press, Washington, DC, p. 376.
- Ostlund Jr, R.E., 2004. Phytosterols and cholesterol metabolism. Current opinion in lipidology, 15(1), pp.37-41.
- Pfaffl, M.W., 2001. A new mathematical model for relative quantification in real-time RT– PCR. Nucleic acids research, 29(9), pp. e45-e45.
- Piedecausa, M.A., Mazón, M.J., García, B.G. and Hernández, M.D., 2007. Effects of total replacement of fish oil by vegetable oils in the diets of sharpsnout seabream (*Diplodus puntazzo*). Aquaculture, 263(1-4), pp.211-219.
- Regost, C., Arzel, J. and Kaushik, S.J., 1999. Partial or total replacement of fish meal by corn gluten meal in diet for turbot (*Psetta maxima*). Aquaculture, 180(1-2), pp.99-117.
- Roy, J., Mercier, Y., Tonnet, L., Burel, C., Lanuque, A., Surget, A., Larroquet, L., Corraze,
  G., Terrier, F., Panserat, S. and Skiba, S., 2020. Rainbow trout prefer diets rich in omega-3 long chain polyunsaturated fatty acids DHA and EPA. Physiology & Behavior, 213, p.112692.

- Sealey, W.M., Craig, S.R. and Gatlin, D.M., 2001. Dietary cholesterol and lecithin have limited effects on growth and body composition of hybrid striped bass (*Morone chrysops*× *M. saxatilis*). Aquaculture Nutrition, 7(1), pp.25-31.
- Sprague, M., Dick, J.R. and Tocher, D.R., 2016. Impact of sustainable feeds on omega-3 long-chain fatty acid levels in farmed Atlantic salmon, 2006–2015. Scientific Reports, 6(1), pp.1-9.
- Teoh, C.Y. and Ng, W.K., 2016. The implications of substituting dietary fish oil with vegetable oils on the growth performance, fillet fatty acid profile and modulation of the fatty acid elongase, desaturase and oxidation activities of red hybrid tilapia, *Oreochromis* sp. Aquaculture, 465, pp.311-322.
- Turchini, G.M. and Francis, D.S., 2009. Fatty acid metabolism (desaturation, elongation and β-oxidation) in rainbow trout fed fish oil-or linseed oil-based diets. British Journal of Nutrition, 102(1), pp.69-81.
- Twibell, R.G. and Wilson, R.P., 2004. Preliminary evidence that cholesterol improves growth and feed intake of soybean meal-based diets in aquaria studies with juvenile channel catfish, *Ictalurus punctatus*. Aquaculture, 236(1-4), pp.539-546.
- Venou, B., Alexis, M.N., Fountoulaki, E. and Haralabous, J., 2006. Effects of extrusion and inclusion level of soybean meal on diet digestibility, performance and nutrient utilization of gilthead sea bream (*Sparus aurata*). Aquaculture, 261(1), pp.343-356.
- Verleyen, T., Forcades, M., Verhé, R., Dewettinck, K., Huyghebaert, A. and De Greyt, W., 2002. Analysis of free and esterified sterols in vegetable oils. Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society, 79(2), pp.117-122.
- Yamamoto, T., Suzuki, N., Furuita, H., Sugita, T., Tanaka, N. and Goto, T., 2007.
  Supplemental effect of bile salts to soybean meal-based diet on growth and feed utilization of rainbow trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss*. Fisheries Science, 73(1), pp.123-131.

Yang, R., Xue, L., Zhang, L., Wang, X., Qi, X., Jiang, J., Yu, L., Wang, X., Zhang, W., Zhang, Q. and Li, P., 2019. Phytosterol contents of edible oils and their contributions to estimated phytosterol intake in the Chinese diet. Foods, 8(8), p.334.

						Di	ets					
Ingredients (%)	FM/FO	PM/FO	SO100	SO100 +C	SO75 LO25	SO75 LO25 +C	SO50 LO50	SO50 LO50 +C	SO25 LO75	SO25 LO75 +C	L100	L100 +C
Fishmeal, sardine	30.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Poultry by-product meal	8.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Blood meal, spray dried	2.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Corn protein concentrate	14.00	20.00	20.00	20.00	20.00	20.00	20.00	20.00	20.00	20.00	20.00	20.00
Soybean meal	0.00	15.00	15.00	15.00	15.00	15.00	15.00	15.00	15.00	15.00	15.00	15.00
Soy protein concentrate	5.00	20.00	20.00	20.00	20.00	20.00	20.00	20.00	20.00	20.00	20.00	20.00
Wheat gluten meal	5.97	11.60	11.60	11.60	11.60	11.60	11.60	11.60	11.60	11.60	11.60	11.60
Wheat flour	17.90	6.60	6.60	6.46	6.60	6.46	6.60	6.46	6.60	6.46	6.60	6.46
L-Lysine HCL	0.00	0.99	0.99	0.99	0.99	0.99	0.99	0.99	0.99	0.99	0.99	0.99
DL-methionine	0.00	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25
L-Threonine	0.00	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.20
Vitamin premix 702 <sup>1</sup>	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00
Choline chloride	0.60	0.60	0.60	0.60	0.60	0.60	0.60	0.60	0.60	0.60	0.60	0.60
Stay-C (vitamin C, 35%)	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.20
Trace mineral premix <sup>2</sup>	0.10	0.10	0.10	0.10	0.10	0.10	0.10	0.10	0.10	0.10	0.10	0.10
Dicalcium phosphate	0.00	4.43	4.43	4.43	4.43	4.43	4.43	4.43	4.43	4.43	4.43	4.43
Fish oil	15.20	19.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Soybean oil	0.00	0.00	19.00	19.00	14.30	14.30	9.51	9.51	4.76	4.76	0.00	0.00
Linseed oil	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	4.76	4.76	9.51	9.51	14.30	14.30	19.00	19.00
Cholesterol	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.14	0.00	0.14	0.00	0.14	0.00	0.14	0.00	0.14
Composition (%, as fed basis)												
Dry matter (%)	92.2	92.5	92.7	92.9	92.1	92.5	92.7	91.8	92.9	91.7	94.3	92.1
Crude protein (%)	47.5	48.1	48.2	48.8	47.9	48.0	47.9	47.1	47.8	47.4	48.1	47.4
Crude fat (%)	21.5	21.3	21.2	21.2	21.4	21.5	21.3	21.3	21.3	21.3	21.3	21.6
Ash (%)	6.79	6.15	5.99	5.86	5.82	6.10	5.93	5.97	5.87	5.75	6.03	5.82
Gross energy (MJ/kg)	22.5	22.5	22.4	22.5	22.4	22.5	22.8	22.3	22.5	22.5	22.7	22.2

Table 2.1. Ingredient and nutrient composition of the experimental diets fed to rainbow trout juveniles (%, as-fed basis)

Table 2.1 Cont.												
Cholesterol (mg/kg)	2040	1430	55	1290	89	1230	93	1220	106	1270	92	1150

<sup>1</sup>Vitamin premix supply the following to the diet (mg/kg diet): D calcium pantothenate, 46.47; pyridoxine (pyridoxine HCl), 13.68; riboflavin, 9.58; niacinamide, 21.78; folic acid, 2.49; thiamine (thiamine mononitrate), 9.1; inositol, 599; biotin, 0.33; vitamin B<sub>12</sub>, 0.03; menadione sodium bisulfite complex, 1.1;

vitamin E (DL  $\alpha$ -tocopherol acetate), 131.9 IU; vitamin D<sub>3</sub> (stabilized), 6594 IU; vitamin A (vitamin A palmitate, stabilized), 9641 IU; ethoxyquin, 198.

<sup>2</sup> Trace mineral premix supply the following to the diet (mg/kg diet): Zn (as ZnSO<sub>4</sub> 7H<sub>2</sub>O), 50; Mn (as MnSO<sub>4</sub>), 7.5; Cu (as CuSO<sub>4</sub> 5H<sub>2</sub>O), 2.5; I (as KIO<sub>3</sub>), 1; selenium, 0.05. \*FM, Fish meal; FO, Fish oil; PM, Plant meal; SO, Soybean oil; LO, Linseed oil; C, Cholesterol.

#### Table 2.2. Fatty acid composition (% of total fatty acids) of the experimental diets

	Diets													
Fatty acids (%)	FM/FO	PM/FO	SO100	SO100 +C	SO75 LO25	SO75 LO25 +C	SO50 LO50	SO50 LO50 +C	SO25 LO75	SO25 LO75 +C	L100	L100 +C		
C14:0	4.30	4.23	0.22	0.08	0.09	0.08	0.07	0.07	0.06	0.06	0.04	0.06		
C16:0	14.2	12.7	10.2	9.94	9.00	9.01	7.79	7.86	6.70	6.57	5.43	5.59		
C18:0	3.08	2.62	3.53	3.52	3.50	3.52	3.45	3.49	3.47	3.38	3.17	3.48		
C16:1n-7	4.68	4.30	0.28	n.d.	0.09	n.d.	0.09	0.10	n.d.	n.d.	0.08	0.08		
C18:1n-7	3.16	3.27	1.20	1.11	1.01	1.01	0.89	0.89	0.79	0.76	0.63	0.68		
C18:1n-9	16.1	14.3	18.2	18.1	18.2	18.3	18.2	18.4	18.5	18.2	17.8	18.8		
C18:2n-6	6.86	6.51	48.8	49.5	41.4	41.9	33.0	33.3	24.7	24.7	19.6	16.4		
C18:3n-6	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.		
C18:3n-3	1.02	1.12	6.87	7.01	15.2	15.8	25.2	25.2	35.2	35.6	43.3	45.1		
C20:5n-3	6.59	6.79	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.		
C22:6n-3	4.98	5.32	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.		
Total SFA <sup>1</sup>	22.7	20.6	15.9	15.5	14.5	14.6	13.4	13.3	12.2	11.8	10.3	11.1		
Total MUFA <sup>2</sup>	24.0	22.0	19.7	19.2	20.5	20.4	19.2	19.4	19.3	18.9	18.5	19.5		
Total n-3 PUFA <sup>3</sup>	12.6	13.2	6.9	7.0	15.2	15.8	25.2	25.2	35.2	35.6	43.3	45.1		
Total n-6 PUFA <sup>4</sup>	6.86	6.51	48.8	49.5	41.4	41.9	33.0	33.3	24.7	24.7	19.6	16.4		
Total n-3/n-6 PUFA <sup>5</sup>	1.84	2.03	0.14	0.14	0.37	0.38	0.76	0.76	1.43	1.44	2.22	2.75		

<sup>1</sup>Sum of saturated fatty acids, includes C10:0, C11:0, C12:0 and C13:0.

<sup>2</sup> Sum of monounsaturated fatty acids, includes C14:1 and C20:1n-9.

<sup>3</sup> Sum of omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids

<sup>4</sup> Sum of omega-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids

<sup>5</sup> Ratio of total omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids to total omega-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids.

Table 2.3.	Sterol	concentration	of the	experimental of	liets

	Diets												
Phytosterols (mg/kg)	FM/FO	PM/FO	SO100	SO100 +C	SO75 LO25	SO75 LO25 +C	SO50 LO50	SO50 LO50 +C	SO25 LO75	SO25 LO75 +C	L100	L100 +C	
Brassicasterol	20	20	0	0	0	10	0	10	10	10	10	10	
Campesterol	190	200	320	370	350	370	370	400	380	410	420	420	
Campestanol	70	80	80	80	80	80	80	80	80	80	90	90	
Stigmasterol	40	60	150	160	150	140	140	130	130	120	120	110	
Unidentified sterols	30	30	40	50	40	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	
Sitosterol	500	660	960	1000	1030	980	1070	1030	1080	1070	1130	1080	
Sitostanol+ delta-5- avenasterol	210	270	290	290	320	190	350	320	370	350	430	380	
Delta-5,24- stigmastadienol	10	10	20	20	20	20	30	20	30	30	20	20	
Delta-7-stigmastenol	10	20	40	50	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	30	
delta-7-Avenasterol	10	30	40	50	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	
Total plant sterols + plant stanols	1090	1380	1940	2070	2070	1920	2170	2120	2210	2200	2350	2230	
Cholesterol	2040	1430	55	1290	89	1230	93	1220	106	1270	92	1150	

	Diets											
	FM/FO	PM/FO	SO100	SO100 +C	SO75 LO25	SO75 LO25 +C	SO50 LO50	SO50 LO50 +C	SO25 LO75	SO25 LO75 +C	L100	L100 +C
Initial weight (g)	18.6±0.10	18.8±0.30	18.9±0.29	18.8±0.30	18.8±0.23	18.8±0.23	18.8±0.20	18.9±0.25	18.9±0.20	18.8±0.18	18.8±0.22	18.7±0.13
Final weight (g)	220±0.30ab	222±1.30 <sup>a</sup>	211±2.44°	212±0.69°	209±1.26 <sup>c</sup>	211±1.73°	211±2.70°	210±2.84 <sup>c</sup>	210±1.40°	210±2.59°	$213{\pm}2.00^{bc}$	$220{\pm}2.45^{ab}$
Weight gain (g/fish)	201±0.26ª	203±1.26 <sup>a</sup>	$192{\pm}2.15^{b}$	$194{\pm}0.81^{b}$	190±1.21 <sup>b</sup>	$193{\pm}1.50^{b}$	$192{\pm}2.57^{b}$	$191{\pm}2.60^{b}$	$191{\pm}1.30^{b}$	$191{\pm}2.48^{b}$	195±1.86 <sup>b</sup>	201±2.42 <sup>a</sup>
SGR (%/day)	2.97±0.01ª	$2.97{\pm}0.02^a$	2.91±0.01 <sup>c</sup>	$2.92{\pm}0.02^{c}$	2.90±0.01°	2.91±0.01°	2.91±0.01°	$2.90{\pm}0.00^{c}$	2.90±0.01°	2.91±0.01°	2.93±0.01 <sup>bc</sup>	$2.97{\pm}0.01^{ab}$
Feed intake (g/fish)	190±2.83ª	$181{\pm}1.65^{ab}$	$174 \pm 3.55^{b}$	$174 \pm 3.48^{b}$	$171{\pm}1.92^{b}$	172±4.66 <sup>b</sup>	$177{\pm}0.68^{b}$	175±8.22 <sup>b</sup>	$172 \pm 3.10^{b}$	173±2.73 <sup>b</sup>	$177 \pm 5.05^{b}$	192±4.13 <sup>a</sup>
FCR	$0.94{\pm}0.01$	$0.89{\pm}0.01$	$0.90 \pm 0.01$	$0.90{\pm}0.01$	$0.90\pm0.00$	$0.89{\pm}0.02$	$0.92 \pm 0.01$	0.91±0.04	$0.90\pm0.02$	$0.91 \pm 0.02$	$0.91 \pm 0.01$	$0.96 \pm 0.02$
Survival (%)	98.7±1.89	96.0±0.00	97.3±1.89	94.7±4.99	$100 \pm 0.00$	98.7±1.89	97.3±3.77	97.3±1.89	100±0.00	93.3±4.99	97.3±1.89	97.3±1.89

Table 2.4. Growth performance and feed utilization of rainbow trout juveniles fed all 12 experimental diets for 12 weeks<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Mean±SE (n=3) in the same row that share the same superscript are not statistically different (*P*> 0.05; Completely Randomized Design, One-way ANOVA; Tukey's HSD test).

Table 2.5. Whole-body proximate composition (%, wet basis) of rainbow trout juveniles fed experimental diets for 12 we	eks <sup>1</sup>
--	------------------

		Diets										
	FM/FO	PM/FO	SO100	SO100 +C	SO75 LO25	SO75 LO25 +C	SO50 LO50	SO50 LO50 +C	SO25 LO75	SO25 LO75 +C	L100	L100 +C
Proximate composition												
Dry matter (%)	32.1±0.96	33.0±0.75	32.1±0.51	32.8±0.29	32.1±0.22	32.3±0.14	32.1±0.73	31.8±0.99	32.2±0.85	$32.8 \pm 0.84$	$32.7 \pm 0.45$	33.3±0.31
Crude protein (%)	15.3±0.30	15.9±0.28	15.8±0.15	15.9±0.64	15.8±0.34	15.9±0.17	15.6±0.21	15.5±0.45	16.0±0.25	15.6±0.51	16.0±0.59	15.7±0.33
Crude fat (%)	$14.1 \pm 0.89$	$14.4 \pm 0.70$	13.9±0.64	14.3±0.51	13.8±0.21	14.0±0.39	13.9±0.47	13.7±1.37	13.9±0.81	14.6±0.85	14.6±0.78	15.2±0.10
Ash (%)	$1.97\pm0.19$	2.20±0.08	$2.06\pm0.04$	$1.90\pm0.07$	$1.91\pm0.09$	$1.95 \pm 0.05$	$1.94{\pm}0.08$	2.00±0.11	$1.93 \pm 0.08$	$1.94\pm0.09$	$1.91\pm0.06$	$1.97 \pm 0.08$
Gross energy (MJ/kg)	28.7±0.22	28.4±0.19	27.2±2.08	28.4±0.40	28.5±0.20	28.5±0.20	28.4±0.21	28.5±0.61	28.2±0.20	27.9±1.16	28.7±0.26	28.9±0.14

<sup>1</sup>Mean $\pm$ SE (n=3); three fish from each tank were used for whole-body analysis. Proximate composition was not significantly different (*P*> 0.05; Completely Randomized Design, One-way ANOVA; Tukey's HSD test).

Diets	Initial weight (g/fish)	FBW (g/fish)	WG (g/fish)	SGR (%/day)	Survival (%)	FI (g,DM/fish)	FCR
Means of main effects							
Cholesterol (mg/kg)							
0	18.8	211 <sup>b</sup>	192 <sup>b</sup>	2.91 <sup>b</sup>	98.4	201	0.91
1430	18.8	213 <sup>a</sup>	194 <sup>a</sup>	2.92 <sup>a</sup>	96.3	202	0.91
Soy oil / Linseed oil (%)							
100 / 0	18.8	211 <sup>b</sup>	193 <sup>b</sup>	2.91 <sup>b</sup>	96.0	199 <sup>b</sup>	0.90
75 /15	18.8	210 <sup>b</sup>	191 <sup>b</sup>	2.91 <sup>b</sup>	99.3	196 <sup>b</sup>	0.90
50 /50	18.8	210 <sup>b</sup>	192 <sup>b</sup>	2.91 <sup>b</sup>	97.3	200 <sup>b</sup>	0.92
25 / 75	18.6	210 <sup>b</sup>	191 <sup>b</sup>	2.91 <sup>b</sup>	96.7	197 <sup>b</sup>	0.90
0 / 100	18.8	217 <sup>a</sup>	198ª	2.95ª	97.3	213ª	0.93
Multi factors ANOVA (P Value)							
Cholesterol	0.794	0.046	0.033	0.024	0.111	0.573	0.367
Soy oil / Linseed oil	0.976	<.001	<.001	<.001	0.563	<.001	0.064
Cholesterol x Soy oil / Linseed oil	0.976	0.178	0.121	0.090	0.464	0.042	0.227

Table 2.6. Two-way ANOVA of growth performance and feed utilization of rainbow trout juveniles fed 10 experimental diets (w/o FM/FO, PM/FO) for 12 weeks<sup>1</sup>.

<sup>1</sup> Main effect means followed by a different letter are significantly different at P < 0.05, emphasized by bold *P* values in the ANOVA table.

	Diets											
	FM/FO	PM/FO	SO100	SO100 +C	SO75 LO25	SO75 LO25 +C	SO50 LO50	SO50 LO50 +C	SO25 LO75	SO25 LO75 +C	L100	L100 +C
Total Choelsterol												
Plasma (mmol / L)	$8.28 \pm 0.27^{ab}$	$7.72 \pm 0.29^{abc}$	5.79 ± 0.58 <sup>bc</sup>	$7.67 \pm 0.47^{ m abc}$	5.47 ± 0.11°	$7.45 \pm 0.37^{abc}$	6.06 ± 0.11 <sup>abc</sup>	8.73 ± 1.18 <sup>a</sup>	6.24 ± 0.24 <sup>abc</sup>	7.59 ± 0.61 <sup>abc</sup>	6.11 ± 0.52 <sup>abc</sup>	8.73 ± 2.04 <sup>a</sup>

Table 2.7. Plasma cholesterol content of rainbow trout juveniles fed experimental diets for 12 weeks<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Mean $\pm$ SE (n=9 fish per treatment) in the same row that share the same superscript are not statistically different (*P*> 0.05; Completely Randomized Design, One-factor ANOVA; Tukey's HSD test).

<sup>2</sup>Three fish from each tank were used for chemical analysis.

						Di	ets					
Fatty acids (%)	FM/FO	PM/FO	SO100	SO100 +C	SO75 LO25	SO75 LO25 +C	SO50 LO50	SO50 LO50 +C	SO25 LO75	SO25 LO75 +C	L100	L100 +C
C14:0	$3.27\pm0.12$	$2.94\pm0.31$	$0.61\pm0.13$	$0.48\pm0.03$	$0.55\pm0.07$	$0.43\pm0.04$	$0.48\pm0.10$	$0.42\pm0.05$	$0.43\pm0.05$	$0.34\pm0.06$	$0.55\pm0.21$	$0.54\pm0.06$
C16:0	$15.8\pm0.31$	$15.5\pm0.67$	$14.2\pm0.74$	$13.6\pm0.26$	$13.1\pm0.34$	$12.3\pm0.02$	$11.9 \pm 1.04$	$12.1\pm0.52$	$10.7\pm0.20$	$10.7\pm0.24$	$10.6\pm0.65$	$11.0\pm0.28$
C18:0	$3.93\pm0.03$	$3.23\pm0.11$	$4.78\pm0.13$	$4.91\pm0.01$	$4.29\pm0.17$	$4.81\pm0.24$	$4.44\pm0.15$	$4.46\pm0.18$	$4.46\pm0.09$	$4.03\pm0.06$	$3.27\pm0.12$	$4.06\pm0.10$
C16:1n-7	$4.37\pm0.07$	$3.61\pm0.22$	$0.94\pm0.22$	$0.74\pm0.08$	$0.94\pm0.01$	$0.97\pm0.17$	$0.67\pm0.11$	$0.91\pm0.17$	$0.79\pm0.07$	$0.70\pm0.28$	$0.92\pm0.12$	$0.79\pm0.12$
C18:1n-7	$2.84\pm0.06$	$2.75\pm0.20$	$1.20\pm0.00$	$0.99\pm0.06$	$1.02\pm0.02$	$1.00\pm0.03$	$0.85\pm0.04$	$0.86\pm0.05$	$0.83\pm0.02$	$0.76\pm0.03$	$0.76\pm0.03$	$0.72\pm0.02$
C18:1n-9	$14.6\pm0.42$	$13.6\pm0.67$	$15.2\pm1.30$	$16.2\pm0.79$	$16.5\pm0.17$	$17.3\pm0.48$	$14.6\pm1.44$	$15.5\pm1.18$	$16.1\pm0.39$	$14.4\pm2.29$	$16.2\pm0.22$	$14.5\pm1.00$
C18:2n-6	$4.66\pm0.10^{g}$	$4.65\pm0.09^{\text{g}}$	$29.3\pm1.24^{ab}$	$33.0\pm2.18^a$	$27.4\pm0.06^{b}$	$29.6\pm0.59^{ab}$	$21.2\pm2.74^{\rm c}$	$21.6 \pm 1.59^{\rm c}$	$17.5\pm0.46^{cd}$	$16.4\pm1.81^{\text{de}}$	$12.0\pm0.35^{\text{ef}}$	$10.8\pm0.83^{\rm f}$
C18:3n-6	n.d.	n.d.	$1.02\pm0.09$	$1.01\pm0.13$	$0.78\pm0.03$	$0.70\pm0.08$	$0.50\pm0.02$	$0.49\pm0.00$	$0.39\pm0.01$	$0.33\pm0.02$	$0.25\pm0.03$	$0.24\pm0.03$
C18:3n-3	$0.64\pm0.04^{\rm f}$	$0.74\pm0.02^{\rm f}$	$3.25\pm0.17^{\text{e}}$	$3.66\pm0.16^{e}$	$8.33\pm0.18^{\text{d}}$	$8.78\pm0.50^{\rm d}$	$13.1\pm1.62^{\rm c}$	$13.1\pm1.13^{\rm c}$	$19.4\pm0.78^{b}$	$18.3\pm1.52^{b}$	$24.9\pm0.52^{a}$	$22.5\pm1.06^{a}$
C20:5n-3	$5.34\pm0.21^a$	$5.11\pm0.24^a$	$0.80\pm0.10^{\rm c}$	$0.80\pm0.13^{\text{e}}$	$1.21\pm0.06^{de}$	$1.17\pm0.07^{\text{de}}$	$1.70\pm0.18^{cd}$	$1.74\pm0.16^{cd}$	$1.90\pm0.19^{\rm c}$	$2.14\pm0.19^{\text{c}}$	$2.23\pm0.12^{bc}$	$2.79\pm0.19^{b}$
C22:6n-3	$12.8\pm1.13^a$	$13.3\pm1.54^{a}$	$4.35\pm0.34^{bcd}$	$3.68 \pm 0.36^d$	$5.18\pm0.31^{bcd}$	$4.05\pm0.10^{cd}$	$5.50\pm0.59^{bcd}$	$5.41\pm0.62^{bcd}$	$5.69\pm0.39^{bcd}$	$6.27\pm0.75^{bc}$	$5.40\pm0.69^{bcd}$	$6.72\pm0.51^{b}$
Total SFA <sup>2</sup>	$26.0\pm0.24^{a}$	$25.2\pm1.04^{ab}$	$23.3\pm0.59^{abc}$	$22.3\pm0.32^{bcd}$	$21.1\pm0.43^{cde}$	$20.4 \ \pm 0.28^{cdef}$	$20.5\pm1.50^{cdef}$	$20.2\pm1.05^{\text{def}}$	$18.7\pm0.23^{\text{ef}}$	$19.0\pm1.55^{ef}$	$18.1\pm0.31^{\rm f}$	$19.8\pm0.43^{\text{ef}}$
Total MUFA <sup>3</sup>	$21.9\pm0.55^a$	$20.1\pm1.07^{ab}$	$18.2\pm0.66^{b}$	$18.0\pm0.69^{ab}$	$18.2\pm0.53^{ab}$	$19.3\pm0.68^{ab}$	$16.2\pm1.46^{b}$	$17.3 \pm 1.24^{b}$	$17.7\pm0.47^{ab}$	$15.9\pm2.58^{\rm b}$	$17.9\pm0.34^{ab}$	$16.1\pm1.10^{b}$
Total n-3 PUFA <sup>4</sup>	$18.7\pm1.32^{\rm c}$	$19.2\pm1.77^{\rm c}$	$8.40\pm0.46^{\text{e}}$	$8.13\pm0.34^{\text{e}}$	$14.7\pm0.30^{\text{d}}$	$14.0\pm0.55^{\rm d}$	$20.3 \pm 1.10^{\text{c}}$	$20.3\pm0.97^{\rm c}$	$27.0\pm0.80^{b}$	$26.7\pm0.88^{\rm b}$	$32.6\pm0.64^{\rm a}$	$32.0\pm0.37^{b}$
Total n-6 PUFA <sup>5</sup>	$5.09\pm0.20^{g}$	$5.91\pm0.10^{g}$	$36.1\pm1.02^{ab}$	$39.6\pm2.36^a$	$32.3\pm0.32^{\text{b}}$	$34.1\pm0.67^{b}$	$24.8\pm2.42^{cd}$	$25.3\pm1.57^{c}$	$20.2\pm0.46^{de}$	$17.8\pm2.59^{\text{de}}$	$12.7\pm0.58^{\rm f}$	$11.6\pm1.29^{\rm f}$
Total n-3/n-6 PUFA <sup>6</sup>	$3.68\pm0.18^{\rm a}$	$3.24\pm0.24^{ab}$	$0.23\pm0.01^{\rm f}$	$0.21\pm0.02^{\rm f}$	$0.46\pm0.01^{\text{ef}}$	$0.41\pm0.01^{\text{ef}}$	$0.82\pm0.04^{\text{e}}$	$0.80\pm0.05^{\text{e}}$	$1.34\pm0.03^{d}$	$1.53\pm0.20^{\text{d}}$	$2.58\pm0.08^{\text{c}}$	$2.79\pm0.30^{bc}$

Table 2.8. Fillet fatty acid composition (% of total fatty acids) of rainbow trout juveniles fed experimental diets for 12 weeks<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Mean $\pm$ SE (n=9 fish per treatment) in the same row that share the same superscript are not statistically different (*P*> 0.05; Completely Randomized Design, One-factor ANOVA; Tukey's HSD test).

<sup>2</sup> Sum of saturated fatty acids, includes C10:0, C11:0, C12:0 and C13:0.

<sup>3</sup> Sum of monounsaturated fatty acids, includes C14:1 and C20:1n-9.

<sup>4</sup> Sum of omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids

<sup>5</sup> Sum of omega-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids

<sup>6</sup> Ratio of total omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids to total omega-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids.

Diets	C18:2n-6	C18:3n-3	C20:5n-3	C22:6n-3	Total n-3 PUFA	Total n-6 PUFA
Means of main effects						
Cholesterol (mg/kg)						
0	21.5	13.8	1.57 <sup>b</sup>	5.22	20.6	25.2
1430	22.3	13.3	1.73 <sup>a</sup>	5.22	20.2	25.7
Soy oil / Linseed oil (%)						
100 / 0	31.1 <sup>a</sup>	3.45 <sup>e</sup>	$0.80^{d}$	4.01 <sup>c</sup>	8.28 <sup>e</sup>	38.0 <sup>e</sup>
75 /15	28.5ª	8.55 <sup>d</sup>	1.19 <sup>c</sup>	4.61 <sup>bc</sup>	14.4 <sup>d</sup>	33.2 <sup>d</sup>
50 /50	21.4 <sup>b</sup>	13.1°	1.72 <sup>b</sup>	5.46 <sup>ab</sup>	20.3°	25.0°
25 / 75	17.0 <sup>c</sup>	18.9 <sup>b</sup>	2.02 <sup>b</sup>	5.98ª	26.9 <sup>b</sup>	19.0 <sup>b</sup>
0 / 100	11.4 <sup>d</sup>	23.7ª	2.51ª	6.06 <sup>a</sup>	32.3ª	12.1ª
Multi factors ANOVA (P Value)						
Cholesterol	0.245	0.205	0.025	1.000	0.229	0.430
Soy oil / Linseed oil	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001
Cholesterol x Soy oil / Linseed oil	0.109	0.174	0.051	0.019	0.972	0.070

Table 2.9. Two-way ANOVA of fillet fatty acid composition of rainbow trout juveniles fed 10 experimental diets (w/o FM/FO, PM/FO) for 12 weeks<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Main effect means followed by a different letter are significantly different at  $P \le 0.05$ , emphasized by bold *P* values in the ANOVA table.



Figure 2.1. Weight gain (g/fish) of rainbow trout juveniles fed experimental diets for 12 weeks. Bars represent mean  $\pm$  SE of triplicate samples.



Figure 2.2. Feed intake (g, DM/ fish) of rainbow trout juveniles fed experimental diets for 12 weeks. Bars represent mean  $\pm$  SE of triplicate samples. Two-way ANOVA indicated a significant Cholesterol x Soy oil / Linseed oil ratio interation (P < 0.05).



Figure 2.3. EPA and DHA contents in fillet of rainbow trout juveniles fed experimental diets for 12 weeks. Bars represent mean  $\pm$  SE of triplicate samples. The interaction of the two main factors (Cholesterol x Soy/Linseed oil ratio) significantly affected EPA (P = 0.051) and DHA content in fish fillet (P < .05).





Figure 2.4. Relative mRNA expression of genes (normalized against *elf1a*) involved in elongase (*elovl2* and *elovl5*), desaturase (*d5fad* and *d6fad*),  $\beta$ -oxidation (*ehhadh*) and fatty acid transport (*fabp2*) of liver of rainbow trout juveniles fed experimental diets for 12 weeks. Mean ± SE (n=9 fish per treatment) in the same row that share the same superscript are not statistically different (*P*> 0.05; Completely Randomized Design, One-factor ANOVA; Tukey's HSD test). elov12: Elongation of very long chain fatty acids-like 2, elov15: Elongation of very long chain fatty acids-like 5, d5fad: Delta-5 fatty acid desaturase, d6fad: Delta-6 fatty acid desaturase, ehhadh: Enoyl-coa hydratase and 3-hydroxyacyl coa dehydrogenase), fabp2: Fatty acid binding protein-2





Figure 2.5. Relative mRNA expression of genes (normalized against *elf1a*) involved in elongase (*elovl2* and *elovl5*), desaturase (*d5fad* and *d6fad*),  $\beta$ -oxidation (*ehhadh*) and fatty acid transport (*fabp2*) of muscle of rainbow trout juveniles fed experimental diets for 12 weeks. Mean  $\pm$  SE (n=9 fish per treatment) in the same row that share the same superscript are not statistically different (*P*> 0.05; Completely Randomized Design, One-factor ANOVA; Tukey's HSD test). elovl2: Elongation of very long chain fatty acids-like 2, elovl5: Elongation of very long chain fatty acids-like 5, d5fad: Delta-5 fatty acid desaturase, d6fad: Delta-6 fatty acid desaturase, ehhadh: Enoyl-coa hydratase and 3-hydroxyacyl coa dehydrogenase), fabp2: Fatty acid binding protein-2

# Chapter 3:

# Latitude<sup>TM</sup> Oil as a Sustainable Alternative to Dietary Fish Oil in Rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*): Effects on Filet Fatty Acid Profiles, Intestinal Histology, and Plasma Biochemistry

Jeongwhui Hong<sup>1</sup>, Jacob W. Bledsoe<sup>1</sup>, Kenneth E. Overturf<sup>2</sup>, Seunghan Lee<sup>1,3</sup>, Diliara Iassonova<sup>4</sup> and Brian C. Small<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Aqauculture Research Institute, Hagerman Fish Culture Experiment Station, University of Idaho, Hagerman, ID, 83332, United States, <sup>2</sup>United States Department of Agriculture, Hagerman Fish Culture Experiment Station, Hagerman, ID, 83332, United States, <sup>3</sup>Aqaufeed Research Center, National Institute of Fisheries Science, Pohang, South Korea, <sup>4</sup>Cargill Incorporated, Minneapolis, MN, United States

\*Corresponding Author: Brian C. Small

Aquaculture Research Institute, Hagerman Fish Culture Experiment Station, University of Idaho, Hagerman, ID, 83332, United States

Email: bcsmall@uidaho.edu

The following chapter has been published in the journal Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems

Hong, J., Bledsoe, J.W., Overturf, K.E., Lee, S., Iassonova, D. and Small, B.C., 2022. LatitudeTM Oil as a Sustainable Alternative to Dietary Fish Oil in Rainbow Trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss): Effects on Filet Fatty Acid Profiles, Intestinal Histology, and Plasma Biochemistry. *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems*, p.62.

#### Abstract

The aim of this study was to evaluate the effects of LatitudeTM oil (transgenic canola) fed to rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss, for 52 weeks on growth performance, non-specific immune responses, histology, and filet omega-3 fatty acid content. LatitudeTM oil (LO) has high lipid digestibility (93%), and contains omega-3 fatty acids eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA, C20:5n-3), docosapentaenoic acid (DPA, C22:5n-3), and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA, C22:6n-3). Three isonitrogenous (49%), isolipidic (20%) and isocaloric (24.2 MJ kg-1) diets differing by lipid source (0, 8, or 16% LO, replacing fish oil and poultry fat) were fed over an entire production cycle beginning with 19 g juvenile fish. At the end of the 52-week feeding trial, final body weight, weight gain and specific growth rate of fish fed 8%LO (LO-8) and 16%LO (LO-16) diets were significantly higher than those fed the 0% LO (LO-0) diet (P < 0.05). Phagocytic respiratory burst in fish fed the LO-16 diet was significantly higher than those fish fed the other 2 diets (P < 0.05). There were no differences in superoxide dismutase, catalase and lysozyme. Histological examination of the distal intestine indicated reduced inflammation in fish fed the LO-8 diet but not the LO-0 and LO-16 diets. Filet DHA content of fish fed the LO-8 and LO-16 diets were similar to those of fish fed the LO-0 diet. As these diets had lower DHA content, this suggests dietary EPA and DPA from LO was converted to DHA and deposited in the filet. This is supported by increased expression of genes involved in fatty acid elongation, desaturation and beta oxidation in both liver and muscle of fish fed LO (P < 0.05). Total EPA+DHA content of the edible filet ranged between 1,079–1,241mg 100 g-1 across treatments, each providing the recommended daily intake for human consumption (500–1,000mg day–1). Overall, this study demonstrated that LO fed over an entire production period is a highly digestible lipid source suitable and sustainable for meeting the fatty acid requirements of rainbow trout, as well as consumer expectations for filet omega-3 fatty acid content.

## Introduction

Over the past decade, dramatic increases in fishmeal (FM) and fish oil (FO) prices have driven feed manufacturers across the aquaculture industry to lower the use of FM and FO in aquafeed for virtually all farmed fish species. For salmonid diets, this has meant a reduction of marine ingredients in the diet by as much as 60% (Ytrestøyl et al., 2015). The transition away from marine ingredients toward plant-based ingredients has afforded the industry the ability to increase production while reducing feed costs and the impact of aquaculture on wild fisheries. However, it is not without costs, in that it has resulted in a substantial reduction in the levels of omega-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids (n-3 LC-PUFA), specifically eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA, C20:5n-3) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA, C22:6n-3) in fish tissues. Therefore, it is significantly vital to produce more sustainable oil sources that can be used to meet the increasing demand for oil ingredients high in n-3 LC-PUFA.

Marine microalgae that are able to synthesize EPA and DHA directly are the world's primary producers of these fatty acids, which are then accumulated through the aquatic food webs. For this reason, fish is considered the primary dietary source of n-3 LC-PUFA, EPA and DHA for humans (Betancor et al., 2017; Osmond and Colombo, 2019). Many health agencies worldwide recommend 500–1000mg day<sup>-1</sup> of total EPA + DHA for reducing cardiovascular disease (Aranceta and Pérez-Rodrigo, 2012).

There is considerable interest in novel sources of n-3 LCPUFA to supplement the limited supplies of fish oil. These sources include othermarine organisms such as krill or copepods, fermentation of algae, and the genetic engineering of microbes such as yeasts (Napier et al., 2019; Betancor et al., 2021). However, these technologies pose economic challenges formass production (Betancor et al., 2017; Tocher et al., 2019; Fabris et al., 2020). Recently, genetically modified canola oil has emerged as an alternative and sustainable oil source for aquafeed. Transgenic canola oil contains arachidonic acid (ARA, C20:4n-6) (~2.3%), EPA (~9.1%), docosapentaenoic acid (DPA, C22:5n-3) (~2.3%) and DHA (~0.9%), which is uncommon in other terrestrial oils. This oil has recently been used as a component of a terrestrial oil blend (40% transgenic canola oil) in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) and has shown no adverse effects on growth performance (Hossain et al., 2021).

DPA is an indispensable n-3 LC-PUFA found in large amounts in FO, and even larger amounts in salmon filets (0.4 g 100  $g^{-1}$  filet) (Calder, 2018; Lozano-Muñoz et al., 2020). DPA has attracted recent attention due to its importance in human health. DPA has been found to be a crucial component of phospholipids found in animal cell membranes and shown to lower plasma cholesterol levels (Kaur et al., 2016; Drouin et al., 2019). In addition, it has been reported that DPA reduces the expression of inflammatory genes (Backes et al., 2016). DPA is an intermediate between EPA and DHA in the n-3 LC-PUFA pathway, which may act as a reservoir for EPA and DHA (Dyall, 2015) and is of current interest for its putative capacity to either be converted to DHA or retro-converted to EPA (Drouin et al., 2019). In vertebrates, the synthesis of DHA from ALA requires three desaturation and three elongation steps (Sprecher, 2000). First, synthesis of EPA from a-linolenic acid (ALA, C18:3n-3) is achieved by  $\Delta 6fad$  to produce C18:4n-3 that is elongated to C20:4n-3 followed by *A5fad*. Then, *elovl2* and *elovl5* are required for elongation of EPA to DPA. Next, DPA is elongated to C24:5n-3 by *elovl2* and *elovl5*, then desaturated to 24:6n-3 by  $\Delta 6fad$ , and finally converted to DHA by a peroxisomal chain shortening step (Li et al., 2010; Gregory and James, 2014).

Rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) is a commercially important salmonid species and an experimental model species since this species requires LC-PUFAs due to limited ability to convert ALA to EPA or DHA. The total n-3 LC-PUFA dietary requirements of rainbow trout and Atlantic salmon, including ALA, EPA, and DHA has been reported to range from 0.4 – 2.0% of the diet (NRC, 2011). These estimates were determined based on the amount required to prevent classical deficiency and nutritional pathology, and many of these studies were performed on small fish fed diets low in lipid for relatively short periods of time (Tocher, 2015). However, it has been proposed that modern high-energy (lipid) diets and higher fish growth rates necessitate a reassessment of these requirements (NRC, 2011), suggesting that higher requirements for essential fatty acids (EFA) may now exist to support faster growth and optimumhealth over the entire production cycle of the fish (Tocher, 2015; Bou et al., 2017). Furthermore, some suggest the requirement should not be set only for optimal fish growth and health, but also to meet the daily recommended n-3 LC-PUFA intake for human consumers (Simopoulos, 2000; Tocher, 2009).

The aim of this study was to evaluate a new transgenic canola oil containing EPA, DPA and DHA as a substitute for FO in rainbow trout feeds reflecting current commercial feed formulation in terms of growth performance, health and n-3 LC-PUFA composition over a complete production cycle, from fingerling to market weight. We hypothesized that Latitude oil (LO) containing high EPA and DPA would effectively replace fish oil in trout feeds without detrimental impact on fish performance. Furthermore, we hypothesized that filet EPA+DHA level of fish fed LO-8 or LO-16 would be similar to filet EPA + DHA content of fish fed LO-0 diet meeting or exceeding the recommended daily intake of EPA + DHA for consumers. To our knowledge, there are no reported studies on transgenic canola oil throughout the entire production cycle in rainbow trout. The ultimate objective was to formulate feeds that not only support early growth, but improve long-term health and survival of the fish, and result in a product that meets the nutritional needs of consumers while being sourced from more environmentally and economically sustainable sources.

# **Materials and Methods**

# Experimental Design and Diets

Three experimental diets were prepared and extruded (Bozeman Fish Technology Center, Bozeman, MT) in various sizes from 2.5 to 4.5mm, and were formulated to be isonitrogenous (49% crude protein), isolipidic (20% crude lipid) and isocaloric (24.2 MJ kg<sup>-1</sup>): a control diet (FO 6.43%, Poultry fat 9.57%) and two experimental diets that replace FO by 50 or 100% with LO. All three diets were formulated to reflect commercial feed formulations for rainbow trout and thus included 20% FM. Poultry fat and LO were gifted by Tyson and Cargill, respectively. The three experimental diets were formulated to maintain 3% EPA + DHA content (% of the diet). To accomplish this, the following proportion of the oils were used, LO-0 (6.43% FO + 9.57% Poultry fat), LO-8 (3.21% FO + 4.79% Poultry fat + 8% LO) and LO-16 (16% LO). The proximate and fatty acid composition of experimental diets are shown in Tables 3.1, and 3.2. Although formulated to maintain 3% EPA+DHA content, diets ranged from 2.78–3.32% of diet.

*In vivo* digestibility was determined for LO fed to rainbow trout. A reference diet containing practical ingredients and 0.1% yttrium oxide was prepared. A batch of test diet containing 20% test ingredient and 80% reference diet mash (combined on a dry matter

basis) was prepared and analyzed. All ingredients for the digestibility trial were mixed and cold pelleted at the University of Idaho's Hagerman Fish Culture Experiment Stations (HFCES) using a laboratory-scale California pellet mill fitted with a 4-mm die. After 36h drying in a hot-air dryer at 37°C, the feeds were stored at ambient temperature (20–22°C) until fed.

#### Experimental Fish and Feed Trial

Rainbow trout fingerlings were hatched from eggs obtained from a global aquaculture supplier. Rainbow trout juveniles (initial body weight:  $18.5 \pm 0.3$  g) were randomly stocked into each of nine, 145-L tanks at 40 fish per tank. Constant temperature spring water (15°C) was supplied at 8–10L min-1 to each experimental tank. Each diet was assigned randomly to three tanks in a completely randomized design. Fish were hand-fed to apparent satiation three times per day, 6 days per week for 24 weeks. Photoperiod was maintained at 14 h light: 10 h dark with fluorescent lights controlled by electric timers. At week 18, one of the tanks from Diet 2 was removed from the study due to a valve failure resulting in a period of no incoming water flow overnight followed by poor fish performance and symptoms consistent with bacterial gill disease, reducing this treatment to two replicate tanks. After 24 weeks, all fish were moved to an outdoor facility and stocked into each of eight, 1,300-L tanks for another 28 weeks (52 weeks total) under natural light from the 10<sup>th</sup> January 2020 to the 29<sup>th</sup> July 2020.

# Sample Collection and Proximate Analysis

At the end of 52 weeks, 24-h postprandial, all the fish were counted and weighed to calculate weight gain (WG), specific growth rate (SGR), feed conversion ratio (FCR) and survival. After the final weighing, three fish per tank were anesthetized with tricaine methanesulfonate (MS-222, 100mg L<sup>-1</sup>, buffered to pH 7.0). Then, individual body weight and length of fish was measured, and condition factor (CF) was calculated. Whole blood was collected from the caudal vasculature of fish identified above with 1-ml heparinized syringes fitted with a 24G 1.5- inch needle and centrifuged at 1000 x G for 10min to collect plasma for antioxidant enzyme activity and non-specific immune parameters. Upon euthanizing those fish with additional MS- 222, liver and viscera from the same fish used for plasma

collection were dissected for gene expression, fatty acid analysis, and proximate analysis and weighed individually to calculate hepatosomatic index (HSI) and viscerosomatic index (VSI). From the same fish, liver and distal intestine were excised for histology. Another three fish per tank were euthanized for whole-body proximate analysis. Tissue samples were snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at  $-80^{\circ}$ C until analysis.

Experimental feeds, liver, muscle, and whole-body fish samples were analyzed for proximate composition and energy content. Fish samples were pooled by tank and homogenized using an industrial food processor. Samples were dried in a convection oven at 105°C for 12 h to determine moisture level according to AOAC (Association of Official Analytical Chemists) (2000). Dried samples were finely ground by mortar and pestle and analyzed for CP (total nitrogen × 6.25) using combustion method with a nitrogen determinator (Elementar nitrogen analyzer, Ronkonkoma, NY). Crude lipid was analyzed by subjecting samples to acid hydrolysis using an ANKOM HCL (ANKOM Technology, Macedon, NY) and extracting them with petroleum ether using an ANKOM XT15 extractor. Ash was analyzed by incineration at 550°C in a muffle furnace for 5h. The energy content of samples was determined using an isoperibol bomb calorimeter (Parr 6300, Parr Instrument Company Inc., Moline, IL).

The fatty acid composition of the liver and filet samples were determined in line with the modified AOAC method 991.39. Briefly, samples were dried for 5–6 h under an N2 stream at 50°C (OA-SYS heating system, Organomation Associates, Inc., Berlin, MA, USA). Thereafter, 2mL of 0.5N NaOH was added for sample saponification at 70°C for 60min. Following sample cooling, the free fatty acids were methylated by the addition of 2mL 14% BF3 (Boron trifluoride) in methanol and incubated at 70°C for 60min. After the samples were allowed to cool, 2mL of hexane was added, inverted repeatedly for 60 s, and 1mL of saturated NaCl was added. The samples were again inverted repeatedly for 60 s and then centrifuged at 2000 × G for 5min. An aliquot (100  $\mu$ L) of the clarified hexane extract was diluted in hexane (1:10) and put into autosampler vials for gas chromatography/mass spectroscopy (GC/MS) analysis. The injection mode with a helium flow rate and the column temperature was as described by Overturf et al. (2013). All the analyses were done in duplicate. Filet results are provided as mg 100 g<sup>-1</sup>, assuming a 100 g portion size for human consumption.

# Antioxidant and Non-specific Immune Assays

Oxidative radical production by phagocytes during respiratory burst was measured through nitro blue tetrazolium (NBT) assay described by Anderson and Siwicki (1995). Briefly, whole-blood and NBT (0.2%) (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) were mixed in equal proportion (1:1) and incubated for 30min at room temperature. Then 50  $\mu$ L was taken out and dispensed into glass tubes. One milliliter of dimethylformamide (Sigma-Aldrich) was added and centrifuged at 2000 × G for 5min. Finally, the optical density of supernatant was measured at 540 nm using a microplate reader (InfiniteR m200 PRO, Tecan Trading AG, Switzerland). Dimethylformamide was used as the blank.

Commercially available kits (Cayman Chemical, Ann Arbor, Michigan) were used to measure superoxide dismutase (SOD) (Itemno: 706002) and catalase (CAT) (Item no: 707002) activities at 25°C. SOD activity was determined at 450 nm based on xanthine and xanthine oxidase to produce superoxide radicals. SOD activity was measured based on the inhibition rate of this reaction. One unit of SOD activity is equal to 50% inhibition of decrease in 2-(4-iodophenyl)-3-(4nitrophenole)- 5-phenyltetrazolium chloride according to the experimental conditions. CAT activity was measured by determining the decrease in absorbance of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> at 540 nm. The reaction mixture containing 50mM K-phosphate buffer (pH 6.5) and 50mM H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> was diluted in 80mM K-phosphate buffer (pH 6.5). Calculation of activity was done by determining the extinction coefficient for H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> (a = 40 M<sup>-1</sup> cm<sup>-1</sup>).

Lysozyme activity in plasma was analyzed with a lysozyme assay kit (Sigma-Aldrich). Micrococcus lysodeikticus (0.75mg mL<sup>-1</sup>) was suspended in phosphate buffer (0.1 M, pH 6.24), 800 uL of suspension was placed in each well of 48-well plates, and 30  $\mu$ L plasma was added subsequently. The reduction in absorbance of the samples was recorded at 450 nm after incubation at room temperature for 0 and 30min in a microplate reader (Infinite<sup>®</sup> m200 PRO, Tecan Trading AG, Switzerland). A reduction in absorbance of 0.001 min<sup>-1</sup> was regarded as one unit of lysozyme activity.

# Histological Analysis

Tissue samples, about 1 cm in length, from anterior section of the distal intestine and liver were fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin. All samples were processed by increasing dehydration step, cleared in xylene and embedded in paraffin wax, according to the standard procedures. Longitudinal sections were cut at 5µm thickness and stained with haematoxylin and eosin (H&E). Examination for any pathological alterations was performed using a light microscope at different magnifications. For the evaluation of the effects of the experimental diets on the microscopic anatomy of the liver and intestine, a ranking system was employed, based on the criteria presented in Table 3.9.

# RNA Extraction and Quantitative PCR

Total RNA was isolated from each tissue using TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) extraction method following the manufacturer's suggested protocol. Purity and quantity of extracted RNA were assessed by Nanodrop ND-1000 spectrophotometer (260/230 and 260/280 ratios >1.8).

Extracted RNA was treated with DNAse, then 1 µg of total RNA was reverse transcribed using the iScript<sup>TM</sup> cDNA Synthesis kit (BioRad, Hercules, CA). Real-time quantitative PCR was carried out on a CFX96 Real-Time System (BioRad) in 10 µL total volume reactions using iTaq SYBR Green Supermix (BioRad) and 300 (A6fad and elovl2) or 500 nmol (*A5fad, elovl5, acox, gapdh* and *arp*) primers according to the protocol provided by the manufacturer. PCR cycling conditions for all genes were as follows: 95°C for 5 s followed by 55°C for 30s over 40 cycles with an initial denaturation step of 95°C for 3min. For each fish, PCR reactions were run in duplicate. Relative expression values for genes constituting the fatty acid oxidation, desaturation and elongation, including delta-5 fatty acyl desaturase ( $\Delta 5fad$ ), delta-6 fatty acyl desaturase ( $\Delta 6fad$ ), fatty acid elongase 2 (*elovl2*), fatty acid elongase 5 (*elovl5*) and acyl-Coa oxidase (*acox*) were determined using primers designed from rainbow trout sequences in the NCBI database. Primer sequences for genes are given in Table 3.3. Two genes (gapdh and arp) were tested as internal reference genes, though only arp proved stable across experimental factors and was therefore chosen as the reference gene for normalization of target gene expression in both tissues. Primer PCR efficiency was calculated for each primer set using a six-step serial dilution of a pooled

sample (pooled from each experimental sample for a given tissue). Data were analyzed using the relative quantification method, including efficiency correction following the method of Pfaffl (2001).

# Calculation and Statistical Method

Using the live-weight and feed consumption data, the following indices were calculated.

Weight gain (WG, g / fish)

= (g mean final weight–g mean initial weight)

Specific growth rate (SGR, % / d)

= [(Ln mean final weight–Ln mean initial weight)/number of days] x 100

Survival (%)

= (number of fish at the end of the trial/number of fish at the beginning) x 100

Average feed intake (FI, g / fish)

= g total dry feed intake/number of surviving fish

Feed conversion ratio (FCR)

= g total feed consumed / (g final biomass – g initial biomass + g dead fish weight)

Condition factor (CF)

= (g body weight) / (cm body length)<sup>3</sup> x 100

Hepatosomatic index (HSI)

= (g liver weight) / (g whole body weight) x 100

Viscerosomatic index (VSI)

= (g visceral weight) / (g whole body weight) x 100

ADC diet =  $1 - [(F / D) \times (Di / Fi)]$  - where D = % lipid of diet, F = % lipid of feces,

Di = % digestion indicator of diet, Fi = % digestion indicator of feces

ADC ingredient = ADCT +  $[((1 - s) DR) / s DI] \times (ADCT - ADCR)$ 

where ADCT = ADC of test diet, ADCR = ADC of reference diet, DR = % lipid of reference diet, diet,

DI = % lipid of test ingredient, s = proportion of test ingredient in test diet (0.2)

Tank mean values (n=3; except diet 2, n=2) were used for statistical analysis. Fish growth and feed utilization indices, physiological parameters, and gene expression data were tested for normality and homogeneity of variance prior to one-way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA). If significant differences were found, data were subjected to Tukey's HSD test to separate the means at a significance level of P < 0.05. SPSS (Version 21 for Window; IBM SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) was used for all statistical analyses. Principal components analysis (PCA) was performed by dimension reduction and visual mapping of samples based on non-specific immune response parameters and filet fatty acid composition using R v4.0 (The R Foundation, Vienna, Austria). A Kruskal-Wallis test followed by Wilcoxon post-hoc analysis was used for testing of histological results because the values did not meet parametric assumptions of normality.

#### Results

# Growth Performance and Feed Utilization

The growth performance and feed utilization of the fish are presented in Table 3.4. The final weight, weight gain, and SGR of fish fed diet LO-8 or LO-16 were the greatest (P < 0.05) compared with the fish fed LO-0. The survival rate (74.8 % - 83.8 %) and feed conversion ratio (1.27 - 1.32) were similar among dietary treatments groups (P > 0.05). Results also showed that CF, HSI and VSI were not significantly affected by dietary treatments (P > 0.05). ADC for crude lipid of LO was 93% ± 0.2. Changes in the mean body weight of three groups during 52 weeks of feeding is presented in Fig. 3.1. Growth rate began to separate at 24 weeks and became significantly different after 48 weeks.

# Whole-Body, Liver and Filet Proximate Composition

Whole-body, liver and filet proximate composition of rainbow trout juveniles fed the experimental diets are presented in Table 3.5. There were no consistent dietary effects for percent crude protein, crude fat, or gross energy across tissues. Additionally, no significant differences in whole-body, liver, and filet proximate composition and gross energy were detected among treatment groups.

#### Antioxidant and Non-specific Immune Responses

Results of the non-specific plasma immune assays are presented in Table 3.6. Phagocytic oxidative radical production (NBT activity) in whole-blood of fish fed diet LO-16 was significantly higher than fish fed the other two diets (P < 0.05). Plasma SOD, CAT and lysozyme activities were higher for rainbow trout fed diet LO-16, but they were not statistically different (P > 0.05).

# Histological Examination

The results of the histological evaluation from the final sampling are presented in Table 3.7. With regard to distal intestine tissue, it is interesting to note that both inflammation and size and number of absorptive vacuoles showed significant differences among diets. Distal intestine of fish fed diet LO-16 (Diet 3) showed a reduction in size and number of absorptive vacuoles and signs of inflammation, whereas there was no significant difference in liver histological evaluation. PCA of histology and plasma assay results together showed clear separation of dietary treatment groups, with eigenvectors indicating plasma assays were tightly correlated with one another, yet liver and intestinal histology showed opposing patterns of variance across diets (Fig. 3.2 A).

# Fatty Acid Composition of Filet

Filet fatty acid composition of rainbow trout juveniles fed the experimental diets are presented in Table 3.8. Linoleic acid (C18:2n-6) of fish filet of fish fed diet LO-16 (795 mg 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) was significantly higher than those of fish fed diet LO-8 (648 mg 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) (P < 0.05). ALA, ARA, EPA and DPA content was significantly higher in LO-16 diet group compared to other groups (P < 0.05). The filet DHA content of fish fed diet LO-8 was numerically higher than those of fish fed other two diets (P > 0.05). EPA + DHA contents tended to increase as Latitude<sup>TM</sup> oil inclusion level increased to 8% and 16%, but were not statistically different (P > 0.05). The overall filet fatty acid profile differed as a whole across dietary treatment according to PCA (Fig. 3.2 B), with the DHA eigenvector explaining separation of the LO-8 group and other n-3/n-6 LC-PUFA concentrations explaining the most variance in the LO-16 group.

# Gene Expression

The relative mRNA (RT-qPCR) expression of fatty acid metabolism related genes, fatty acid elongases 2 and 5 (*elovl2 and elovl5*), desaturases ( $\Delta 5fad$  and  $\Delta 6fad$ ) and acyl-CoA oxidase (*acox*) in liver and muscle of rainbow trout fed experimental diets is presented in Fig. 3.3 and 3.4, respectively. The hepatic gene expressions of *elovl2 and elovl5* were unaffected by the diet (P > 0.05) (Fig. 3.3), however those genes were significantly upregulated (P <0.05) in the LO-16 group compared to LO-0 group in muscle (Fig. 3.4). The fish fed LO-8 or LO-16 diet showed a significantly higher expression of  $\Delta 6fad$  as well as *acox* in both liver and muscle compared to the fish fed LO-0 diet, while the relative mRNA expression of  $\Delta 5fad$ was not significantly different among the dietary treatment group (P > 0.05).

#### Discussion

# Growth Performance and Feed Utilization

This study is the first to address the impact of the substitution of FO by transgenic canola oil, up to 100% substitution, on rainbow trout performance, health, and n-3 LC-PUFA tissue composition over a complete production cycle, from fingerling to the marketing size (52 weeks). In the present study, EPA+DHA contents (% of the diet) were formulated to be 3%. Results were promising, demonstrating that both inclusion levels of LO (8% and 16%) proved to be effective. Remarkably, the fish fed diet LO-8 and LO-16 showed significantly increased growth performance and fillet EPA + DHA concentrations, similar to those achieved in fish fed diet LO-0. While unexpected, the growth results suggest improved lipid utilization in fish fed the diets containing LO compared to fish in the LO-0 diet group. It is worth noting that growth rates began to separate among treatments at 24 weeks and became significantly different after 48 weeks (Fig. 3.1), supporting the need for long-term studies. It is known that the feeding duration in dietary studies can lead to significant growth differences, and it is not easy to compare directly with results from the experiments of shorter duration (Weatherup and McCraken, 1999; De Francesco et al., 2004).

One possible reason for improved growth (final weight, WG, SGR) of fish fed the LO-8 and LO-16 diets could be related to the higher ARA content in LO. Recently, the importance of n-6 LC-PUFA, particularly ARA, has been highlighted (Bell and Sargent, 2003; Norambuena et al., 2015; Xu et al., 2017; Torrecillas et al., 2018; Araújo et al., 2019).

Some studies have shown that ARA plays crucial roles in marine fish growth and survival (Xu et al., 2010; Yuan et al., 2015; Rombenso et al., 2016; Torrecillas et al., 2018), reproduction (Bromage et al., 2001; Kowalska and Kowalski; 2014) and stress and disease resistance (Koven et al., 2001; Koven et al., 2003; Martins et al., 2013), hence playing a vital role across the entirety of the fish life cycle. On the contrary, other studies have demonstrated that the inclusion of dietary ARA did not improve fish growth performance (Koven et al., 2001; Asil et al., 2017; Chee et al., 2020). These different results may be due to distinct experimental conditions, fish size, and duration of the feeding trial. It is known that rainbow trout have a limited capacity to bioconvert ALA to DHA as well as linoleic acid to ARA, similar to many marine carnivorous fishes. Moreover, the preference of desaturase and elongase for n-3 over n-6 substrates leads to ARA synthesis being limited (Bell and Sargent, 2003), suggesting that ARA could be required in adult rainbow trout. Most studies have focused on the functions of ARA in juveniles, but little research has examined the influences of ARA on growth in sub-adult and adult fish.

# Antioxidant and Non-specific Immune Responses

Although not observed in the current study, reports with larval fish suggest that ARA may be responsible for enhanced fish survival (Bessonart et al., 1999; Atalah et al., 2011; Yuan et al., 2015). Despite the fact that ARA may be a critical omega-6 fatty acid for some fish species to achieve proper growth, development, and survival, other studies remind us that generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) at high levels produced by activating NADPH-oxidase can cause toxicity through oxidative stress, as a potential result of an imbalance between antioxidant defenses and ROS generation when excessive levels of ARA are provided in diet (Cury-Boaventura and Curi, 2005; Schrader and Fahimi, 2006; Sakin et al., 2011; Chee et al., 2020). This, together with observations of elevated levels of whole-blood phagocytic oxidative radical production (NBT activity), a measurement of oxidative radical production, in the present study suggest a need for more research on ARA as a functional fatty acid in fish feeds across life stages.

Lysozyme, a non-specific innate immune molecule present in the plasma and body fluids of fish, plays a considerable role in host protection against microbial invasion (Li et al., 2021). While not significant (P=0.075), higher plasma lysozyme activity in fish fed LO-16

diet are consistent with the conclusions of Chee et al. (2020), in which lysozyme activity increased with increasing dietary ARA levels. The increased lysozyme activity with increasing ARA levels could be a result of increased production of leukotriene B<sub>4</sub>, a stimulator of release of lysosomal enzymes and superoxide in neutrophils, derived from ARA (Samuelsson, 1983; Chee et al., 2020). Well-known indexes of antioxidant defense status, SOD and CAT activities, were not significantly different in the present study; however, higher activities have been reported in studies with juvenile Japanese seabass (Xu et al., 2010) and Malabar red snapper (Chee et al., 2020). Since SOD and CAT are antioxidant enzymes known to scavenge ROS, increased SOD and CAT activities in those studies were likely in response to increased ROS production associated with increased respiratory burst activity.

## Histological Examination

Histological evaluation of the distal intestine of rainbow trout in the present study indicated impaired structural morphology when fed the LO-16 diet compared to fish fed the LO-8 diet but not the LO-0 diet. Specifically, fish fed the LO-16 diet exhibited increased inflammation and reduced size and number of absorptive vacuoles compared to fish fed LO-8 diet. Again, this might be explained by the higher level of ARA. Very little has been reported regarding the effects of ARA on fish intestinal histology in fish. Qi et al. (2016) reported that moderate levels of dietary ARA (0.51% of dry matter) had positive effects on the number of goblet cells and the length of intestinal villus, whereas higher ARA levels (0.88 and 0.96%) had detrimental effects in juvenile golden pompano (*Trachinotus ovatus*). Yu et al. (2019) also reported that dietary ARA supplementation disrupted the intestinal physical barrier of tiger puffer, showing that the gene expression of tight junction proteins, claudin-4 and 7 and zonula occludens-1, was down-regulated in groups supplemented with ARA.

# Fatty Acid Composition of Filet

An important aspect of the present study was to assess if LO influenced fatty acid metabolism, as it contains relatively high EPA and DPA levels. In the present study, muscle fatty acid profiles generally reflected those of the diets, as reported previously in other studies in fish (Montero et al., 2005; Turchini et al., 2009). Interestingly, muscle of fish fed the LO-8 diet showed lower levels of C16:0, C18:1n-9, C18:2n-6 (linoleic acid, LA) fatty acids and DPA and higher levels of DHA compared to the diet, suggesting that the decrease and low retention of these fatty acids could have occurred due to utilization as an energy source by the  $\beta$ -oxidation pathway and DPA being converted to DHA. It has been reported that LA, C16:0, C16:1, and C18:1n-9 fatty acids are preferred substrates for  $\beta$ -oxidation and energy generation in the mitochondria (Henderson, 1996; Bell et al., 2004). Drouin et al. (2019) reported that DPA supplementation affected the overall fatty acid profile, significantly increased EPA and DHA in the liver, and resulted in a slight increase of DHA in the heart and red blood cells in rats. Despite the highest level of DPA in diet LO-16, the concentrations of DHA in the fillet of fish fed diet LO-16 was numerically lower than those of fish fed diet LO-8, with perhaps the high inclusion of ARA negatively affecting the conversion of EPA or DPA to DHA, as ARA, EPA and DPA compete for the same enzymes (elovl2 and elovl5) in their synthesis pathways. This is supported by relatively higher fatty acid content of EPA and DHA in the fillet of fish fed diet LO-16. However, it is worth noting that the fillet DHA content of fish fed diet LO-16 was not significantly different compared to the diet LO-0. In the current study, the fillet EPA + DHA contents of fish fed all three experimental diets satisfied the suggested consumption recommendation by the American Heart Association for people without coronary heart disease  $(500 \text{ mg day}^{-1})$  and with coronary heart disease (1000 mg)mg day<sup>-1</sup>).

# Gene Expression

The same patterns of gene expression were observed in the liver and fillet. It is generally accepted that the expression of  $\Delta 6fad$  is highly responsive to dietary levels of n-3 LC-PUFA, being up-regulated when fish are fed low dietary levels of n-3 LC-PUFA, which leads to increased production of EPA and DHA (Thanuthong et al., 2011; Morais et al., 2012). In contrast, in the present study, fish fed diets with either 8% LO or 16% LO showed up-regulation of  $\Delta 6fad$  in liver and fillet, which may be associated with higher levels of DPA included in both diets compared to diet LO-0. The rate-limiting step for the LC-PUFA biosynthetic pathway in fish is controlled by  $\Delta 6fad$ , as it is the first enzyme involved in the bioconversion of C18 PUFA to longer and more unsaturated fatty acids, including the

conversion of DPA to DHA (Sprecher, 2000). This result suggests that the expression of  $\Delta 6 fad$  is more affected by the dietary levels of DPA and DHA. Fish fed the LO-16 diet, which had higher EPA and DPA contents than the other two diets, showed up-regulation of elovl2 and elovl5 in the fillet, potentially explaining the higher level of DHA in fillet compared to diet. Additionally, Gregory and James (2014) found that, unlike chicken, where both *elovl2* and *elovl5* can elongate DPA (Gregory et al., 2013), elongation of DPA to tetracosapentaenoic acid (24:5n-3), the penultimate precursor of DHA, is limited to *elovl2* in salmonids. For peroxisomal  $\beta$ -oxidation, *acox* is regarded as the rate-limiting enzyme (Morais et al., 2007). In the present study, the expression levels of *acox* were up-regulated in both liver and fillet with increasing levels of dietary DPA, indicating that there was active catabolism of tetracosahexaenoic acid (24:6n-3), the ultimate precursor of DHA. The upregulated expression of *acox* by LO agrees with the DHA content in the fillet, which may indicate that a higher level of DHA was required by rainbow trout to sustain physiological function. However, to our knowledge, information on the effects of DPA on fish growth and health performance in fish is lacking due to the high cost and limited availability of highpurity DPA for in vivo studies (Drouin et al., 2019).

# Conclusions

In conclusion, results of the present study demonstrate that Latitude<sup>™</sup> oil is highly digestible, improves fish growth, and yields elevated fillet n-3 LC-PUFA content, making it a sustainable, candidate lipid source for use in rainbow trout feeds. However, there was an indication of inflammation in distal intestine showing that 8% LO inclusion appears to be superior to 16% inclusion. Our results also suggest that the unique fatty acid profile of this oil, being high in the fatty acids ARA and DPA, may have functional properties, including but not limited to oxidative stress and LC-PUFA fatty acid synthesis, that require further investigation. Additionally, further studies are needed to refine optimal LO inclusion levels in rainbow trout and salmonid feeds and to identify the mechanisms leading to improved growth when fed to rainbow trout.

# Acknowledgments

The authors greatly acknowledge Cargill and Tyson for donating transgenic canola oil (Latitude<sup>™</sup>) and poultry fat, respectively, used for the study. The authors would also like to thank Timothy Boyle, Julianna Browning, Md. Sakhawat Hossain, Jose Ortiz and Carol Hoffman for their excellent technical assistance in fish husbandry and sampling associated with the study.

# Funding

The present study was funded by Cargill Incorporated.

# **Literature Cited**

- Anderson, D.P., Siwicki, A.K. (1995) Basic hematology and serology for fish health programs. In: Shariff, M., Arthur, J.R., Subasinghe, R.P. (Eds.), Diseases in Asian Aquaculture II. Philippines, Fish Health Section. Asian Fisheries Society, Manila, pp. 185–202.
- AOAC (Association of Official Analytical Chemists) (2000) In: Cunniff, P. (Ed.), Official Methods of Analysis of the Association of Official Analytical Chemists, 17th edition. Association of Official Analytical Chemists, Inc., Arlington, VA Chapter 4. P 46.
- Aranceta, J., & Pérez-Rodrigo, C. (2012). Recommended dietary reference intakes, nutritional goals and dietary guidelines for fat and fatty acids: a systematic review. British Journal of Nutrition, 107(S2), S8-S22.
- Araújo, B. C., Honji, R. M., Rombenso, A. N., de Souza, G. B., de Mello, P. H., Hilsdorf, A. W. S., & Moreira, R. G. (2019). Influences of different arachidonic acid levels and temperature on the growth performance, fatty acid profile, liver morphology and expression of lipid genes in cobia (*Rachycentron canadum*) juveniles. Aquaculture, 511, 734245.
- Asil, S. M., Kenari, A. A., Miyanji, G. R., & Van Der Kraak, G. (2017). The influence of dietary arachidonic acid on growth, reproductive performance, and fatty acid composition of ovary, egg and larvae in an anabantid model fish, Blue gourami (*Trichopodus trichopterus*; Pallas, 1770). Aquaculture, 476, 8-18.
- Atalah, E., Hernández-Cruz, C. M., Ganuza, E., Benítez-Santana, T., Ganga, R., Roo, J., ...
  & Izquierdo, M. (2011). Importance of dietary arachidonic acid for the growth, survival and stress resistance of larval European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) fed high dietary docosahexaenoic and eicosapentaenoic acids. Aquaculture Research, 42(9), 1261-1268.
- Backes, J., Anzalone, D., Hilleman, D., & Catini, J. (2016). The clinical relevance of omega-3 fatty acids in the management of hypertriglyceridemia. Lipids in health and disease, 15(1), 1-12.
- Bell, J. G., & Sargent, J. R. (2003). Arachidonic acid in aquaculture feeds: current status and future opportunities. Aquaculture, 218(1-4), 491-499.
- Bell, J. G., Henderson, R. J., Tocher, D. R., & Sargent, J. R. (2004). Replacement of dietary fish oil with increasing levels of linseed oil: modification of flesh fatty acid compositions in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) using a fish oil finishing diet. Lipids, 39(3), 223-232.
- Bessonart, M., Izquierdo, M. S., Salhi, M., Hernandez-Cruz, C. M., Gonzalez, M. M., & Fernandez-Palacios, H. (1999). Effect of dietary arachidonic acid levels on growth and survival of gilthead sea bream (*Sparus aurata L.*) larvae. Aquaculture, 179(1-4), 265-275.
- Betancor, M. B., Li, K., Sprague, M., Bardal, T., Sayanova, O., Usher, S., ... & Olsen, R. E. (2017). An oil containing EPA and DHA from transgenic Camelina sativa to replace marine fish oil in feeds for Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*): Effects on intestinal transcriptome, histology, tissue fatty acid profiles and plasma biochemistry. PloS one, 12(4), e0175415.
- Betancor, M. B., MacEwan, A., Sprague, M., Gong, X., Montero, D., Han, L., ... & Tocher,
  D. R. (2021). Oil from transgenic Camelina sativa as a source of EPA and DHA in feed for European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax L*.). Aquaculture, 530, 735759.
- Bou, M., Berge, G. M., Baeverfjord, G., Sigholt, T., Østbye, T. K., & Ruyter, B. (2017).
   Low levels of very-long-chain n-3 PUFA in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) diet reduce fish robustness under challenging conditions in sea cages. Journal of nutritional science, 6.

- Bromage, N. R., Mazorra, C., Davie, A., Alorend, E., Bruce, M. P., Bell, J. G., & Porter, M. (2001). Optimising broodstock performance: maturation, fecundity, and gamete quality. Larvi, 1, 87.
- Calder, P. C. (2018). Very long-chain n-3 fatty acids and human health: fact, fiction and the future. Proceedings of the Nutrition Society, 77(1), 52-72.
- Chee, W. L., Turchini, G. M., Teoh, C. Y., & Ng, W. K. (2020). Dietary arachidonic acid and the impact on growth performance, health and tissues fatty acids in Malabar red snapper (*Lutjanus malabaricus*) fingerlings. Aquaculture, 519, 734757.
- Cury-Boaventura, M. F., & Curi, R. (2005). Regulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) production by C18 fatty acids in Jurkat and Raji cells. Clinical science, 108(3), 245-253.
- De Francesco, M., Parisi, G., Médale, F., Lupi, P., Kaushik, S. J., & Poli, B. M. (2004).
   Effect of long-term feeding with a plant protein mixture based diet on growth and body/fillet quality traits of large rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Aquaculture, 236(1-4), 413-429.
- Drouin, G., Catheline, D., Guillocheau, E., Gueret, P., Baudry, C., Le Ruyet, P., ... & Legrand, P. (2019). Comparative effects of dietary n-3 docosapentaenoic acid (DPA), DHA and EPA on plasma lipid parameters, oxidative status and fatty acid tissue composition. The Journal of nutritional biochemistry, 63, 186-196.
- Dyall, S. C. (2015). Long-chain omega-3 fatty acids and the brain: a review of the independent and shared effects of EPA, DPA and DHA. Frontiers in aging neuroscience, 7, 52.
- Fabris, M., Abbriano, R. M., Pernice, M., Sutherland, D. L., Commault, A. S., Hall, C. C., ... & Ralph, P. J. (2020). Emerging technologies in algal biotechnology: Toward the establishment of a sustainable, algae-based bioeconomy. Frontiers in plant science, 11, 279.

- Gregory, M. K., & James, M. J. (2014). Rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) Elov15 and Elov12 differ in selectivity for elongation of omega-3 docosapentaenoic acid. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids, 1841(12), 1656-1660.
- Gregory, M. K., Geier, M. S., Gibson, R. A., & James, M. J. (2013). Functional characterization of the chicken fatty acid elongases. The Journal of nutrition, 143(1), 12-16.
- Henderson, R. J. (1996). Fatty acid metabolism in freshwater fish with particular reference to polyunsaturated fatty acids. Archives of Animal Nutrition, 49(1), 5-22.
- Hossain, M. S., Peng, M., & Small, B. C. (2021). Optimizing the fatty acid profile of novel terrestrial oil blends in low fishmeal diets of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) yields comparable fish growth, total fillet n-3 LC-PUFA content, and health performance relative to fish oil. Aquaculture, 545, 737230.
- Kaur, G., Guo, X. F., & Sinclair, A. J. (2016). Short update on docosapentaenoic acid: a bioactive long-chain n-3 fatty acid. Current opinion in clinical nutrition and metabolic care, 19(2), 88-91.
- Koven, W., Barr, Y., Lutzky, S., Ben-Atia, I., Weiss, R., Harel, M., ... & Tandler, A. (2001). The effect of dietary arachidonic acid (20: 4n- 6) on growth, survival and resistance to handling stress in gilthead seabream (*Sparus aurata*) larvae. Aquaculture, 193(1-2), 107-122.
- Koven, W., van Anholt, R., Lutzky, S., Atia, I. B., Nixon, O., Ron, B., & Tandler, A. (2003). The effect of dietary arachidonic acid on growth, survival, and cortisol levels in different-age gilthead seabream larvae (*Sparus auratus*) exposed to handling or daily salinity change. Aquaculture, 228(1-4), 307-320.
- Kowalska, A., & Kowalski, R. K. (2014). The effect of cyclooxygenase (COX) inhibitors on Japanese medaka (*Oryzias latipes*) reproduction parameters fed with high level of arachidonic acid (20: 4 n-6). Aquaculture International, 22(1), 185-193.

- Li, L., Cardoso, J. C., Félix, R. C., Mateus, A. P., Canário, A. V., & Power, D. M. (2021).
   Fish lysozyme gene family evolution and divergent function in early development. Developmental & Comparative Immunology, 114, 103772.
- Li, Y., Monroig, O., Zhang, L., Wang, S., Zheng, X., Dick, J. R., ... & Tocher, D. R. (2010). Vertebrate fatty acyl desaturase with Δ4 activity. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 107(39), 16840-16845.
- Lozano-Muñoz, I., Muñoz, S., Díaz, N. F., Medina, A., Bazaes, J., & Riquelme, C. (2020). Nutritional enhancement of farmed salmon meat via non-GMO Nannochloropsis gaditana: eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA, 20: 5 n-3), docosapentaenoic acid (DPA, 22: 5 n-3) and Vitamin D3 for human health. Molecules, 25(20), 4615.
- Martins, D. A., Rocha, F., Castanheira, F., Mendes, A., Pousão-Ferreira, P., Bandarra, N., ...
   & Martínez-Rodríguez, G. (2013). Effects of dietary arachidonic acid on cortisol production and gene expression in stress response in Senegalese sole (*Solea senegalensis*) post-larvae. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry, 39(5), 1223-1238.
- Montero, D., Robaina, L., Caballero, M. J., Gines, R., & Izquierdo, M. S. (2005). Growth, feed utilization and flesh quality of European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) fed diets containing vegetable oils: A time-course study on the effect of a re-feeding period with a 100% fish oil diet. Aquaculture, 248(1-4), 121-134.
- Morais, S., Castanheira, F., Martinez-Rubio, L., Conceição, L. E., & Tocher, D. R. (2012).
  Long chain polyunsaturated fatty acid synthesis in a marine vertebrate:
  ontogenetic and nutritional regulation of a fatty acyl desaturase with Δ4
  activity. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular and Cell Biology of
  Lipids, 1821(4), 660-671.
- Morais, S., Knoll-Gellida, A., André, M., Barthe, C., & Babin, P. J. (2007). Conserved expression of alternative splicing variants of peroxisomal acyl-CoA oxidase 1 in vertebrates and developmental and nutritional regulation in fish. Physiological Genomics, 28(3), 239-252.

- Napier, J. A., Olsen, R. E., & Tocher, D. R. (2019). Update on GM canola crops as novel sources of omega-3 fish oils. Plant Biotechnology Journal, 17(4), 703.
- Norambuena, F., Morais, S., Emery, J. A., & Turchini, G. M. (2015). Arachidonic acid and eicosapentaenoic acid metabolism in juvenile Atlantic salmon as affected by water temperature. PLoS One, 10(11), e0143622.
- NRC (National Research Council), 2011. Nutrient Requirements of Fish and Shrimp. National Academy Press, Washington, DC, p. 376.
- Osmond, A. T., & Colombo, S. M. (2019). The future of genetic engineering to provide essential dietary nutrients and improve growth performance in aquaculture: Advantages and challenges. Journal of the World Aquaculture Society, 50(3), 490-509.
- Overturf, K., Welker, T., Barrows, F., Towner, R., Schneider, R., LaPatra, S. (2013). Variation in rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss*, to biosynthesize eicosapentaenoic acid and docosahexaenoic acid when reared on plant oil replacement feeds. J. World Aquacult. Soc. 44, 326–337
- Pfaffl, M. W. (2001). A new mathematical model for relative quantification in real-time RT– PCR. Nucleic acids research, 29(9), e45.
- Qi, C. L., Zhao, S. Y., Xiao-Hong, T., Niu, J., Wang, J., Wang, Y., ... & Lin, H. Z. (2016). Effects of dietary arachidonic acid levels on growth performance, whole-body proximate composition, digestive enzyme activities and gut morphology of juvenile golden pompano trachinotus. Israeli Journal of Aquaculture-Bamidgeh, 68, 20819.
- Rombenso, A. N., Trushenski, J. T., Jirsa, D., & Drawbridge, M. (2016). Docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) and arachidonic acid (ARA) are essential to meet LC-PUFA requirements of juvenile California Yellowtail (*Seriola dorsalis*). Aquaculture, 463, 123-134.

- Sakin, F., Ispir, U., Yonar, S. M., Yonar, M. E., & Taysi, M. R. (2011). Effect of short-term cypermethrin exposure on oxidant-antioxidant balance in the whole body of rainbow trout fry (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Fresen Environ Bull, 20(10a), 2806-9.
- Samuelsson, B. (1983). Leukotrienes: mediators of immediate hypersensitivity reactions and inflammation. Science, 220(4597), 568-575.
- Schrader, M., & Fahimi, H. D. (2006). Peroxisomes and oxidative stress. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular Cell Research, 1763(12), 1755-1766.
- Simopoulos, A. P. (2000). Human requirement for N-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids. Poultry Science, 79(7), 961-970.
- Sprecher, H. (2000). Metabolism of highly unsaturated n-3 and n-6 fatty acids. Biochem Biophys Acta, 1486, 219-231.
- Thanuthong, T., Francis, D. S., Manickam, E., Senadheera, S. D., Cameron-Smith, D., & Turchini, G. M. (2011). Fish oil replacement in rainbow trout diets and total dietary PUFA content: II) Effects on fatty acid metabolism and in vivo fatty acid bioconversion. Aquaculture, 322, 99-108.
- Tocher, D. (2009). Issues surrounding fish as a source of omega-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids. Lipid Technology, 21(1), 13-16.
- Tocher, D. R. (2015). Omega-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids and aquaculture in perspective. Aquaculture, 449, 94-107.
- Tocher, D. R., Betancor, M. B., Sprague, M., Olsen, R. E., & Napier, J. A. (2019). Omega-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids, EPA and DHA: bridging the gap between supply and demand. Nutrients, 11(1), 89.
- Torrecillas, S., Betancor, M. B., Caballero, M. J., Rivero, F., Robaina, L., Izquierdo, M., & Montero, D. (2018). Supplementation of arachidonic acid rich oil in European sea bass juveniles (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) diets: effects on growth performance, tissue fatty acid profile and lipid metabolism. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry, 44(1), 283-300.

- Turchini, G. M., Torstensen, B. E., & Ng, W. K. (2009). Fish oil replacement in finfish nutrition. Reviews in Aquaculture, 1(1), 10-57.
- Weatherup, R. N., & McCracken, K. J. (1999). Changes in rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss (Walbaum), body composition with weight.
- Xu, H., Ai, Q., Mai, K., Xu, W., Wang, J., Ma, H., ... & Liufu, Z. (2010). Effects of dietary arachidonic acid on growth performance, survival, immune response and tissue fatty acid composition of juvenile Japanese seabass, *Lateolabrax japonicus*. Aquaculture, 307(1-2), 75-82.
- Xu, H., Cao, L., Zhang, Y., Johnson, R. B., Wei, Y., Zheng, K., & Liang, M. (2017). Dietary arachidonic acid differentially regulates the gonadal steroidogenesis in the marine teleost, tongue sole (*Cynoglossus semilaevis*), depending on fish gender and maturation stage. Aquaculture, 468, 378-385.
- Ytrestøyl, T., Aas, T. S., & Åsgård, T. (2015). Utilisation of feed resources in production of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) in Norway. Aquaculture, 448, 365-374.
- Yu, G., Ou, W., Liao, Z., Xu, H., Liang, M., Zhang, Y., & Mai, K. (2019). Intestinal homeostasis of juvenile tiger puffer *Takifugu rubripes* was sensitive to dietary arachidonic acid in terms of mucosal barrier and microbiota. Aquaculture, 502, 97-106.
- Yuan, Y., Li, S., Mai, K., Xu, W., Zhang, Y., & Ai, Q. (2015). The effect of dietary arachidonic acid (ARA) on growth performance, fatty acid composition and expression of ARA metabolism-related genes in larval half-smooth tongue sole (*Cynoglossus semilaevis*). British Journal of Nutrition, 113(10), 1518-1530

erimental diets (as fed).						
)-16						
.5						
.5						

Table 3.1. Formulation and proximate composition of the experimental diets (as fed)

Diets

Ingradiants (9/)	Diets			
Ingrements (70)	LO-0	LO-8	LO-16	
Fish meal, sardine <sup>a</sup>	20	20	20	
PBM, feed grade <sup>a</sup>	12.5	12.5	12.5	
Soybean meal <sup>a</sup>	11.5	11.5	11.5	
Soy protein concentrate <sup>b</sup>	5.5	5.5	5.5	
Wheat gluten meal <sup>a</sup>	1.5	1.5	1.5	
Corn protein concentrate <sup>c</sup>	13.5	13.5	13.5	
Wheat flour <sup>a</sup>	16.2	16.2	16.2	
Dicalcium phosphate <sup>a</sup>	1.4	1.4	1.4	
Trace mineral mix <sup>d</sup>	0.1	0.1	0.1	
Vitamin Premix <sup>e</sup>	1.0	1.0	1.0	
Choline chloride (60%) <sup>a</sup>	0.6	0.6	0.6	
Stay C (35%) vitamin <sup>f</sup>	0.2	0.2	0.2	
Fish oil <sup>a</sup>	6.43	3.21	0.0	
Poultry fat <sup>g</sup>	9.57	4.79	0.0	
Latitude <sup>TM</sup> oil <sup>h</sup>	0.00	8.00	16.0	
Composition (% as-fed basis)				
Dry Matter	98.3	98.5	97.9	
Protein	50.0	49.4	49.6	
Fat	20.3	21.0	20.1	
Ash	3.66	3.54	3.14	
Gross energy (MJ/kg)	24.3	24.4	23.9	

<sup>a</sup> Rangen Inc., Buhl, ID, USA.

<sup>b</sup> Profine VF, The Solae Company, St. Louis, MO, USA

<sup>c</sup> Empyreal<sup>®</sup> 75, Cargill Corn Milling, Cargill, Inc., Blair, NE, USA

<sup>d</sup> US Fish and Wildlife Service Trace Mineral Premix #3 supplied the following (mg kg<sup>-1</sup> diet): Zn (as ZnSO4·7H2O), 75; Mn (as MnSO4), 20; Cu (as CuSO4·5H2O), 1.54; I (as KIO3), 10.

<sup>e</sup> Vitamin premix supplied the following per kg diet: vitamin A, 2.4 mg; vitamin D, 0.15 mg; vitamin E, 267 mg; vitamin K as menadione sodium bisulfite, 20 μg; thiamin as thiamin mononitrate, 32 mg; riboflavin, 64 mg; pyridoxine as pyridoxine-HCl, 64 mg; pantothenic acid as Ca-d-pantothenate, 192 mg; niacin as nicotinic acid, 240 mg; biotin, 0.56 mg; folic acid, 12 mg; vitamin B<sub>12</sub>, 50 μg; and inositol as meso-inositol, 400 mg.

<sup>f</sup> Skretting USA, Tooele, UT, USA.

<sup>g</sup> Tyson Foods Inc., Springdale, AR, USA

<sup>h</sup> Cargill Inc., Minneapolis, MN, USA

	Diet					
	LO-0		LO-8		LO-16	
Fatty agida	%	%	%	%	%	%
Faily aclas	FAME	Diet	FAME	Diet	FAME	Diet
C14:0	1.93	0.39	1.19	0.25	0.38	0.08
C16:0	18.6	3.78	13.3	2.80	9.15	1.84
C18:0	5.52	1.12	4.81	1.01	3.84	0.77
C24:0	1.93	0.39	1.19	0.25	0.38	0.08
ΣSFA	28.0	5.68	20.5	4.31	13.7	2.76
C16:1n-7	7.10	1.44	4.30	0.90	1.39	0.28
C18:1n-9	29.0	5.89	27.5	5.76	26.6	5.34
C20:1n-9	2.35	0.48	1.71	0.36	0.95	0.19
C22:1n-9	1.17	0.24	0.66	0.14	0.14	0.03
ΣΜUFA	39.6	8.04	34.1	7.17	29.1	5.84
C18:2n-6	15.0	3.04	20.3	4.26	25.9	5.21
C18:3n-6	0.16	0.03	0.99	0.21	1.90	0.38
C20:2n-6	0.15	0.03	0.12	0.02	0.09	0.02
C20:3n-6	0.13	0.03	1.27	0.27	2.48	0.50
C20:4n-6 (ARA)	1.20	0.24	1.93	0.40	2.63	0.53
n-6 PUFA	16.6	3.38	24.6	5.17	33.0	6.64
C18:3n-3	1.22	0.25	2.33	0.49	3.41	0.68
C20:5n-3 (EPA)	7.39	1.50	10.3	2.17	13.1	2.64
C22:5n-3 (DPA)	0.93	0.19	1.67	0.35	2.28	0.46
C22:6n-3 (DHA)	6.29	1.28	5.00	1.05	3.38	0.68
EPA + DHA	13.7	2.78	15.3	3.22	16.5	3.32
n-3 PUFA	15.8	3.21	19.3	4.06	22.2	4.46
n-3 / n-6	0.9	95	0.7	'9	0.6	7

Table 3.2. Analyzed fatty acid profile of the experimental diets<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Abbreviations: SFA, saturated fatty acids; MUFA, mono-unsaturated fatty acids; n-6 PUFA, n-6 poly-unsaturated fatty acids; n-3 PUFA, n-3 poly-unsaturated fatty acids; ARA, arachidonic acid; EPA, eicosapentaenoic acid; DPA, docosapentaenoic acid; DHA, docosahexaenoic acid.

Genes	Forward	Reverse	Bases	Gene Accession NO
elovl2	GATGCCTGCTCTTCCAGTTC	CATTGGTGGAGACAGTGTGG	20	KM244737
elovl5	CTATGGGCTCTC TGCTGTCC	TATCGTCTGGGA CATGGTCA	20	AY605100
$\Delta 5 fad$	GCAGAGAGAACCGAGGATGG	GCAGTGCTTCTG GACCTCTT	20	JD087459
$\Delta 6 fad$	ACCTAGTGGCTCCTCTGGTC	CAGATCCCCTGACTTCTTCA	20	AF301910
acox	TTCCACGACCAGACCCATGA	AACGGCGTCCACCAAAGCTA	20	BX085367
gapdh	ACTCTGTTGTGTCTTCTG	TTGTCGTTGAAGGAGATG	18	NM_001124246.1
arp	GAAGGCTGTGGTGCTCAT	CAGGGCAGGGTTGTTCTC	18	XM_021610240.2

 Table 3.3. Primers sequences used in real-time qPCR for the determination of gene expression.

	Diets				
	LO-0	LO-8	LO-16		
Initial weight (g)	$18.5\pm0.09$	$18.5\pm0.08$	$18.5\pm0.08$		
Final weight (g)	$869 \pm 18.6^{\text{b}}$	$967\pm36.4^{a}$	$955\pm10.8^{\rm a}$		
Weight gain (g fish <sup>-1</sup> )	$850\pm18.5^{b}$	$949\pm36.4^{\rm a}$	$937 \pm 10.8^{\rm a}$		
SGR <sup>a</sup>	$1.07\pm0.10^{b}$	$1.10\pm0.01^{\rm a}$	$1.10\pm0.00^{\rm a}$		
Feed intake (g fish <sup>-1</sup> )	$1076 \pm 12.1$	$1219\pm65.5$	$1244 \pm 73.5$		
FCR <sup>b</sup>	$1.27\pm0.04$	$1.28\pm0.02$	$1.32\pm0.07$		
Survival (%)	$83.8\pm2.21$	$83.8\pm2.70$	$74.8 \pm 4.59$		
Condition factor (%)	$1.19\pm0.08$	$1.22\pm0.06$	$1.22\pm0.03$		
HSI <sup>c</sup>	$0.84\pm0.07$	$0.88\pm0.00$	$0.74\pm0.05$		
VSI <sup>d</sup>	$9.07\pm0.78$	$8.90\pm0.27$	$9.09\pm0.90$		

Table 3.4. Growth performance and feed utilization of rainbow trout fed for 52 weeks\*.

\*Mean  $\pm$  SE (n = 3 tanks per treatment) except for diet 2 (n = 2) in the same row that share the same superscript are not statistically different (P > 0.05)

<sup>a</sup>SGR: specific growth rate (% day<sup>-1</sup>)

<sup>b</sup>FCR: feed conversion ratio

<sup>c</sup>HSI: hepatosomatic index (%)

<sup>d</sup>VSI: viscerosomatic index (%)

		Diets	
	LO-0	LO-8	LO-16
Whole-body			
Dry matter (%)	$29.3\pm3.15$	$33.3\pm0.68$	$28.8 \pm 1.06$
Crude protein (%)	$17.5\pm1.09$	$18.2\pm0.58$	$18.0\pm0.64$
Crude fat (%)	$9.40\pm2.45$	$12.8 \pm 1.28$	$8.80 \pm 1.45$
Ash (%)	$2.1\pm0.31$	$1.7\pm0.34$	$2.3\pm0.26$
Gross energy (MJ kg <sup>-1</sup> )	$26.8\pm0.84$	$28.2\pm0.84$	$26.7\pm0.78$
Liver			
Dry matter (%)	$14.7\pm1.05$	$15.2\pm0.93$	$13.2\pm0.75$
Crude protein (%)	$9.63\pm0.27$	$9.67\pm0.63$	$8.81\pm0.52$
Crude fat (%)	$0.83\pm0.21$	$0.64\pm0.12$	$0.47\pm0.02$
Gross energy (MJ kg <sup>-1</sup> )	$22.0\pm0.17$	$22.1\pm0.03$	$22.0\pm0.07$
Fillet			
Dry matter (%)	$21.6\pm0.67$	$20.3\pm0.04$	$21.3\pm1.16$
Crude protein (%)	$16.0\pm0.81$	$14.8\pm0.18$	$15.7\pm0.47$
Crude fat (%)	$4.95\pm0.12$	$4.48\pm0.28$	$5.00\pm0.41$
Gross energy (MJ kg <sup>-1</sup> )	$26.2\pm0.13$	$25.8\pm0.26$	$26.0\pm0.19$

Table 3.5. Whole-body, liver and filet proximate composition and gross energy (wet basis) of rainbow trout fed experimental diets for 52 weeks\*.

\*Mean  $\pm$  SE (n = 3 tanks per treatment) except for diet 2 (n = 2) in the same row that share the same superscript are not statistically different (P > 0.05)

		Diets			
	LO-0	LO-8	LO-16		
NBT <sup>a</sup>	$0.28\pm0.12^{\text{b}}$	$0.19\pm0.01^{b}$	$0.90\pm0.14^{a}$		
SOD <sup>b</sup>	$6.75\pm0.28$	$6.40\pm0.59$	$7.41\pm0.63$		
Catalase <sup>c</sup>	$42.0\pm2.31$	$46.6\pm0.55$	$48.1\pm2.52$		
Lysozyme <sup>d</sup>	$329\pm7.22$	$385\pm24.7$	$414\pm40.2$		

Table 3.6. Non-si	pecific immune response	s of rainbow trout fed (	experimental diets for	· 52 weeks*.
Tuble 5.0. 11011 bj	pecific minune response	s of runnoon trout icu	caper intental areas for	Ja weeks

\*Mean  $\pm$  SE (n = 3 tanks per treatment) except for diet 2 (n = 2) in the same row that share the same superscript are not statistically different (P > 0.05)

<sup>a</sup>NBT: Nitro-blue tetrazolium assay (OD 540nm)

<sup>b</sup>SOD: Super oxide dismutase (%inhibition)

<sup>c</sup>Catalase: Catalase activity (nmol min<sup>-1</sup> ml<sup>-1</sup>)

<sup>d</sup>Lysozyme: Lysozyme activity (Unit mL<sup>-1</sup> enzyme)

		Diets	
	LO-0	LO-8	LO-16
Distal intestine			
Inflammation	$2.89\pm0.87^{\rm a}$	$2.00\pm0.00^{b}$	$3.33\pm0.47^{\text{a}}$
Absorptive vacuoles	$2.22\pm0.92^{ab}$	$1.67\pm0.75^{b}$	$3.22\pm0.42^{\text{a}}$
Liver			
Glycogen vacuolation	$2.11\pm0.74$	$2.83\pm0.37$	$2.11\pm0.57$
Perivascular inflammation	$1.67\pm0.67$	$1.17\pm0.37$	$1.33\pm0.67$
Focal inflammation	$1.33\pm0.67$	$1.17\pm0.37$	$1.00\pm0.00$
Nuclear vacuoles	$1.33\pm0.67$	$1.17\pm0.37$	$1.11\pm0.31$

Table 3.7. Histological scoring of rainbow trout distal intestine and liver tissue following different dietary treatment fed for 52 weeks\*.

\*Mean  $\pm$  SE (n = 9 fish per treatment) except for diet 2 (n = 6) in the same row that share the same superscript are not statistically different (P> 0.05; Data was analyzed by Kruskal-Wallis test and Wilcoxon's post-hoc test).

	Diets					
	LO-0		LO-8		LO-16	
Fatty acids	mg 100 g <sup>-1</sup>	% FAME	mg 100 g <sup>-1</sup>	% FAME	mg 100 g <sup>-1</sup>	% FAME
C14:0	$60.3\pm2.17$	$1.22\pm0.04$	$46.1 \pm 13.0$	$1.03\pm0.29$	$43.8 \pm 4.79$	$0.95\pm0.14$
C16:0	$845\pm50.2^{a}$	$17.1 \pm 1.01^{a}$	$665\pm22.6^{\text{b}}$	$14.8\pm0.50^{ab}$	$668\pm 60.3^{ab}$	$13.4\pm1.21^{\text{b}}$
C18:0	$235 \pm 18.7$	$4.75\pm0.38$	$185\pm7.21$	$4.13\pm0.16$	$211 \pm 11.2$	$4.22\pm0.22$
C24:0	$59.7\pm2.97$	$1.21\pm0.06$	$46.1\pm13.0$	$1.03\pm0.29$	$47.6\pm7.27$	$0.95\pm0.15$
ΣSFA	$1200\pm36.3^{a}$	$24.2\pm0.73^a$	$942\pm10.6^{\text{b}}$	$21.0\pm0.24^{ab}$	$970\pm62.2^{b}$	$19.5 \pm 1.28^{\text{b}}$
C16:1-7	$246\pm23.6^a$	$4.96\pm0.48^{a}$	$208 \pm 9.04^{ab}$	$4.65\pm0.20^{ab}$	$179 \pm 18.5^{\text{b}}$	$3.58\pm0.37^{\text{b}}$
C18:1n-9	$1297\pm40.5^a$	$26.2\pm0.82$	$1079\pm31.5^{b}$	$24.1\pm0.70$	$1272\pm38.2^{\rm a}$	$25.4\pm0.76$
C20:1n-9	$92.5\pm12.6^{a}$	$1.87\pm0.25$	$49.1 \pm 12.7^{b}$	$1.10\pm0.28$	$68.1\pm3.92^{ab}$	$1.36\pm0.08$
C22:1n-9	$24.3\pm5.20^a$	$0.49\pm0.11^{a}$	$13.5\pm2.07^{ab}$	$0.30\pm0.05^{ab}$	$8.55\pm0.29^{b}$	$0.17\pm0.01^{\text{b}}$
ΣΜυγΑ	$1660\pm81.6^a$	$33.5\pm1.65$	$1350\pm55.3^{b}$	$30.1 \pm 1.23$	$1528 \pm 54.7^{ab}$	$30.6 \pm 1.09$
C18:2n-6	$710\pm26.0^{ab}$	$14.3\pm0.53$	$648 \pm 17.6^{\text{b}}$	$14.5\pm0.39$	$795\pm27.1^{a}$	$15.9\pm0.54$
C18:3n-6	$6.57 \pm 1.46^{\text{b}}$	$0.13\pm0.03^{\text{b}}$	$12.3\pm0.27^{\text{b}}$	$0.27\pm0.01^{b}$	$26.6\pm3.78^{a}$	$0.53\pm0.08^{a}$
C20:3n-6	$21.5\pm2.80^{b}$	$0.44\pm0.06^{\text{b}}$	$41.0\pm2.11^{\text{b}}$	$0.91 \pm 0.05^{ab}$	$81.4 \pm 17.6^{a}$	$1.63\pm0.35^{a}$
C20:4n-6 (ARA)	$51.9\pm7.11^{\text{b}}$	$1.05\pm0.14^{a}$	$66.8\pm2.87^{b}$	$1.49\pm0.06^{ab}$	$93.3\pm8.32^{a}$	$1.87\pm0.17^{\rm b}$
n-6 PUFA	$823\pm40.3^{\text{b}}$	$16.6\pm0.81^{b}$	$789 \pm 18.1^{\text{b}}$	$17.6\pm0.40^{ab}$	$1027\pm61.1^{\rm a}$	$20.5\pm1.22^{a}$
C18:3n-3	$41.0\pm5.09^{b}$	$0.83 \pm 0.10^{\text{b}}$	$50.2\pm1.36^{\text{b}}$	$1.12\pm0.03^{ab}$	$78.5\pm8.74^{\rm a}$	$1.57\pm0.17^{a}$
C20:5n-3 (EPA)	$239 \pm 4.95^{b}$	$4.83\pm0.10^{b}$	$241\pm7.24^{b}$	$5.37\pm0.16^{b}$	$416 \pm 14.6^a$	$8.32\pm0.29^{a}$
C22:5n-3 (DPA)	$71.3\pm3.00^{b}$	$1.44\pm0.06^{b}$	$70.3\pm3.30^{b}$	$1.57\pm0.07^{b}$	$133\pm9.78^a$	$2.66\pm0.20^{a}$
C22:6n-3 (DHA)	$840\pm68.8$	$17.0\pm1.39^{b}$	$934 \pm 16.3$	$20.9 \pm 0.36^a$	$825\pm49.2$	$16.5\pm0.98^{b}$
EPA + DHA	$1079\pm63.9$	$21.8 \pm 1.29^{\text{b}}$	$1175\pm23.6$	$26.2\pm0.53^{a}$	$1241\pm62.5$	$24.8 \pm 1.25^{ab}$
n-3 PUFA	$1191\pm56.3^{b}$	$24.1 \pm 1.14^{\text{b}}$	$1296{\pm}21.6^{ab}$	$28.9\pm0.48^{a}$	$1453\pm69.5^{\rm a}$	29.1 ±1.39 <sup>a</sup>
n-3 / n-6	1.45	± 0.14	1.64 ±	± 0.01	1.42 ±	= 0.09

Table 3.8. Filet fatty acid composition of rainbow trout fed experimental diets for 52 weeks\*.

\*Values are mean  $\pm$  SE (n = 3 tanks per treatment) except for diet 2 (n = 2) in the same row that share the same superscript or absence of superscripts is not statistically different (P > 0.05).

Seeme	Distal intestine			
Score	Inflammation	Absorptive vacuoles		
1	Normal	Normal		
2	Mildly increased	Mildly reduced in size and/or number		
3	Moderately increased	Moderately reduced in size and/or number		
4	Markedly increased	Markedly reduced in size and/or number		
5	Severely increased	Severely reduced in size and/or number		
	Liver			
Score	Glycogen vacuolation	Inflammation (perivascular & focal) and nuclear vacuoles		
1	Minimal vacuolation	Normal		
2	Moderately decreased	Mildly increased		
3	Normal	Moderately increased		
4	Moderately increased	Markedly increased		
5	Severely increased	Severely increased		

Table 3.9. Criteria used for the histological evaluation of the distal intestine and liver of rainbow trout at the end of feeding trial



Figure 3.1. Mean body weight over time of rainbow trout fed experimental diets differing in oil source for 52 weeks.



Figure 3.2. Principal component analysis (PCA) of the non-specific immune response parameters (A) and the fillet fatty acid composition (B) of rainbow trout fed experimental diets for 52 weeks. Abbreviations: NBT, nitro-blue tetrazolium; SOD, superoxide dismutase; CAT, catalase; DisInt AV, distal intestine absorptive vacuoles; DisInt Inf, distal intestine inflammation; Liver PI, liver perivascular inflammation; Liver FI, liver focal inflammation; Liver NV, liver nuclear vacuoles; Liver GV, liver glycogen vacuolation.



Figure 3.3. Relative mRNA expression (normalized against *arp*) of genes involved in elongation (*elovl2* and *elovl5*), desaturation ( $\Delta 5fad$  and  $\Delta 6fad$ ) and  $\beta$ -oxidation (*acox*) in liver of rainbow trout fed experimental diets for 52 weeks. Mean  $\pm$  SE (n = 9 fish per treatment except diet 2, n = 6) in the same row that share the same superscript are not statistically different (P > 0.05). Three fish from each tank were used for gene expression. Abbreviations: *elovl2*: Elongation of very long chain fatty acids-like 2; *elovl5*: Elongation of very long chain fatty acids-like 5;  $\Delta 5fad$ : Delta-5 fatty acid desaturase;  $\Delta 6fad$ : Delta-6 fatty acid desaturase



Figure 3.4. Relative mRNA expression (normalized against Arp) of genes involved in elongation (*elovl2* and *elovl5*), desaturation ( $\Delta 5fad$  and  $\Delta 6fad$ ) and  $\beta$ -oxidation (*acox*) in muscle of rainbow trout fed experimental diets for 52 weeks. Mean  $\pm$  SE (n = 9 fish per treatment except diet 2, n = 6) in the same row that share the same superscript are not statistically different (P > 0.05). Three fish from each tank were used for gene expression. Abbreviations: *elovl2*: Elongation of very long chain fatty acids-like 2; *elovl5*: Elongation of very long chain fatty acids-like 5;  $\Delta 5fad$ : Delta-5 fatty acid desaturase;  $\Delta 6fad$ : Delta-6 fatty acid desaturase

## Chapter 4:

# Effects of Dietary Arachidonic acid on the Early-Stage Growth Performance, Oxidative Stress and Inflammatory Responses of Rainbow Trout to Hypoxia at two Different Temperatures

Jeongwhui Hong<sup>1</sup>, and Brian C. Small<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Aquaculture Research Institute, Hagerman Fish Culture Experiment Station, University of Idaho, Hagerman, ID, 83332, United States,

\*Corresponding Author: Brian C. Small

Aquaculture Research Institute, Hagerman Fish Culture Experiment Station, University of Idaho, Hagerman, ID, 83332, United States

Email: bcsmall@uidaho.edu

The following chapter is being prepared as an article for submission to the journal Aquaculture

#### Abstract

The objective of the study was to evaluate the effect of dietary arachidonic acid (ARA) on growth performance, blood biochemical parameters, and antioxidant and inflammatory responses to hypoxia and elevated water temperature in rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss. Four isonitrogenous (51% crude protein), isolipidic (15% crude lipid), and isocaloric (23 MJ/kg) diets were produced, ARA 0 (linseed oil, i.e., the control diet), and three other diets with graded levels of ARA (ARA-L: 3.95%, ARA-M: 7.67, and ARA-H: 14.8% of total fatty acids), and fed throughout this three phase study. In Phase 1, rainbow trout fry  $(0.17 \pm 0.01)$  were fed to apparent satiation six times a day for 8 weeks to assess early growth performance and feed utilization. Phase 2 continued to evaluate growth performance and feed utilization for another 16 weeks. In Phase 3, fish were raised to approximately 200 g with continued feeding of their respective dietary treatments and exposed to hypoxia at normal (15°C) and elevated (21°C) temperatures. At both 8 weeks (Phase 1) and 24 weeks (Phase 2) the feeding trial demonstrated that dietary ARA did not affect rainbow trout fry and juvenile growth performance and feed utilization (P > 0.05). However, Phase 3 demonstrated that ARA supplementation increased the activities of superoxide dismutase (SOD), lysozyme, prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub>, and decreased cortisol levels in plasma, all of which were increased in response to hypoxia (P < 0.05). SOD and catalase showed an increase with elevated temperature. Two-way and three-way interactions between ARA and hypoxia, and ARA, hypoxia, and temperature were observed for cortisol. The inclusion of ARA in diets affected none of the blood biochemical parameters. Partial pressure carbon dioxide ( $pCO_2$ ), sodium, glucose, hematocrit, and hemoglobin levels were affected by hypoxia. Whole blood of fish reared at 21°C revealed increased pCO<sub>2</sub>, sodium, and glucose levels. The expressions of cyclooxygenase-2 (cox-2), lipoxygenase (lox), interleukin-8 (il-8), and tumor necrosis factor-alpha (*tnf-\alpha*) were significantly upregulated, whereas interleukin-10 (*il-10*) was significantly downregulated in response to hypoxia. The expression level of transforming growth factor beta  $(tgf-\beta)$  showed upregulation as the ARA inclusion level increased (P < 0.05), suggesting that ARA had an anti-inflammatory effect. Taken together, dietary ARA appears to improve immune function and reduce the inflammatory response in following hypoxia and elevated water temperature.

## Introduction

Long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids (LC-PUFA) are essential dietary components for fish growth, development, and immune function (Torrecillas et al., 2018; Tian et al., 2014; Kiron et al., 2011). Concerning their major physiological roles, the last few decades have focused on n-3 LC-PUFA, mainly docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) and eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA), due to their level of inclusion in cell membranes. However, it is becoming increasingly urgent for the aquafeed industry to replace fish oil in finfish feeds. Aquaculture's rapid growth and a diminishing supply of fish oil has led to a significant amount of research over the last decade conducted to replace fish oil with alternative lipid sources, primarily vegetable oils, which are more ARA deficient than fish oil.

ARA has a variety of physiological functions, one of the most important of which is that it serves as a primary precursor to several eicosanoids, such as prostaglandins, thromboxane, and leukotriene, produced via pathways of cyclooxygenase and lipoxygenase enzymes (Lund et al., 2008). Eicosanoids play crucial roles throughout the life cycle as they are involved in several physiological processes including growth and development, immune function, stress and inflammatory responses, and reproduction (Sargent et al., 1995; Bell and Sargent 2003; Tocher, 2003; Xu et al., 2022). However, in regard to fish growth, published studies report contradictory results as to whether dietary ARA has a significant effect.

Studies on Atlantic salmon (Dantagnan et al., 2016), barramundi (Salini et al., 2016), grass carp (Tian et al., 2014; Tian et al., 2017), and Malabar red snapper (Chee et al., 2020) showed no significant effects of ARA on growth performance. On the other hand, studies on juvenile cobia (Araújo et al., 2019), juvenile European sea bass (Torrecillas et al., 2017), golden pompano (Qi et al., 2016), and rabbitfish (Nayak et al., 2017) showed that dietary ARA significantly impacted growth performance. Taken together from the studies mentioned above, it is worth noting that primarily high-trophic level species require dietary ARA, whereas low-trophic level species, such as grass carp, do not require dietary ARA in their diets.

ARA is also known to be involved in controlling inflammatory cytokine release due to its essential role as a precursor of eicosanoids (Calder, 2006; Furne et al., 2013; Torrecillas et al., 2017). However, little information has been reported for fish regarding the effects of dietary ARA on inflammation. In a study with rainbow trout, Hong et al. (2022) reported

increased intestinal inflammation and phagocytic oxidative radical production in the distal intestine of rainbow trout fed diets high in ARA (Hong et al., 2022). Despite the fact that n-6 polyunsaturated fatty acid derivatives are generally known to release pro-inflammatory cytokines (Xu et al., 2022), recently reported fish studies have shown that they can also be associated with releasing anti-inflammatory cytokines (Tian et al., 2019; Nayak et al., 2020, Rivero-Ramirez et al., 2020).

With the advancement of aquaculture and the growing demand for seafood in recent years, the scale of intensive aquaculture systems has rapidly expanded. However, highdensity fish farming can be stressful to fish, and presents a risk for water quality deterioration. In fact, hypoxia is one of the most common environmental factors that can lead to mortality and retarded growth. During hypoxia, free radicals are produced and accumulate in cells causing oxidative damage (Lushchak, 2011; Zhao et al., 2020). Oxidative stress due to persistent overproduction of ROS accelerates cellular damage and maintains activation of inflammation that triggers the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as interleukin-8 (*il-8*) and tumor necrosis factor alpha (*tnf-a*) (Bonga and Wendelaar, 1997; Hyo-Yeon et al., 2011; Jia et al., 2014).

Elevated water temperature can compound the effects of low dissolved oxygen in the water, and can itself negatively affect the fish's physiology. Among the many effects of elevated water temperature, structural changes in the cell membranes and reduced nutrient digestibility have been associated with inhibiting the growth performance of fish (Tocher 2003; Norambuena et al., 2016). Fluidity of the cell membrane is heavily dependent on the fatty acid and phospholipid composition and their associated melting temperatures (Tocher et al., 2004; Araújo et al., 2021). As such, higher levels of dietary ARA are expected to impact cell fluidity and function. It has been reported that rainbow trout can tolerate temperatures between 4°C and 20°C, although the optimum temperature range for growth is very narrow, 15–16°C (Jalabert and Fostier, 2010). At levels above 20°C, ARA is likely to impact cell membrane composition, which may in turn impact growth and likely the inflammatory response (Norambuena et al., 2016).

Despite the importance of ARA involvement in fish physiological functions, relevant information on immune and inflammatory responses is mostly lacking. Thus, the present study was conducted to investigate the effects of graded levels of dietary ARA on growth performance of juvenile rainbow trout from first feeding and the oxidative stress and inflammatory responses of juvenile rainbow trout to hypoxia at optimal and elevated temperatures (15 and 21°C).

## **Materials and Methods**

## Experimental Diets

Four experimental diets were prepared and extruded (Bozeman Fish Technology Center, Bozeman, MT) in various sizes from #1 to 2.5 mm, and were formulated to be isonitrogenous, isolipidic, and isocaloric. The four diets were as follows: ARA 0 (linseed oil, *i.e.*, the control diet), and three other diets with graded levels of ARA oil (ARA-L: 3.95 %, ARA-M: 7.67 and ARA-H: 14.8% of total fatty acids). The desired ARA content was accomplished with a high ARA oil obtained from *Mortierella alpina* (Cabio Biotech, Wuhan, China), which contains a minimum of 40% ARA of total fatty acids. Linseed oil was used in the experimental diets to meet the fatty acid requirements for rainbow trout (NRC, 2011). The proximate and fatty acid composition of experimental diets are shown in Tables 4.1 and 4.2, respectively.

## Fish, Feeding Trial and Experimental design

The feeding trial was conducted in three phases at the University of Idaho' Hagerman Fish Culture Experiment Station in Hagerman, Idaho. All fish handling and sampling, plus the experimental protocols used in this study, were approved in advance by the University of Idaho's Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC-2021-18).

For Phase 1, rainbow trout eggs were obtained from a commercial supplier. Eggs were reared in a flow-through system supplied with spring water at 15°C. Rainbow trout swim-up fry (initial body weight:  $0.17 \pm 0.01$  g) were randomly stocked into each of the twelve 35-L tanks at 120 fish per tank, and experimental diets were given to fish as the first meal. Constant temperature spring water (15°C) was supplied at 10-12 L min<sup>-1</sup> to each experimental tank. Each diet was assigned randomly to three tanks in a completely randomized design. Fish were hand-fed to apparent satiation six times per day, seven days per week, for eight weeks (56 days). Photoperiod was maintained at 14 h light: 10 h dark with fluorescent lights controlled by electric timers. At the end of Phase 1 (8 weeks) all the

fish were counted and weighed to calculate weight gain, specific growth rate, feed conversion ratio and percent survival.

For Phase 2, 50 fish were randomly selected from each tank from Phase 1 and distributed into twelve 145-L tanks according to dietary treatment (3 tanks/treatment). Phase 2 extended the growth experiment for another 16 weeks in the redistributed tanks. Fish were hand-fed to apparent satiation three times per day and photoperiod was again maintained at 14 h light: 10 h dark. After a total of 24 weeks, all the fish were again counted and weighed to calculate weight gain, specific growth rate, feed conversion ratio and percent survival. This concluded the assessment of dietary ARA effects on growth performance, as no differences in growth performance were observed.

The fish were then pooled by diet into four tanks and maintained on their respective experimental diets until moved to the recirculating aquaculture system (RAS) for the hypoxia X temperature experiment. During this period, the fish were reared under the same conditions as described for the growth experiment.

For Phase 3, fish  $(227 \pm 8.76 \text{ g body weight})$  were distributed into four tanks on two recirculating aquaculture systems (RAS) to evaluate the effect of dietary ARA on trout response to hypoxia and elevated water temperature. Prior to the acute hypoxia challenge, 40 fish per dietary treatment were split into two groups, 15°C and 21°C (1 tank/dietary treatment; 20 fish/tank). After fish were distributed in the RAS system, the water temperature of the 21°C group was gradually increased at a rate of 0.5°C/day, from  $15 \pm$ 0.01°C to  $21 \pm 0.05$ °C, whereas the 15°C group was maintained at  $15 \pm 0.01$ °C. Once system water temperature reached 21°C, the fish were acclimated for an additional 2 weeks. Fish in all tanks were then fasted for 24 hours, followed by a 10-minute acute hypoxic event (20% O<sub>2</sub> saturation) obtained by using a controlled injection of nitrogen gas into system water. A DO meter was used to continuously monitor DO, and nitrogen influx was adjusted accordingly. DO was reduced from 80 % O<sub>2</sub> saturation over 2 min. Then, the fish were at 20% saturation for another 8 min (10 min total stress challenge). After 10 minutes of exposure to hypoxia, DO levels in the tanks were gradually returned to normoxia by influx of O<sub>2</sub> into the tanks (80% O<sub>2</sub> saturation). Five fish per tank were sampled before and after hypoxia exposure and 1 h after recovery, respectively. Initially, these fish were anesthetized with tricaine methanesulfonate (MS-222, 100 mg L<sup>-1</sup>, buffered to pH 7.0) and blood was

collected from the caudal vasculature of fish with 1-ml heparinized syringes fitted with a 24G 1.5-inch needle. Blood gas and chemistry was measured immediately using i-STAT CG8+ cartridges (Abbot Laboratories, Nepean, Canada) from a drop of blood, and the remaining whole blood was centrifuged at 1000 x G for 10 min to collect plasma for analysis of cortisol, antioxidant enzyme activity, and non-specific immune parameters. The fish were then euthanized with a lethal dose of MS-222, and brain and head kidney were dissected for gene expression. Tissue samples were snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C until analysis.

#### Proximate and Fatty acid Analysis

Experimental feeds were analyzed for proximate composition and energy content. Feed samples were dried in a convection oven at 105°C for 12 h to determine moisture level according to AOAC (Association of Official Analytical Chemists) (2000). Dried samples were finely ground by mortar and pestle and analyzed for CP (total nitrogen × 6.25) using combustion method with a nitrogen determinator (Elemental nitrogen analyzer, Ronkonkoma, NY). Crude lipid was analyzed by subjecting samples to acid hydrolysis using an ANKOM HCL (ANKOM Technology, Macedon, NY) and extracting them with petroleum ether using an ANKOM XT15 extractor. Ash was analyzed by incineration at 550°C in a muffle furnace for 5h. The energy content of samples was determined using an isoperibol bomb calorimeter (Parr 6300, Parr Instrument Company Inc., Moline, IL).

The fatty acid composition of the diets was determined in line with modified AOAC method 991.39. Briefly, samples were dried for 5–6 h under an N<sub>2</sub> stream at 50°C (OA-SYS heating system, Organomation Associates, Inc., Berlin, MA, USA). Thereafter, 2mL of 0.5N NaOH was added for sample saponification at 70°C for 60min. Following sample cooling, the free fatty acids were methylated by the addition of 2mL 14% BF3 (Boron trifluoride) in methanol and incubated at 70°C for 60min. After the samples were allowed to cool, 2mL of hexane was added, inverted repeatedly for 60 s, and 1mL of saturated NaCl was added. The samples were again inverted repeatedly for 60 s and then centrifuged at 2000 × G for 5min. An aliquot (100  $\mu$ L) of the clarified hexane extract was diluted in hexane (1:10) and put into autosampler vials for gas chromatography analysis. The injection mode with a helium flow

rate and the column temperature was as described by Overturf et al. (2013). All the analyses were done in duplicate.

## Antioxidant, Non-specific Immune Assays and Prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub> Analysis

Commercially available kits (Cayman Chemical, Ann Arbor, Michigan) were used to measure superoxide dismutase (SOD) (Itemno: 706002) and catalase (CAT) (Item no: 707002) activities at 25°C. SOD activity was determined at 450 nm based on xanthine and xanthine oxidase to produce superoxide radicals. SOD activity was measured based on the inhibition rate of this reaction. One unit of SOD activity is equal to 50% inhibition of decrease in 2-(4-iodophenyl)-3-(4nitrophenole)- 5-phenyltetrazolium chloride according to the experimental conditions. CAT activity was measured by determining the decrease in absorbance of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> at 540 nm. The reaction mixture containing 50mM K-phosphate buffer (pH 6.5) and 50mM H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> was diluted in 80mM K-phosphate buffer (pH 6.5). Calculation of activity was done by determining the extinction coefficient for H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> (a = 40 M<sup>-1</sup> cm<sup>-1</sup>).

Lysozyme activity (LYS) in plasma was analyzed with a lysozyme assay kit (Sigma-Aldrich). Micrococcus lysodeikticus (0.75 mg mL<sup>-1</sup>) was suspended in phosphate buffer (0.1 M, pH 6.24), 800 uL of suspension was placed in each well of 48-well plates, and 30  $\mu$ L plasma was added subsequently. The reduction in absorbance of the samples was recorded at 450 nm after incubation at room temperature for 0 and 30min in a microplate reader (Infinite® m200 PRO, Tecan Trading AG, Switzerland). A reduction in absorbance of 0.001 min<sup>-1</sup> was regarded as one unit of lysozyme activity.

The levels of prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub> (PGE<sub>2</sub>) and cortisol (COR) in plasma were measured using a specific kit (Cayman monoclonal Competitive Enzyme Immunoassay (ELISA) kit, Cat. No 514010, Cayman Chemicals, MI, USA) and cortisol ELISA assay kit (DRG International Inc., Springfield, NJ) according to the manufacturer's instructions, respectively.

## Blood Biochemical Parameters

Blood samples were evaluated with the i-STAT Portable Clinical Analyzer (Abbot Laboratories) and CG8+ cartridges (Abbott Laboratories). After collecting whole blood, the needle was removed and one drop of whole blood was dispensed to the CG8+ cartridge, followed by sealing the cartridge port, and inserting the cartridge into the i-STAT Portable

Clinical Analyzer. This CG8+ cartridge provides values of sodium (Na, mmol/L), potassium (K, mmol/L), ionized calcium (iCa, mmol/L), glucose (Glu, mg/dL), hematocrit (Hct, % Packed Cell Volume [PCV]), pH, partial pressure carbon dioxide (PCO<sub>2</sub>, mm Hg), partial pressure oxygen (PO<sub>2</sub>, mm Hg), oxygen saturation (sO<sub>2</sub>,%), and hemoglobin (Hb, g/dL).

## RNA Extraction and Quantitative PCR

Total RNA was isolated from brain and head kidney using TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) extraction method following the manufacturer's suggested protocol. Purity and quantity of extracted RNA were assessed by Nanodrop ND-1000 spectrophotometer (260/230 and 260/280 ratios >1.8).

Extracted RNA was treated with DNAse, then 1 µg of total RNA was reverse transcribed using the iScript<sup>TM</sup> cDNA Synthesis kit (BioRad, Hercules, CA). Real-time quantitative PCR was carried out on a CFX96 Real-Time System (BioRad) in 10 µL total volume reactions using iTaq SYBR Green Supermix (BioRad) and 500 nmol primers according to the protocol provided by the manufacturer. PCR cycling conditions for all genes were as follows: 95°C for 5 s followed by 55°C for 30s over 40 cycles with an initial denaturation step of 95°C for 3min. For each fish, PCR reactions were run in duplicate. Relative expression values for genes constituting the pro- and anti-inflammatory response and conversion of ARA to eicosanoids, including tumor necrosis factor alpha  $(tnf-\alpha)$ , interleukin-8 (*il-8*), transforming growth factor beta ( $tgf-\beta$ ), interleukin-10 (*il-10*), cyclooxygenase (cox), and lipoxygenase (lox) were determined using primers designed from rainbow trout sequences in the NCBI database. Primer sequences for genes are given in Table 4.3. The two reference genes, elongation factor  $1\alpha$  (*ef1a*) and actin related protein (arp) were used to calculate the geometric mean of the two reference genes evaluated. Primer PCR efficiency was calculated for each primer set using a six-step serial dilution of a pooled sample (pooled from each experimental sample for a given tissue). Data were analyzed using the relative quantification method, including efficiency correction following the method of Pfaffl (2001).

## Calculation and Statistical Method

Using the live-weight and feed consumption data, the following indices were calculated.

Weight gain (WG, g / fish)

= (g mean final weight–g mean initial weight)

Specific growth rate (SGR, % / d)

= [(Ln mean final weight–Ln mean initial weight)/number of days] x 100

Survival (%)

= (number of fish at the end of the trial/number of fish at the beginning) x 100

Average feed intake (FI, g / fish)

= g total dry feed intake/number of surviving fish

Feed conversion ratio (FCR)

= g total feed consumed / (g final biomass – g initial biomass + g dead fish weight)

Statistical analysis of growth performance and feed utilization results from Phase 1 and Phase 2 used tank mean values (n=3) with a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) to identify differences between the dietary treatments. If significant differences were found, data were subjected to Tukey's HSD test to separate the means at a significance level of P <0.05. Individual fish data were used for evaluating statistical differences in Phase 3, regarding blood gas and biochemical parameters, gene expression, and plasma levels of nonspecific immune parameters, cortisol and prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub> (n=5). For these analyses, differences were tested by either one-way or multi-factorial ANOVA followed by the Tukey's HSD test to separate the means at a significance level of P < 0.05. All the data were tested for normality and homogeneity of variance prior to one-way or multi-factorial ANOVA. SPSS (Version 21 for Window; IBM SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) was used for all statistical analyses.

## **Results**

#### Growth Performance and Feed Utilization

The growth performance and feed utilization of fish during Phase 1 (swim-up) and Phase 2 (juvenile) stages are presented in Table 4.3 and 4.4, respectively. There were no significant differences among dietary ARA treatments (P > 0.05) for final weight (Phase 1: 6.46 - 7.14; Phase 2: 47.9 - 52.4 g), SGR, feed intake, FCR, and survival (Phase 1: 94.7 - 95.6; Phase 2: 82.7 - 91.3 %).

#### Antioxidant, Non-specific Immune Assays and Prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub> Analysis

The results of the non-specific immune assays are presented in Table 4.6. The increase of ARA level from 0.10 to 14.8 (% of total fatty acid) significantly increased the activities of SOD, LYS, and PGE<sub>2</sub> concentration (P < 0.05). However, increasing levels of ARA resulted in significant reduction in COR level. Hypoxia resulted in increased levels of SOD, LYS, PGE<sub>2</sub>, and COR. Increasing temperature from 15°C to 21°C significantly increased SOD and CAT activities, with the highest level observed at 21°C; however, temperature did not affect the activity of LYS and PGE<sub>2</sub> concentration. A two-way interactive effect of ARA level and hypoxia was obtained on COR concentration (P < 0.05). Furthermore, a three-way interaction (P = 0.003) of ARA level, hypoxia, and temperature was also detected for COR. There were no three-way interactive effects of ARA, hypoxia, and temperature on SOD, CAT, SYS, and PGE<sub>2</sub>.

## **Blood Biochemical Parameters**

The effect of four levels of dietary ARA (0.10, 3.95, 7.67, and 14.8 % total fatty acid), three hypoxic conditions (normoxia, hypoxia, and 1h recovery), and two different water temperatures (15°C and 21°C) on whole-blood biochemical parameters (pH, pCO<sub>2</sub>, PO<sub>2</sub>, sO<sub>2</sub>, Na, K, iCa, Glu, Hct, and Hb) are presented in Table 4.7. Dietary ARA levels did not influence any of the blood biochemical parameters in the current study. Regardless of dietary ARA levels, hypoxia and temperature impacted the levels of Na and Glu. Blood Na levels were significantly reduced in response to hypoxia whereas an increased level was observed at elevated temperature. Blood Glu levels were significantly increased as a result of hypoxia and elevated temperature (P < 0.05). With regards to Hct and Hb levels, only

hypoxia had significant independent effect. Blood pH, PO<sub>2</sub>, sO<sub>2</sub>, K, and iCa levels were not affected by any of the factors (P > 0.05)

## Gene Expression

Relative gene expression in the brain and head kidney of rainbow trout fed four experimental diets is presented in Table 4.8. Three main factors (ARA level, hypoxia, and temperature) independently affected the expression of *cox-2* in the brain, with its highest level observed in ARA-H group during hypoxia phase at 21°C, but no interactive effects were detected. With regards to *lox* expression in the brain, only ARA level had significant independent effect (P < 0.05), but a two-way interactive effect between ARA level and temperature was observed. Two main factors, ARA level and hypoxia, independently impacted the expression levels of *lox, il-8*, and *tnf-a*, demonstrating that both dietary ARA and hypoxic condition increased the expression of those genes. Although only the expression of *il-10* was unaffected by ARA level, hypoxia decreased the expression level of *tgf-β* was recorded in fish fed the ARA-M or ARA-H diet. A three-way interaction was not observed in relative gene expression involved in inflammatory response (P > 0.05).

## Discussion

Most studies in fish examining the effects of ARA on growth and health have been performed in marine fish species due to their limited ability to bioconvert linoleic acid (LA) to ARA. However, as reported in a recent review paper (Xu et al., 2022), high-trophic level fish species have considerably lower ARA levels than low-trophic species in muscle and liver tissues, such as muscle and liver, which suggests that the capacity of bioconversion may be due to their trophic level. In addition, numerous aquaculture species, mainly marine fish, rely on live feed for morphogenesis at early developmental stages (Rønnestad et al., 2013; Boglino et al., 2014). Most common live feeds used for larval development (i.e., rotifer and *Artemia*) are known to be high in ARA, suggesting that ARA could be a crucial fatty acid at the early developmental stages of fish. Currently, the literature integrating ARA and health in fish is lacking, with studies primarily conducted using live feeds on growth, survival, and stress response. Therefore, we hypothesized that dietary ARA in swim-up (first-

feeding) rainbow trout would affect fish growth performance and feed utilization. It was also hypothesized that a continuous supply of ARA would provide protective effects against stressors that fish could easily encounter, such as hypoxia and high temperature.

In the current study, the growth performance and survival were unaffected by dietary ARA levels at the end of both the Phase 1 (swim-up to 8 weeks) and Phase 2 feeding trial (8 -24 weeks), evidencing that dietary ARA neither negatively nor positively affected early development and growth of rainbow trout. These results are in line with findings from various fish species such as Atlantic cod Gadus morhua (Lie et al., 2016), yellowtail flounder *Limanda ferruginea* (Copeman et al., 2002), and gilthead seabream *Sparus aurata* (Martin et al., 2012). On the other hand, studies with European seabass Dicentrarchus labrax (Atalah et al., 2011), Japanese flounder *Paralichthys olivaceus* (Esteves et al., 1997), and summer flounder Paralichthys dentatus (Willey et al., 2003) showed that dietary ARA promoted growth performance of fish larvae. Further, some of these studies also showed that an oversupply of dietary ARA inhibited fish growth. These studies demonstrate that the impact of ARA on growth performance displays conflicting results and appears to segregate on whether evaluation occurs in freshwater or marine fish species. However, controversial results were observed among studies, even for the same species. For instance, although many studies in Senegalese soles did not show a significant effect of dietary ARA on growth, Boglino et al. (2012) found that dietary ARA contributed to growth improvement during the Artemia feeding period. Most of the studies mentioned above used live feeds, mainly Artemia, with very few employing microdiets. The most significant benefit of using microdiets is that narrows possible effects of ARA by eliminating other confounding factors, such as the presence of EPA or DHA in live feeds, which are known to modulate the effects of ARA (Norambuena et al., 2016).

The non-specific immune system serves as the first line of defense, protecting against oxidative stress, eventually leading to cellular damage (Martínez-Álvarez et al., 2005). In the current study, SOD, LYS, PGE2, and cortisol levels in the plasma of rainbow trout were affected by either ARA level, hypoxia, or temperature. The mechanism by which ARA influences non-specific immunity is known via activation of the pathway of eicosanoid production (Rowley et al., 1995). Among several types of eicosanoids, leukotriene B4, an ARA-derived mediator, plays the central role in the production and release of lysosomal enzymes and superoxide in leukocytes (Samuelsson et al., 1983); therefore, dietary ARA supplementation enhances the activities of LYS, SOD, and CAT. With regards to PGE2, elevated levels were recorded with increasing levels of dietary ARA. PGE2 is a potent inflammatory eicosanoid derived from ARA generated by the action of the cox pathway (Bell and Sargent, 2003). An increase in this eicosanoid implies greater availability of ARA in the cell membrane of trout fed the three diets supplemented with ARA. In the current study, hypoxia significantly increased the results of all plasma assays except for CAT, and elevated temperature to 21°C resulted in a significant increase in SOD and CAT activities in the plasma of trout. It is well known that severe hypoxic conditions generally cause oxidative stress, inflammation, and immunosuppression (Zhao et al., 2020), thereby adversely affecting fish growth and health, resulting in economic loss. Moreover, the production of eicosanoids is initiated when fish are exposed to stressful conditions or diseases (Arts and Kohler, 2009). Increased water temperature and hypoxia are general challenges in the aquaculture industry that instantly affect fish growth, physiology, and immune response, and can result in fish death (Dan et al., 2014; Zhao et al., 2020).

During times of stress caused by environmental factors such as low dissolved oxygen or rising water temperature, the level of reactive oxygen species (ROS) rises rapidly, causing oxidative stress (Vinagre et al., 2012). This report is in line with our findings that elevated water temperature and hypoxic conditions increased the activity of antioxidantrelated enzymes. Interestingly, the cortisol concentration showed a tendency to decrease significantly as the inclusion of dietary ARA increased. Several studies have documented that n-6 LC-PUFAs are involved in cortisol synthesis via the hypothalamic-pituitaryintrarenal cell (HPI) axis and stimulate cortisol release (Bell and Sargent, 2003; Koven et al., 2001). However, a recent study with European sea bass demonstrated that increased dietary levels of ARA induced a significant downregulation of genes in relation to cortisol synthesis, such as StAR and cytochrome 11 $\beta$ -hydroxylase (Montero et al., 2015), suggesting that mRNA levels of those genes contributed to lowering basal cortisol level as dietary ARA level increased in the diet, which is in agreement with our results. Another possible factor for decreased basal cortisol levels observed could be the high-dose ARA employed in this study and the duration of feeding. It must be noted that the fish used for hypoxia and hightemperature challenge were reared from first feeding to approximately 200 g on their

respective dietary treatments. In the current study, the high-dose ARA concentration was supplemented at a level comparable to other ARA supplementation experiments. Combining the results of several studies showing that ARA promotes PGE<sub>2</sub> production and decreases cortisol synthesis, it can be speculated that long-term feeding of high-dose ARA diets induced high cortisol synthesis throughout the entire feeding period, thereby repressing the HPI axis and consequently inducing allostatic overload, which takes place due to the cumulative effects of the chronic stress response, leading to health problems (Hundal et al., 2021).

Supplementation of ARA influences the antioxidant cascade and non-specific immunity (Nayak et al., 2017; Torrecillas et al., 2017), but little is known regarding its respiratory effects. Our results demonstrate that ARA has no effects on any of the biochemical parameters in whole blood of rainbow trout fed experimental diets; however, hypoxia and water temperature did affect some of the whole-blood parameters, including pH,  $pCO_2$ , Na, Glu, Hct, and Hb. Under hypoxic stress, fish typically reduce oxygen consumption by minimizing movement and increasing Hb levels, which enhances oxygen-carrying capacity (Abdel-Tawwab et al., 2019). In the present study, the effect of hypoxia to increase Hct and Hb concentrations in rainbow trout was significant, in line with studies with goldfish Carassius auratus (Roesner et al., 2008) and genetically improved tilapia Oreochromis *niloticus* (Sheng et al., 2019), showing that fish responded by raising the Hb concentration to increase the oxygen-binding capacity of trout blood. Blood Glu levels can also be an indicator of stress in fish (Pacheco and Santos, 2001). In the present study, increased glucose levels were recorded in the fish exposed to hypoxia and elevated water temperature, possibly due to enhanced glycogenolysis and gluconeogenenic reactions to fulfill the increased energy demand under stressful conditions (Shahjahan et al., 2018). The observed changes in Na concentrations were as expected. Blood inorganic ions such as sodium have often been used as stress biomarkers, primarily responsible for total osmolality in teleost (Sampaio and Freire, 2016). When fish are subjected to an acute stressor, an increase in epinephrine induces vasoconstriction and increased cardiac output, leading to an increase in gill diffusion capacity due to improved lamellae perfusion (Mazeaud and Mazeaud, 1981; Randall and Perry, 1992). The increased diffusion capacity increases ion transport in the gills and, thus,

alters blood osmolality, mainly circulating sodium concentration (McDonald and Milligan, 1997).

Studies on the inflammatory response as modulated by dietary ARA, more specifically its metabolites, are of great interest in mammals, whereas studies with fish are incredibly lacking. It is well established that the expression of *cox-2* and *lox* genes are directly linked to eicosanoid synthesis, derived from ARA (Funk, 2001). Interestingly, in the present study, the baseline levels (normoxia) of *cox-2* and *lox* gene expression were unaffected by the ARA content of the diets. According to the finding of Holen et al. (2015), ARA added alone did not cause upregulated expression levels of cox-2 and lox, whereas the combination of EPA and ARA upregulated the expression of these genes (nonsignificantly) in Atlantic salmon head kidney cells. These results are contrary to the known fact that the cox enzymes have a high affinity for ARA as a substrate.

Compared to the terrestrial environment, the aquatic environment is a complex ecosystem with numerous environmental elements interacting with each other, and in particular, hypoxia can exacerbate oxidative stress along with high temperatures, leading to immunosuppression (Sun et al., 2020). This experiment shows that all the genes involved in the inflammatory response were upregulated in response to hypoxia, except for *il*-8 and *tnf*- $\alpha$ , which shows that the inflammatory response and oxidative stress are closely related. These effects associated with hypoxia were strongly evidenced by Zhao et al. (2020). The authors conducted a study with largemouth bass Micropterus salmoides and observed upregulated antioxidant-related genes such as Cu/ZnSOD, CAT, and glutathione peroxidase, inflammatory genes including *il-1* $\beta$  and *il-8*, as well as downregulation of an anti-inflammatory gene (*il-10*) when exposed to hypoxia, together confirming that hypoxia exposure initiated the inflammation process. In the present study, all the genes involved in eicosanoid production (cox-2 and lox) and pro-inflammation (il-8 and tnf- $\alpha$ ) were upregulated in response to hypoxia, indicating that hypoxia also induced a pro-inflammatory response in rainbow trout. Interestingly, although there was no difference in baseline expression levels, the head kidneys of fish fed ARA-supplemented diets showed a tendency of higher cox-2, lox, il-8, and *tnf-\alpha* expression levels during hypoxia and *il-8*, and *tnf-\alpha* were more prominent during the recovery phase. It is unclear what role ARA might play in relation to hypoxia, but based on our results, it can be speculated that the fish fed the ARA-supplemented diets reserve

higher ARA content in their cell membranes and releases more ARA under stress conditions, although this needs to be confirmed in further studies.

Both *il-10* and *tgf-β* are well-known anti-inflammatory markers that inhibit excessive activation of the pro-inflammatory responses (Koj, 1998). The significant up-regulation of *il-10* in our study after 1-h recovery from hypoxia suggests this protective mechanism also exists in fish. It is interesting to note that the expression of *tgf-β* was affected only by ARA levels, showing a tendency to increase as the dietary ARA level increased. In line with the results of the current study, ARA supplementation has been reported to alleviate intestinal inflammation caused by plant-based protein ingredients through increased expression of *tgf-* $\beta$ , as well as reduced pro-inflammatory cytokines such as *il-8* and *tnf-α* (Wei et al., 2021). These findings contradict the results of studies showing that ARA is pro-inflammatory. However, it remains unclear as to why ARA functioned as pro-inflammatory in some studies. It appears that the balance and content of ARA and EPA may be contributing factors in regulating pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory processes.

In conclusion, the present study demonstrated the importance of dietary ARA for antioxidant and inflammatory responses in rainbow trout, particularly in response to the oxidative stressor, hypoxia, and increased temperature. These findings provide new insights into the role of ARA in aquafeeds, and support further exploration of ARA to support oxidative stress in fish, especially in the context of current aquaculture efforts to replace fish oil.
## **Literature Cited**

- Abdel-Tawwab, M., Monier, M.N., Hoseinifar, S.H. and Faggio, C., 2019. Fish response to hypoxia stress: growth, physiological, and immunological biomarkers. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry, 45(3), pp.997-1013.
- Araújo, B.C., Honji, R.M., Rombenso, A.N., de Souza, G.B., de Mello, P.H., Hilsdorf,
  A.W.S. and Moreira, R.G., 2019. Influences of different arachidonic acid levels and temperature on the growth performance, fatty acid profile, liver morphology and expression of lipid genes in cobia (*Rachycentron canadum*) juveniles. Aquaculture, 511, p.734245.
- Araújo, B.C., Rodriguez, M., Honji, R.M., Rombenso, A.N., del Rio-Zaragoza, O.B., Cano, A., Tinajero, A., Mata-Sotres, J.A. and Viana, M.T., 2021. Arachidonic acid modulated lipid metabolism and improved productive performance of striped bass (*Morone saxatilis*) juvenile under sub-to optimal temperatures. Aquaculture, 530, p.735939.
- Arts, M.T. and Kohler, C.C., 2009. Health and condition in fish: the influence of lipids on membrane competency and immune response. Lipids in Aquatic Ecosystems, pp.237-256.
- Atalah, E., Hernández-Cruz, C.M., Ganuza, E., Benítez-Santana, T., Ganga, R., Roo, J., Montero, D. and Izquierdo, M., 2011. Importance of dietary arachidonic acid for the growth, survival and stress resistance of larval European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) fed high dietary docosahexaenoic and eicosapentaenoic acids. Aquaculture Research, 42(9), pp.1261-1268.
- Bell, J.G. and Sargent, J.R., 2003. Arachidonic acid in aquaculture feeds: current status and future opportunities. Aquaculture, 218(1-4), pp.491-499.
- Boglino, A., Darias, M.J., Andree, K.B., Estévez, A. and Gisbert, E., 2014. The effects of dietary arachidonic acid on bone in flatfish larvae: the last but not the least of the essential fatty acids. Journal of Applied Ichthyology, 30(4), pp.643-651.

- Calder, P.C., 2006. n– 3 Polyunsaturated fatty acids, inflammation, and inflammatory diseases. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 83(6), pp.1505S-1519S.
- Cochrane, K., De Young, C., Soto, D. and Bahri, T., 2009. Climate change implications for fisheries and aquaculture. FAO Fisheries and Aquaculture Technical Paper, 530, p.212.
- Copeman, L.A., Parrish, C.C., Brown, J.A. and Harel, M., 2002. Effects of docosahexaenoic, eicosapentaenoic, and arachidonic acids on the early growth, survival, lipid composition and pigmentation of yellowtail flounder (*Limanda ferruginea*): a live food enrichment experiment. Aquaculture, 210(1-4), pp.285-304.
- Crooks, S.W. and Stockley, R.A., 1998. Leukotriene B4. The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology, 30(2), pp.173-178.
- Dan, X.M., Yan, G.J., Zhang, A.J., Cao, Z.D. and Fu, S.J., 2014. Effects of stable and dielcycling hypoxia on hypoxia tolerance, postprandial metabolic response, and growth performance in juvenile qingbo (*Spinibarbus sinensis*). Aquaculture, 428, pp.21-28.
- Dantagnan, P., Gonzalez, K., Hevia, M., Betancor, M.B., Hernández, A.J., Borquez, A. and Montero, D., 2017. Effect of the arachidonic acid/vitamin E interaction on the immune response of juvenile Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) challenged against Piscirickettsia salmonis. Aquaculture Nutrition, 23(4), pp.710-720.
- Estevez, A., Ishikawa, M. and Kanazawa, A., 1997. Effects of arachidonic acid on pigmentation and fatty acid composition of Japanese flounder, *Paralichthys olivaceus* (Temminck and Schlegel). Aquaculture Research, 28(4), pp.279-289.
- Funk, C.D., 2001. Prostaglandins and leukotrienes: advances in eicosanoid biology. Science, 294(5548), pp.1871-1875.
- Furne, M., Holen, E., Araujo, P., Lie, K.K. and Moren, M., 2013. Cytokine gene expression and prostaglandin production in head kidney leukocytes isolated from Atlantic

cod (*Gadus morhua*) added different levels of arachidonic acid and eicosapentaenoic acid. Fish & Shellfish Immunology, 34(3), pp.770-777.

- Holen, E., He, J., Espe, M., Chen, L. and Araujo, P., 2015. Combining eicosapentaenoic acid, decosahexaenoic acid and arachidonic acid, using a fully crossed design, affect gene expression and eicosanoid secretion in salmon head kidney cells in vitro. Fish & Shellfish Immunology, 45(2), pp.695-703.
- Hong J, Bledsoe J.W., Overturf K.E., Lee S., Iassonova D. and Small BC (2022) LatitudeTM
  Oil as a Sustainable Alternative to Dietary Fish Oil in Rainbow Trout
  (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*): Effects on Filet Fatty Acid Profiles, Intestinal
  Histology, and Plasma Biochemistry. Front. Sustain. Food Syst. 6:837628. doi:
  10.3389/fsufs.2022.837628
- Huang, Z., Lin, H.Z., Zhao, S.Y., Xiao-Hong, T., Niu, J., Wang, J., Wang, Y., Zhou, C.P. and Qi, C.L., 2016. Effects of dietary arachidonic acid levels on growth performance, whole-body proximate composition, digestive enzyme activities and gut morphology of juvenile golden pompano *trachinotus*. Israeli Journal of Aquaculture-Bamidgeh, 68, p.20819.
- Hundal, B.K., Liland, N.S., Rosenlund, G., Höglund, E., Araujo, P., Stubhaug, I. and Sissener, N.H., 2021. Increasing the dietary n-6/n-3 ratio alters the hepatic eicosanoid production after acute stress in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Aquaculture, 534, p.736272.
- Jalabert, B. and Fostier, A., 2010. La truite arc-en-ciel: De la biologie à l'élevage. Editions Quae.
- Kiron, V., Thawonsuwan, J., Panigrahi, A., Scharsack, J.P. and Satoh, S., 2011. Antioxidant and immune defences of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) offered plant oils differing in fatty acid profiles from early stages. Aquaculture Nutrition, 17(2), pp.130-140.

- Koj, A., 1998. Termination of acute-phase response: role of some cytokines and antiinflammatory drugs. General Pharmacology: The Vascular System, 31(1), pp.9-18.
- Koven, W., Van Anholt, R., Lutzky, S., Ben-Atia, I., Gamsiz, K., Weiss, R. and Tandler, A., 2001. The importance of arachidonic acid, as a modulator of stress resistance through the hypothalamus–pituitary–interrenal axis, in different aged gilthead seabream larvae. Larvi, 2001, p.3rd.
- Lie, K.K., Kvalheim, K., Rasinger, J.D., Harboe, T., Nordgreen, A. and Moren, M., 2016.
   Vitamin A and arachidonic acid altered the skeletal mineralization in Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*) larvae without any interactions on the transcriptional level. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology, 191, pp.80-88.
- Lund, I., Steenfeldt, S.J., Banta, G., Hansen, B.W., 2008. The influence of dietary concentrations of arachidonic acid and eicosapentaenoic acid at various stages of larval ontogeny on eye migration, pigmentation and prostaglandin content of common sole larvae (*Solea solea L.*). Aquaculture 276, 143–153.
- Martínez-Álvarez, R.M., Morales, A.E. and Sanz, A., 2005. Antioxidant defenses in fish: biotic and abiotic factors. Reviews in Fish Biology and fisheries, 15(1), pp.75-88.
- Martins, D.A., Rocha, F., Martínez-Rodríguez, G., Bell, G., Morais, S., Castanheira, F., Bandarra, N., Coutinho, J., Yúfera, M. and Conceição, L.E., 2012. Teleost fish larvae adapt to dietary arachidonic acid supply through modulation of the expression of lipid metabolism and stress response genes. British Journal of Nutrition, 108(5), pp.864-874.
- Mazeaud, M.M. and Mazeaud, F., 1981. Adrenergic responses to stress in fish. Stress and Fish.
- McDonald, G. and Milligan, L., 1997. Ionic, osmotic and acid-base regulation in stress. Fish Stress and Health in Aquaculture, 62, pp.119-145.

- Montero, D., Terova, G., Rimoldi, S., Betancor, M.B., Atalah, E., Torrecillas, S., Caballero, M.J., Zamorano, M.J. and Izquierdo, M., 2015. Modulation of the expression of components of the stress response by dietary arachidonic acid in European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) larvae. Lipids, 50(10), pp.1029-1041.
- Nayak, S., Al Ashhab, A., Zilberg, D. and Khozin-Goldberg, I., 2020. Dietary supplementation with omega-6 LC-PUFA-rich microalgae regulates mucosal immune response and promotes microbial diversity in the zebrafish gut. Biology, 9(6), p.119.
- Nayak, S., Koven, W., Meiri, I., Khozin-Goldberg, I., Isakov, N., Zibdeh, M. and Zilberg, D., 2017. Dietary arachidonic acid affects immune function and fatty acid composition in cultured rabbitfish *Siganus rivulatus*. Fish & Shellfish Immunology, 68, pp.46-53.
- Norambuena, F., Rombenso, A. and Turchini, G.M., 2016. Towards the optimization of performance of Atlantic salmon reared at different water temperatures via the manipulation of dietary ARA/EPA ratio. Aquaculture, 450, pp.48-57.
- NRC (National Research Council), (2011). Nutrient Requirements of Fish and Shrimp. National Academy Press, Washington, DC, p. 110.
- Pfaffl, M. W. (2001). A new mathematical model for relative quantification in real-time RT– PCR. Nucl. Acids Res. 29, e45. doi: 10.1093/nar/29.9.e45
- Randall, D.J. and Ferry, S.F., 1992. 4 Catecholamines. In Fish physiology (Vol. 12, pp. 255-300). Academic Press.
- Rivero-Ramirez, F., Torrecillas, S., Betancor, M.B., Izquierdo, M.S., Caballero, M.J. and Montero, D., 2020. Effects of dietary arachidonic acid in European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) distal intestine lipid classes and gut health. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry, 46(2), pp.681-697.

- Roesner, A., Mitz, S.A., Hankeln, T. and Burmester, T., 2008. Globins and hypoxia adaptation in the goldfish, Carassius auratus. The FEBS journal, 275(14), pp.3633-3643.
- Rønnestad, I., Yúfera, M., Ueberschär, B., Ribeiro, L., Sæle, Ø. and Boglione, C., 2013.Feeding behaviour and digestive physiology in larval fish: current knowledge, and gaps and bottlenecks in research. Reviews in Aquaculture, 5, pp. S59-S98.
- Rowley, A.F., Knight, J., Lloyd-Evans, P., Holland, J.W. and Vickers, P.J., 1995.
  Eicosanoids and their role in immune modulation in fish—a brief overview. Fish & Shellfish Immunology, 5(8), pp.549-567.
- Salini, M.J., Wade, N.M., Araújo, B.C., Turchini, G.M. and Glencross, B.D., 2016. Eicosapentaenoic acid, arachidonic acid and eicosanoid metabolism in juvenile barramundi *Lates calcarifer*. Lipids, 51(8), pp.973-988.
- Sampaio, F.D. and Freire, C.A., 2016. An overview of stress physiology of fish transport: changes in water quality as a function of transport duration. Fish and Fisheries, 17(4), pp.1055-1072.
- Samuelsson, B., Dahlen, S.E., Lindgren, J.Å., Rouzer, C.A. and Serhan, C.N., 1987. Leukotrienes and lipoxins: structures, biosynthesis, and biological effects. Science, 237(4819), pp.1171-1176.
- Sargent, J.R., Bell, J.G., Bell, M.V., Henderson, R.J. and Tocher, D.R., 1995. Requirement criteria for essential fatty acids. *Journal of applied Ichthyology*, 11(3/4), pp.183-198.
- Shahjahan, M., Uddin, M., Bain, V. and Haque, M., 2018. Increased water temperature altered hemato-biochemical parameters and structure of peripheral erythrocytes in striped catfish *Pangasianodon* hypophthalmus. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry, 44(5), pp.1309-1318.
- Sheng, Y., Hua, Z.Y., Yang, Z., Wei, X.L., Sheng, Y.J., Jia, H.L. and Jun, Q., 2019. Effects of acute hypoxic stress on biochemical parameters, immune regulation and

metabolic capacity of the blood in genetically improved farmed tilapia (GIFT, *Oreochromis niloticus*). Journal of Applied Ichthyology, 35(4), pp.978-986.

- Snieszko, S.F., 1974. The effects of environmental stress on outbreaks of infectious diseases of fishes. Journal of Fish Biology, 6(2), pp.197-208.
- Sun, J.L., Zhao, L.L., Liao, L., Tang, X.H., Cui, C., Liu, Q., He, K., Ma, J.D., Jin, L., Yan, T. and Zhou, J., 2020. Interactive effect of thermal and hypoxia on largemouth bass (*Micropterus salmoides*) gill and liver: Aggravation of oxidative stress, inhibition of immunity and promotion of cell apoptosis. Fish & Shellfish Immunology, 98, pp.923-936.
- Tian, J., Ji, H., Oku, H. and Zhou, J., 2014. Effects of dietary arachidonic acid (ARA) on lipid metabolism and health status of juvenile grass carp, *Ctenopharyngodon idellus*. Aquaculture, 430, pp.57-65.
- Tian, J.J., Lei, C.X., Ji, H., Zhou, J.S., Yu, H.B., Li, Y., Yu, E.M. and Xie, J., 2019. Dietary arachidonic acid decreases the expression of transcripts related to adipocyte development and chronic inflammation in the adipose tissue of juvenile grass carp, *Ctenopharyngodon idella*. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part D: Genomics and Proteomics, 30, pp.122-132.
- Tocher, D.R., 2003. Metabolism and functions of lipids and fatty acids in teleost fish. Reviews in Fisheries Science, 11(2), pp.107-184.
- Tocher, D.R., Fonseca-Madrigal, J., Dick, J.R., Ng, W.K., Bell, J.G. and Campbell, P.J.,
  2004. Effects of water temperature and diets containing palm oil on fatty acid desaturation and oxidation in hepatocytes and intestinal enterocytes of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part B: Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, 137(1), pp.49-63.
- Torrecillas, S., Betancor, M.B., Caballero, M.J., Rivero, F., Robaina, L., Izquierdo, M. and Montero, D., 2018. Supplementation of arachidonic acid rich oil in European sea bass juveniles (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) diets: effects on growth performance,

tissue fatty acid profile and lipid metabolism. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry, 44(1), pp.283-300.

- Torrecillas, S., Román, L., Rivero-Ramírez, F., Caballero, M.J., Pascual, C., Robaina, L.,
  Izquierdo, M.S., Acosta, F. and Montero, D., 2017. Supplementation of
  arachidonic acid rich oil in European sea bass juveniles (*Dicentrarchus labrax*)
  diets: Effects on leucocytes and plasma fatty acid profiles, selected immune
  parameters and circulating prostaglandins levels. Fish & Shellfish
  Immunology, 64, pp.437-445.
- Vinagre, C., Madeira, D., Narciso, L., Cabral, H.N. and Diniz, M., 2012. Effect of temperature on oxidative stress in fish: lipid peroxidation and catalase activity in the muscle of juvenile seabass, *Dicentrarchus labrax*. Ecological Indicators, 23, pp.274-279.
- Wei, C., Liu, C., Wang, X., Zhou, H., Mai, K. and He, G., 2021. Dietary arachidonic acid supplementation improves the growth performance and alleviates plant protein-based diet-induced inflammation in juvenile turbot (*Scophthalmus maximus L.*). Aquaculture Nutrition, 27(2), pp.533-543.
- Willey, S., Bengtson, D.A. and Harel, M., 2003. Arachidonic acid requirements in larval summer flounder, *Paralichthys dentatus*. Aquaculture International, 11(1), pp.131-149.
- Xu, H., Meng, X., Wei, Y., Ma, Q., Liang, M. and Turchini, G.M., 2022. Arachidonic acid matters. Reviews in Aquaculture.
- Zhao, L., Cui, C., Liu, Q., Sun, J., He, K., Adam, A.A., Luo, J., Li, Z., Wang, Y. and Yang, S., 2020. Combined exposure to hypoxia and ammonia aggravated biological effects on glucose metabolism, oxidative stress, inflammation and apoptosis in largemouth bass (*Micropterus salmoides*). Aquatic Toxicology, 224, p.105514.

Zhao, L.L., Sun, J.L., Liang, J., Liu, Q., Luo, J., Li, Z.Q., Yan, T.M., Zhou, J. and Yang, S., 2020. Enhancing lipid metabolism and inducing antioxidant and immune responses to adapt to acute hypoxic stress in *Schizothorax prenanti*. Aquaculture, 519, p.734933.

Ingredients (%)	Diets						
ingreatents (70)	ARA 0	ARA-L	ARA-M	ARA-H			
Fish meal, white fish <sup>a</sup>	10	10	10	10			
PBM, feed grade <sup>b</sup>	10	10	10	10			
Blood meal, spray dried <sup>b</sup>	5.0	5.0	5.0	5.0			
Soy meal, sol ext. <sup>b</sup>	15	15	15	15			
Soy protein concentrate <sup>c</sup>	5.0	5.0	5.0	5.0			
Wheat gluten meal <sup>b</sup>	5.0	5.0	5.0	5.0			
Corn protein con., 75% CP <sup>d</sup>	15	15	15	15			
Wheat flour <sup>b</sup>	14	14	14	14			
L-Lysine HCL <sup>e</sup>	1.2	1.2	1.2	1.2			
DL-Methionine <sup>e</sup>	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0			
Monocalcium phosphate <sup>b</sup>	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.9			
Trace mineral mix, Trouw <sup>f</sup>	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1			
Vitamin Premix, ARS 702 <sup>g</sup>	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0			
Choline chloride (60%) <sup>h</sup>	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.6			
Stay C (35%) vitamin <sup>h</sup>	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2			
Linseed oil <sup>i</sup>	16	14.78	13.53	11.03			
ARA oil <sup>j</sup>	0.00	1.22	2.47	4.97			
Nutrients (% as-fed basis)							
Dry Matter	95.42	95.15	95.53	95.49			
Protein	51.4	51.8	51.6	51.5			
Fat	14.9	14.9	14.8	15.5			
Ash	4.95	4.96	5.00	5.02			
Gross energy (MJ/kg)	22.8	23.2	22.8	23.4			

Table 4.1. Formulation and proximate composition of the experimental diets (as fed).

<sup>a</sup> SeaPro 75, BioOregon Protein, Inc. Warrenton, OR, USA.

<sup>b</sup>Rangen Inc., Buhl, ID, USA.

<sup>c</sup> Profine VF, The Solae Company, St. Louis, MO, USA.

<sup>d</sup> Empyreal<sup>®</sup> 75, Cargill Corn Milling, Cargill, Inc., Blair, NE, USA.

<sup>e</sup> Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis MO, USA.

<sup>f</sup> US Fish and Wildlife Service Trace Mineral Premix #3 supplied the following (mg kg<sup>-1</sup> diet): Zn (as ZnSO4·7H2O), 75; Mn (as MnSO4), 20; Cu (as CuSO4·5H2O), 1.54; I (as KIO3), 10.

<sup>g</sup> Vitamin premix supplied the following per kg diet: vitamin A, 2.4 mg; vitamin D, 0.15 mg; vitamin E, 267 mg; vitamin K as menadione sodium bisulfite, 20 µg; thiamin as thiamin mononitrate, 32 mg; riboflavin, 64 mg; pyridoxine as pyridoxine-HCl, 64 mg; pantothenic acid as Ca-d-pantothenate, 192 mg; niacin as nicotinic acid, 240 mg; biotin, 0.56 mg; folic acid, 12 mg; vitamin B<sub>12</sub>, 50 µg; and inositol as meso-inositol, 400 mg.

<sup>h</sup> Skretting USA, Tooele, UT, USA.

<sup>i</sup> Barlean's Ferndale, WA, USA

<sup>j</sup> Cabio Biotech, Wuhan, China

#### Table 4.2. Analyzed fatty acid profile of the experimental diets.

	Diets							
	ARA 0	ARA-L	ARA-M	ARA-H				
C14:0	0.19	0.12	0.18	0.15				
C16:0	5.24	5.60	5.73	6.07				
C18:0	2.84	2.92	2.99	3.35				
C18:1n-9	20.7	18.6	17.6	16.5				
C18:2n-6	18.4	18.4	18.1	17				
C18:3n-3	39.2	36.3	32.4	25.9				
C20:4n-6	0.10	3.95	7.67	14.8				
C20:5n-3	0.99	1.09	1.09	0.96				
C22:6n-3	1.04	0.99	1.04	0.95				

	Diets							
_	ARA 0	ARA-L	ARA-M	ARA-H				
Initial weight (g)	$0.17\pm0.01$	$0.17\pm0.01$	$0.17\pm0.01$	$0.17\pm0.01$				
Final weight (g)	$7.14\pm0.68$	$6.81\pm0.17$	$6.87\pm0.36$	$6.46\pm0.20$				
Weight gain (g/fish)	$6.97 \pm 0.68$	$6.64\pm0.17$	$6.70\pm0.36$	$6.29\pm0.20$				
SGR (%/day) <sup>a</sup>	$6.07\pm0.15$	$6.00\pm0.04$	$6.01\pm0.09$	$5.91\pm0.05$				
Feed intake (g/fish)	$5.22\pm0.05$	$4.97\pm0.08$	$5.17\pm0.22$	$4.80\pm0.13$				
FCR <sup>b</sup>	$0.75\pm0.06$	$0.75\pm0.01$	$0.77\pm0.02$	$0.76\pm0.01$				
Survival (%)	$94.7 \pm 1.04$	$95.6 \pm 1.04$	$95.0\pm1.36$	$95.6 \pm 1.04$				

Table 4.3. Growth performance and feed utilization of rainbow trout swim-up fed for 8 weeks\*.

\*Values are mean  $\pm$  SE (n=3). In the same row, absence of superscripts is not statistically different (*P* > 0.05; Completely Randomized Design, One-way ANOVA; Tukey's HSD test).

<sup>a</sup>SGR: specific growth rate (% day<sup>-1</sup>)

<sup>b</sup>FCR: feed conversion ratio

	Diets							
	ARA 0	ARA-L	ARA-M	ARA-H				
Initial weight (g)	$7.16\pm0.28$	$7.17\pm0.12$	$7.08\pm0.29$	$6.89\pm0.34$				
Final weight (g)	$48.7\pm6.66$	$50.1\pm2.67$	$52.4\pm3.36$	$47.9 \pm 1.61$				
Weight gain (g/fish)	$41.6\pm6.58$	$42.9\pm2.71$	$45.3\pm3.62$	$41.0 \pm 1.94$				
SGR $(\%/day)^2$	$3.54\pm0.24$	$3.60\pm0.11$	$3.70\pm0.94$	$3.59\pm0.15$				
Feed intake (g/fish)	$31.9\pm3.10$	$30.4\pm2.03$	$30.8\pm0.69$	$28.6\pm2.50$				
FCR <sup>3</sup>	$0.79\pm0.14$	$0.71\pm0.09$	$0.68\pm0.06$	$0.70\pm0.06$				
Survival (%)	$82.7\pm5.73$	$88.7\pm6.60$	$91.3\pm0.94$	$90.0\pm 6.53$				

# Table 4.4. Growth performance and feed utilization of rainbow trout juvenile fed for 16 weeks after redistribution<sup>\*</sup>.

\*Values are mean  $\pm$  SE (n=3). In the same row, absence of superscripts is not statistically different (*P* > 0.05; Completely Randomized Design, One-way ANOVA; Tukey's HSD test).

<sup>a</sup>SGR: specific growth rate (% day<sup>-1</sup>)

<sup>b</sup>FCR: feed conversion ratio

Genes	Component	Sequences	Gene Accession NO	
;1.8	Forward	CTCGCAACTGGACTGACAAA	A 1270060	
<i>u</i> -0	Reverse	TGGCTGACATTCTGATGCTC	AJ213003	
tuf a	Forward	CACACTGGGCTCTTCTTCGT	NM_001124357.1	
ing-a	Reverse	CAAACTGACCTTACCCCGCT		
:1.10	Forward	CGACTTTAAATCTCCCATCGAC	AB118099	
11-10	Reverse	GCATTGGACGATCTCTTTCTTC		
	Forward	TCCGCTTCAAAATATCAGGG	V00202	
igj-p	Reverse	TGATGGCATTTTCATGGCTA	A99303	
	Forward	GGGCTTTGACATCCTCAACA	NIN 001124249 1	
<i>COX-2</i>	Reverse	CATCGGACAAGAACCCTTGA	NM_001124546.1	
low 5	Forward	CTGTCCTCCCTCTGTTCTATCT	NIM 001165225 1	
<i>l0x-3</i>	Reverse	AGCATTCTGTAGGACGCTAATG	NM_001103223.1	
	Forward	GAAGGCTGTGGTGCTCAT	VM 021610240 2	
arp	Reverse	CAGGGCAGGGTTCTC	AWI_021010240.2	
alfla	Forward	ATGCCCCCAAGTTCCTGAAG	NIM 001124220 1	
eyra	Reverse	AACAGCAACAGTCTGCCTCA	11111_001124559.1	

Table 4.5. Primers sequences used in real-time qPCR for the determination of gene expression.

	SOD <sup>a</sup>	CAT <sup>b</sup>	LYS <sup>c</sup>	$PGE_2^d$	COR <sup>e</sup>
Means of main effects					
ARA level (% of total FA)					
0.10	5.39 <sup>b</sup>	53.6	110 <sup>c</sup>	116 <sup>d</sup>	15.9ª
3.95	5.46 <sup>ab</sup>	52.5	126 <sup>b</sup>	158°	13.6 <sup>b</sup>
7.67	5.68ª	44.5	135 <sup>b</sup>	173 <sup>b</sup>	11.3 <sup>c</sup>
14.8	5.68ª	57.4	147 <sup>a</sup>	190 <sup>a</sup>	10.0 <sup>d</sup>
Нурохіа					
Normoxia	5.24 <sup>b</sup>	49.2	114 <sup>b</sup>	147°	9.65 <sup>c</sup>
Нурохіа	5.64 <sup>a</sup>	55.8	138ª	159 <sup>b</sup>	17.6 <sup>a</sup>
1h recovery	5.77ª	51.0	137ª	175 <sup>a</sup>	10.8 <sup>b</sup>
Temperature					
15°C	5.45 <sup>b</sup>	42.6 <sup>b</sup>	131	161	12.7
21°C	5.65 <sup>a</sup>	61.4ª	128	158	12.7
Multi factors ANOVA (P Value)					
ARA level	0.002	0.184	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001
Нурохіа	< 0.001	0.419	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001
Temperature	0.003	< 0.001	0.123	0.210	0.817
ARA level × Hypoxia	0.957	0.147	0.672	0.904	< 0.001
ARA level × Temperature	0.783	0.518	0.702	0.170	0.178
Hypoxia × Temperature	0.645	0.903	0.757	0.100	0.148
ARA level × Hypoxia × Temperature	0.837	0.445	0.314	0.890	0.003

Table 4.6. Plasma non-specific immune responses, prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub>, and cortisol concentrations of rainbow trout fed the different ARA levels<sup>\*</sup>.

<sup>\*</sup>Main effect means followed by a different letter are significantly different at P < .05, emphasized by bold P values in the ANOVA table. <sup>a</sup>SOD, superoxide dismutase (%inhibition). <sup>b</sup>CAT, catalase activity (nmol min<sup>-1</sup> ml<sup>-1</sup>). <sup>c</sup>LYS, lysozyme activity (unit ml<sup>-1</sup> enzyme). <sup>d</sup>PGE<sub>2</sub>, prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub> (pg/ml). <sup>e</sup>COR, cortisol (ng ml<sup>-1</sup>).

	рН	pCO <sub>2</sub> (mmHg) <sup>a</sup>	PO <sub>2</sub> (mmHg) <sup>b</sup>	sO <sub>2</sub> (%) <sup>c</sup>	Na (mmol/L) <sup>d</sup>	K (mmol/L) <sup>e</sup>	iCa (mg/dL) <sup>f</sup>	Glu (mg/dL) <sup>g</sup>	Hct (%PCV) <sup>h</sup>	Hb (g/dL) <sup>i</sup>
Means of main effect	ts									
ARA levels										
0.10	6.89	29.8	8.43	4.71	144	3.95	1.54	77.5	25.4	8.77
3.95	6.93	29.7	9.20	5.45	146	3.57	1.53	80.2	24.0	8.54
7.67	6.93	29.0	8.74	6.10	145	3.75	1.47	68.8	23.8	8.33
14.8	6.93	29.8	9.22	5.55	145	3.94	1.57	77.5	24.7	8.21
Hypoxia										
Normoxia	6.94	27.8 <sup>b</sup>	9.07	5.10	145 <sup>ab</sup>	3.74	1.56	65.7 <sup>b</sup>	21.3 <sup>b</sup>	7.40 <sup>b</sup>
Hypoxia	6.90	29.5 <sup>ab</sup>	8.38	5.65	144 <sup>b</sup>	4.01	1.48	86.1ª	26.5 <sup>a</sup>	9.32ª
1h recovery	6.92	31.4 <sup>a</sup>	9.25	5.61	146 <sup>a</sup>	3.67	1.54	76.2 <sup>ab</sup>	25.5ª	8.66 <sup>a</sup>
Temperature										
15°C	6.91	25.4 <sup>b</sup>	8.36	5.03	144 <sup>b</sup>	3.91	1.55	70.9 <sup>b</sup>	24.7	8.40
21°C	6.94	33.7ª	9.43	5.87	146 <sup>a</sup>	3.70	1.50	81.0 <sup>a</sup>	25.2	8.52
Multi-factor ANOVA	l									
ARA level (A)	0.169	0.857	0.853	0.355	0.057	0.242	0.666	0.241	0.362	0.325
Hypoxia (H)	0.133	< 0.001	0.591	0.627	0.033	0.159	0.502	0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001
Temperature (T)	0.123	< 0.001	0.153	0.117	< 0.001	0.160	0.337	0.017	0.501	0.681
$\mathbf{A}  imes \mathbf{H}$	0.121	0.298	0.155	0.235	0.754	0.303	0.570	0.363	0.418	0.231
$\mathbf{A} \times \mathbf{T}$	0.630	0.152	0.670	0.640	0.114	0.600	0.072	0.820	0.101	0.556
$\mathbf{H}  imes \mathbf{T}$	0.084	0.508	0.520	0.998	0.002	0.111	0.151	0.910	0.785	0.882
$A\times H\times T$	0.789	0.994	0.393	0.145	0.213	0.178	0.620	0.464	0.637	0.923

Table 4.7. Hematological and biochemical characteristics of rainbow trout fed the different ARA levels\*.

\*Main effect means followed by a different letter are significantly different at P < .05, emphasized by bold P values in the ANOVA table. <sup>a</sup>pCO<sub>2</sub>, partial pressure carbon dioxide. <sup>b</sup>PO<sub>2</sub>, partial pressure oxygen. <sup>c</sup>sO<sub>2</sub>, oxygen saturation. <sup>d</sup>Na, sodium. <sup>e</sup>K, potassium. <sup>f</sup>iCa, ionized calcium. <sup>g</sup>Glu, glucose. <sup>b</sup>Hct, hematocrit. <sup>i</sup>Hb, hemoglobin.

	Brain							
	cox-2 <sup>a</sup>	lox <sup>b</sup>	cox-2	lox	$il$ - $8^c$	$tnf-\alpha^{d}$	il-10 <sup>e</sup>	$tgf$ - $\beta^{f}$
Means of main effects								
ARA level (% of total FA)								
0.10	1.15 <sup>b</sup>	0.99°	1.47 <sup>b</sup>	1.24 <sup>b</sup>	1.12 <sup>c</sup>	1.19 <sup>b</sup>	1.03	1.02 <sup>b</sup>
3.95	1.15 <sup>b</sup>	1.16 <sup>bc</sup>	1.82 <sup>a</sup>	1.48 <sup>ab</sup>	1.16 <sup>bc</sup>	1.30 <sup>ab</sup>	1.16	1.20 <sup>ab</sup>
7.67	1.32 <sup>ab</sup>	1.29 <sup>ab</sup>	1.93 <sup>a</sup>	1.65 <sup>a</sup>	1.39 <sup>ab</sup>	1.37 <sup>ab</sup>	1.19	1.42 <sup>a</sup>
14.8	1.38 <sup>a</sup>	1.40 <sup>a</sup>	1.77 <sup>a</sup>	1.67ª	1.56 <sup>a</sup>	1.48 <sup>a</sup>	1.16	1.42 <sup>a</sup>
Нурохіа								
Normoxia	1.10 <sup>b</sup>	1.11	1.38 <sup>b</sup>	1.23 <sup>b</sup>	1.21 <sup>b</sup>	1.14 <sup>b</sup>	1.26 <sup>a</sup>	1.19
Нурохіа	1.33 <sup>a</sup>	1.27	1.93 <sup>a</sup>	1.66 <sup>a</sup>	1.41 <sup>a</sup>	1.47ª	0.97 <sup>b</sup>	1.22
1h recovery	1.31 <sup>a</sup>	1.25	1.86 <sup>a</sup>	1.64 <sup>a</sup>	1.31 <sup>ab</sup>	1.39ª	1.18 <sup>a</sup>	1.39
Temperature								
15°C	1.18 <sup>b</sup>	1.17	1.56 <sup>b</sup>	1.48	1.28	1.27	1.08 <sup>b</sup>	1.15
21°C	1.31 <sup>a</sup>	1.25	1.89 <sup>a</sup>	1.54	1.33	1.40	1.20 <sup>a</sup>	1.28
Pooled SE	0.03	0.03	0.06	0.06	0.04	0.04	0.03	0.04
Multi factors ANOVA								
ARA level	0.004	0.005	< 0.001	0.004	< 0.001	0.046	0.207	< 0.001
Нурохіа	0.001	0.024	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.044	0.002	< 0.001	0.071
Temperature	0.017	0.065	< 0.001	0.420	0.418	0.079	0.038	0.053
ARA level × Hypoxia	0.987	0.703	0.833	0.956	0.809	0.802	0.594	0.986
ARA level × Temperature	0.754	0.095	0.330	0.106	0.965	0.547	0.297	0.321
Hypoxia × Temperature	0.310	0.812	0.253	0.675	0.259	0.992	0.490	0.610
ARA level × Hypoxia × Temperature	0.711	0.564	0.700	0.918	0.996	0.981	0.990	0.985

Table 4.8. Relative mRNA expression of genes involved in eicosanoids production and inflammatory responses<sup>\*</sup>.

\*Main effect means followed by a different letter are significantly different at P < 0.05, emphasized by bold P values in the ANOVA table. <sup>a</sup>*cox*-2, cyclooxygenase. <sup>b</sup>*lox*, lipoxygenase. <sup>c</sup>*il*-8, interleukin-8. <sup>d</sup>*tnf*- $\alpha$ , tumor necrosis factor alpha. <sup>e</sup>*il*-10, interleukin-10. <sup>f</sup>*tgf*- $\beta$ , transforming growth factor beta.

## Chapter 5:

## Effects of Dietary Arachidonic Acid Supplementation on Growth Performance, Non-specific immunity, Inflammatory Response to Acute Stress During Final Grow-out in Rainbow Trout

Jeongwhui Hong<sup>1</sup>, Jose G. Ortiz<sup>1</sup>, Wendy M. Sealey<sup>2</sup> and Brian C. Small<sup>1\*</sup>

 <sup>1</sup>Aquaculture Research Institute, Hagerman Fish Culture Experiment Station, University of Idaho, Hagerman, ID, 83332, United States
 <sup>2</sup>USDA, Agricultural Research Service, Bozeman Fish Technology Center, Bozeman, Montana, United States

\*Corresponding Author: Brian C. Small

Aquaculture Research Institute, Hagerman Fish Culture Experiment Station, University of Idaho, Hagerman, ID, 83332, United States

Email: bcsmall@uidaho.edu

The following chapter is being prepared as an article for submission to the journal Aquaculture

#### Abstract

A study was conducted to evaluate the effects of graded levels of arachidonic acid (ARA) on growth performance, fatty acid composition of whole-body and ovary, nonspecific immunity, and intestinal inflammatory gene expression in response to stress in rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss during final grow-out. Four isonitrogenous (51% crude protein), isolipidic (15% crude lipid), and isocaloric (23 MJ/kg) diets were produced; ARA 0 (linseed oil, i.e., the control diet), and three other diets with graded levels of ARA oil (ARA-L: 3.95%, ARA-M: 7.67, and ARA-H: 14.8% of total fatty acids). Rainbow trout ( $307 \pm 3.64$ g) were fed to apparent satiation three times a day for 12 weeks to assess growth performance and feed utilization, then fish were exposed to an acute stress (lowering the water level to 5 cm, just above the eyes, for 30 mins). The 12-week growth trial showed that dietary ARA did not affect rainbow trout growth performance and feed utilization during final grow-out. Whole-body fatty acid profiles reflected those of the diets except for eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) content being significantly higher in the ARA 0 group, demonstrating that rainbow trout are capable of bioconversion of  $\alpha$ -linolenic acid (ALA) to EPA. EPA and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) contents in the ovary were less affected by dietary ARA supplementation, likely reflecting the selective deposition of those fatty acids in embryonic development. Plasma superoxide dismutase, catalase, and lysozyme activity significantly increased in both pre-and post-stress groups as a result of incremental increases in dietary ARA, perhaps due to Leukotriene B4, a metabolite of ARA, responsible for the production of lysosomal enzymes and superoxide in leucocytes. The expression of  $tnf-\alpha$  was significantly downregulated in ARA-M and H relative to other treatment groups, suggesting that dietary ARA had an anti-inflammatory effect. These results suggest that supplementation of ARA can boost immune function and inflammatory responses in sub-adult rainbow trout.

#### Introduction

Arachidonic acid (ARA) is an n-6 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acid (LC-PUFA), predominantly present in the phospholipids of cell membranes, and its importance has recently been emphasized, mainly due to its role in eicosanoid production (Bell and Sargent, 2003; Norambuena et al., 2015; Torrecillas et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2019; Xu et al., 2022; Hong et al., 2022). ARA is a required fatty acid in some fish species, playing a crucial role in the regulation of growth and skeletal development (de Vrieze et al., 2014; Lie et al., 2016; Ma et al., 2018; Torrecillas et al., 2018; Araújo et al., 2021) reproduction (Sargent et al., 1999; Norambuena et al., 2012; Zupa et al., 2017; Fei et al., 2021), and resistance to multiple stressors (Koven et al., 2001; Van Anholt et al., 2004a,b). However, several contrasting results have been observed in studies demonstrating the effect of ARA supplementation on several fish species. ARA has been shown to facilitate fish growth in marine and freshwater species such as cobia, Rachycentron canadum (Araújo et al., 2019), Japanese eel, Anguilla japonica (Shahkar et al., 2016), and yellow catfish, Pelteobagrus fulvidraco (Ma et al., 2018); In contrast, significant differences in growth were not observed in grass carp, Ctenopharyngodon idellus (Tian et al., 2017), gilthead bream, Sparus aurata L. (Fountoulaki et al., 2003), and guppy, Poecilia reticulate (Khozin-Goldberg et al., 2006). In this regard, Xu et al. (2021) suggested that ARA, similar to eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) and docosapentaenoic acid (DHA), may also not be sufficiently biosynthesized from precursors (e.g., linoleic acid, 18:2n-6) by high-trophic level fish species.

Rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss*, is a carnivorous fish widely farmed in the worldwide and is a popular experimental model species. Numerous experiments on lipid metabolism, predominantly n-3 LC-PUFA, have been performed with rainbow trout (Gregory and James, 2014; Gregory et al., 2016; Santigosa et al., 2020; Roy et al., 2020). However, to the best of our knowledge, there are no reported studies on the effects of ARA supplementation on rainbow trout growth and stress response.

EPA and ARA have similarities in their structure of 20 carbons and are precursors of eicosanoids that compete for enzymes to synthesize different types of eicosanoids. However, despite the high EPA content in fish tissues, enzymes involved in eicosanoid production, such as cyclooxygenases (COX-1 and 2) and lipoxygenase (LOX), have more affinity for ARA. Under normal conditions, ARA is present in the phospholipids of the cell membrane.

When cells perceive stress, particularly an inflammatory stimulus, phospholipids are released from the cell membrane, and with the help of phospholipase A2, ARA is released (Van Dorp, 1975). The free ARA can be transformed into several different metabolites through the action of different enzymes, COX and LOX, thus facilitating inflammatory cascades (Jonge et al., 1996; Murakami et al., 2000; Arts and Kohler, 2009). Compared to studies in mammals, there are few reports on the effect of ARA on the inflammatory response in fish. In a study with rainbow trout fed genetically modified oil containing relatively high levels of EPA, docosapentaenoic acid and ARA, distal intestinal inflammation was observed, and authors suggested that ARA could be responsible for the inflammation (Hong et al., 2022). However, in European sea bass, an ARA-deficient diet induced upregulation of pro-inflammatory genes expression in the distal intestine (Rivero-Ramirez et al., 2020); similarly, in a study with zebrafish, it was reported that n-6 PUFA-rich microalgae as a dietary supplement upregulated the expression of interleukin 10, an anti-inflammatory cytokine (Nayak et al., 2020). Farmed fish species are often exposed to many different stressors, such as changes in temperatures, oxygen levels, transportation, and handling, which can cause a stress response, and ARA has been associated with alterations in cortisol levels and responses to stress in different fish species (Koven et al., 2003; Lund and Steenfeldt, 2011; Alves et al., 2013). Thus, the present study investigated the effects of graded levels of dietary ARA on the growth performance, fatty acid composition of whole-body and ovary, non-specific immunity, and intestinal inflammatory gene expression in response to stress in sub-adult) rainbow trout Oncorhynchus mykiss (~300 g) during final grow-out.

## **Materials and Methods**

#### **Experimental Diets**

Four experimental diets were prepared and extruded (Bozeman Fish Technology Center, Bozeman, MT) in various sizes from 2.5mm to 4.5mm, and were formulated to be isonitrogenous, isolipidic, and isocaloric. The four diets were formulated as follows: ARA 0 (linseed oil, *i.e.*, the control diet), and three other diets with graded levels of ARA oil (ARA-L: 3.95 %, ARA-M: 7.67 and ARA-H: 14.8% of total fatty acids). The desired ARA content was accomplished with ARA oil obtained from *Mortierella alpina* (Cabio Biotech, Wuhan, China), which contains a minimum of 40% ARA of total fatty acids. The proximate and fatty acid composition of experimental diets are shown in Tables 5.1 and 5.2, respectively. Linseed oil was used in the experimental diets to meet the fatty acid requirements of rainbow trout (NRC, 2011).

## Fish, Feeding Trial, and Experimental design

The feeding trial was conducted at the University of Idaho' Hagerman Fish Culture Experiment Station in Hagerman, Idaho. All fish handling and sampling, plus the experimental protocols used in this study were approved in advance by the University of Idaho's Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC-2021-18).

Rainbow trout (initial body weight:  $307 \pm 3.64$ g), grown from eggs obtained from a commercial supplier, were randomly stocked into each of the twelve 1300-L tanks at 23 fish per tank. Prior to the feeding trial, all the fish were pit tagged to identify individuals. Constant temperature spring water (15°C) was supplied at 8-10 L min<sup>-1</sup> to each experimental tank. Each diet was assigned randomly to three tanks in a completely randomized design. Fish were hand-fed to apparent satiation three times per day, six days per week for 12 weeks under natural light from May 10<sup>th</sup> 2021 to August 3<sup>rd</sup> 2021. After the 12-week feeding trial, three fish per tank, fasted for 24 hours, were transferred to a tank where the water level had previously been lowered to 5 cm (just above the eyes) and held there for 30 minutes.

## Sample collection and Proximate and Fatty acid Analysis

At the end of 12 weeks of feeding, all the fish were individually counted and weighed to calculate weight gain, specific growth rate, feed conversion ratio, and percent survival. After the final weighing, three fish per tank were anesthetized with tricaine methanesulfonate (MS-222, 100 mg L<sup>-1</sup>, buffered to pH 7.0), and individual body weight and length of fish were measured to calculate the condition factor (CF). These fish were then euthanized with a lethal dose of MS-222, and the liver, ovary, and distal intestine were dissected for hepatosomatic index calculation (HSI), gonadosomatic index (GSI), fatty acid analysis and gene expression, respectively. Before and after the stress challenge, three fish per each replicate tank were also euthanized to collect whole blood from the caudal vasculature of fish with 1-ml heparinized syringes fitted with a 24G 1.5-inch needle and centrifuged at 1000 x G for 10 min to collect plasma for non-specific immune parameters,

lysozyme, prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub>, and cortisol analysis. Another three fish per tank were euthanized for whole-body proximate and fatty acid analysis. Tissue samples were snapfrozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C until analysis.

Experimental feeds were analyzed for proximate composition and energy content. Feed samples were dried in a convection oven at 105°C for 12 h to determine moisture level according to AOAC (Association of Official Analytical Chemists) (2000). Dried samples were finely ground by mortar and pestle and analyzed for CP (total nitrogen  $\times$  6.25) using the combustion method with a nitrogen determinator (Elemental nitrogen analyzer, Ronkonkoma, NY). Crude lipid was analyzed by subjecting samples to acid hydrolysis using an ANKOM HCL (ANKOM Technology, Macedon, NY) and followed by extraction petroleum ether using an ANKOM XT15 extractor. Ash was analyzed by incineration at 550°C in a muffle furnace for five hours. The energy content of samples was determined using an isoperibol bomb calorimeter (Parr 6300, Parr Instrument Company Inc., Moline, IL).

The fatty acid composition of the diets, whole-body, and ovary was determined in line with the modified AOAC method 991.39. Briefly, samples were dried for 5–6 h under an N<sub>2</sub> stream at 50°C (OA-SYS heating system, Organomation Associates, Inc., Berlin, MA, USA). Thereafter, 2mL of 0.5N NaOH was added for sample saponification at 70°C for 60min. Following sample cooling, the free fatty acids were methylated by adding 2mL 14% BF3 (Boron trifluoride) in methanol and incubated at 70°C for 60min. After the samples were allowed to cool, 2mL of hexane was added, inverted repeatedly for 60 s, and 1mL of saturated NaCl was added. The samples were again inverted repeatedly for 60 s and then centrifuged at 2000 × G for 5min. An aliquot (100  $\mu$ L) of the clarified hexane extract was diluted in hexane (1:10) and put into autosampler vials for gas chromatography analysis. The injection mode with a helium flow rate and the column temperature was as described by Overturf et al. (2013). All the analyses were done in duplicate.

## Non-specific immune responses, Prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub>, and Cortisol analysis

Commercially available kits (Cayman Chemical, Ann Arbor, Michigan) were used to measure superoxide dismutase (SOD) (Item No: 706002) and catalase (CAT) (Item no: 707002) activities at 25°C. SOD activity was determined at 450 nm based on xanthine and

xanthine oxidase to produce superoxide radicals. SOD activity was measured based on the inhibition rate of this reaction. One unit of SOD activity equals 50% inhibition of decrease in 2-(4-iodophenyl)-3-(4nitrophenole)- 5-phenyltetrazolium chloride according to the experimental conditions. CAT activity was measured by determining the decrease in absorbance of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> at 540 nm. The reaction mixture containing 50mM K-phosphate buffer (pH 6.5) and 50mM H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> was diluted in 80mM K-phosphate buffer (pH 6.5). Calculation of activity was done by determining the extinction coefficient for H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> (a = 40 M<sup>-1</sup> cm<sup>-1</sup>).

Lysozyme activity in plasma was analyzed with a lysozyme assay kit (Sigma-Aldrich). *Micrococcus lysodeikticus* (0.75mg mL<sup>-1</sup>) was suspended in phosphate buffer (0.1 M, pH 6.24), 800 uL of suspension was placed in each well of 48-well plates, and 30  $\mu$ L plasma was added subsequently. The reduction in absorbance of the samples was recorded at 450 nm after incubation at room temperature for 0 and 30 min in a microplate reader (Infinite® m200 PRO, Tecan Trading AG, Switzerland). A reduction in absorbance of 0.001 min<sup>-1</sup> was regarded as one unit of lysozyme activity.

The levels of prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub> (PGE2) and cortisol in plasma were measured using a specific kit (Cayman monoclonal Competitive Enzyme Immunoassay (ELISA) kit, Cat. No 514010, Cayman Chemicals, MI, USA) and cortisol ELISA assay kit (DRG International Inc., Springfield, NJ) according to the manufacturer's instructions, respectively.

## RNA Extraction and Quantitative PCR

Total RNA was isolated from the washed anterior section of the distal intestine using TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) extraction method following the manufacturer's suggested protocol. The purity and quantity of extracted RNA were assessed by Nanodrop ND-1000 spectrophotometer (260/230 and 260/280 ratios >1.8).

Extracted RNA was treated with DNAse, then 1 µg of total RNA was reverse transcribed using the iScript<sup>TM</sup> cDNA Synthesis kit (BioRad, Hercules, CA). Real-time quantitative PCR was carried out on a CFX96 Real-Time System (BioRad) in 10 µL total volume reactions using iTaq SYBR Green Supermix (BioRad) and 500 nmol primers according to the protocol provided by the manufacturer. PCR cycling conditions for all genes were as follows: 95°C for 5 s followed by 55°C for the 30s over 40 cycles with an initial denaturation step of 95°C for 3min. For each fish, PCR reactions were run in duplicate. Relative expression values for genes constituting the pro- and anti-inflammatory response and conversion of ARA to eicosanoids, including tumor necrosis factor alpha (*tnf-a*), interleukin-8 (*il-8*), transforming growth factor beta (*tgf-β*), interleukin-10 (*il-10*), cyclooxygenase-2 (*cox-2*), and Lipoxygenase (*lox*) were determined using primers designed from rainbow trout sequences in the NCBI database. Primer sequences for genes are given in Table 5.4. The two reference genes, elongation factor  $1\alpha$  (*ef1a*) and actin related protein (*arp*) were used to calculate the geometric mean of expression of the two reference genes evaluated. Primer PCR efficiency was calculated for each primer set using a six-step serial dilution of a pooled sample (pooled from each experimental sample for a given tissue). Data were analyzed using the relative quantification method, including efficiency correction following the method of Pfaffl (2001).

## Calculation and Statistical Method

The following indices were calculated using the live weight and feed consumption data.

Weight gain (WG, g / fish)

= (g mean final weight–g mean initial weight)

Specific growth rate (SGR, % / d)

= [(Ln mean final weight–Ln mean initial weight)/number of days] x 100

Survival (%)

= (number of fish at the end of the trial/number of fish at the beginning) x 100  $\times$ 

Average feed intake (FI, g / fish)

= g total dry feed intake/number of surviving fish

Feed conversion ratio (FCR)

= g total feed consumed / (g final biomass - g initial biomass + g dead fish weight)

Condition factor (CF)

= (g body weight) / (cm body length)<sup>3</sup>  $\times$  100

Hepatosomatic index (HSI)

= (g liver weight) / (g whole body weight)  $\times$  100

Gonadosomatic index (GSI)

= (g gonad weight) / (g whole body weight)  $\times$  100

For statistical analysis of data on growth performance, feed utilization, and pre-stress indices tank mean values (n=3) were used for one-way analyses of variance (ANOVA) to identify differences between the dietary treatments. For data collected during the stress challenge, multi-variate ANOVA, with stress and ARA levels as fixed factors, was performed. All data were tested for normality and homogeneity of variance prior to ANOVA. All statistical analysis was performed using SPSS (Version 21 for Window; IBM SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). If significant differences were found, data were subjected to Tukey's HSD test to separate the means at a significance level of P < 0.05.

## **Results**

## Growth Performance and Feed Utilization

At the end of the feeding experiment, there were no significant differences in final weight, WG, SGR, feed intake, FCR, survival, CF, HSI, and GSI among fish fed experimental diets (Table 5.3). Fish weight gain and FCR were similar to values observed in commercial production in Idaho, demonstrating that feeds and rearing practices were appropriate for sub-adult rainbow trout. Survival ranged between 79.7 and 87.0% and was not significantly different among diet groups.

#### Whole-body proximate composition

The whole-body proximate composition of sub-adult rainbow trout fed the experimental diets is presented in Table 5.5. Whole-body dry matter, crude protein and lipid, ash, and gross energy levels were not significantly influenced by the ARA levels (P > .05).

#### Fatty acid composition of whole-body and ovary

The whole-body and ovary fatty acid composition of sub-adult rainbow trout fed the experimental diets are presented in Table 5.6 and 5.7, respectively. The fatty acid composition of whole-body and ovary were significantly affected by the ARA levels (P < .05).  $\alpha$ -linolenic acid (ALA, C18:3n-3) of whole-body of fish fed diet ARA 0 (29.1 %) was significantly higher than those of fish fed diet ARA-H (24.7 %) (P < .05). ARA concentration significantly increased as ARA inclusion level increased (0.43 – 0.85 %) (P

< .05). Whole-body EPA (C20:5n-3) content was significantly higher in the control (ARA 0) and ARA-L groups compared with ARA-H group (P < .05). However, DHA (C22:6n-3) was not significantly influenced by the ARA levels (P > .05).

The fatty acid composition of the ovary was influenced by the different levels of ARA. Myristic acid (C14:0), EPA, and DHA contents were not significantly affected by dietary treatments. Similar to the results of whole-body fatty acid analysis, the content of ARA significantly increased as the inclusion of ARA increased (7.65 - 12.8 %); whereas, conversely, the content of ALA decreased.

## Non-specific immune responses, Prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub>, and Cortisol analysis

The results of the non-specific immune assessment, prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub>, and cortisol concentrations of plasma are presented in Table 5.8. Stress and dietary ARA level significantly increased plasma SOD, CAT, LYS activity (P < 0.05). However, stress had no effect on PGE<sub>2</sub> concentration in plasma (P > 0.05); whereas, different ARA levels affected cortisol concentration in plasma (P > 0.05). No significant interactions between ARA and stress were detected.

## Gene Expression

The relative mRNA (RT-qPCR) expression of genes involved in the conversion of ARA to eicosanoids (*cox-2* and *lox*), and in pro-inflammatory (*il-8* and *tnf-a*) and antiinflammatory responses (*il-10* and *tgf-β*) in the distal intestine of sub-adult rainbow trout fed the experimental diets is presented in Fig 5.1. The gene expressions of *cox-2*, *lox*, *il-8*, *il-10*, and *tgf-β* were unaffected by the diet (P > 0.05). While the expression of *tnf-a* was significantly downregulated (P < 0.05) in the ARA-M and H groups compared to other groups.

#### Discussion

As the aquaculture industry replaces fish oil in aquafeed with mostly vegetable oils, there is a significant reduction of the content of essential LC-PUFAs, EPA and DHA, and enrichment of the content of LA. For this reason, the importance of ARA did not receive much attention until the early 2000s, but it has attracted significant attention in the last ten years. However, research on the effects of ARA, which has been demonstrated to influence fish growth, survival, immunity, inflammation, and oxidative stress response, has been conducted primarily in marine fish species (Montero et al., 2015; Huang et al., 2016; Cho et al., 2017; Rivero-Ramirez et al., 2020). However, Xu et al. (2022) suggested that hightrophic level freshwater species might require dietary ARA supplementation, whereas the low-trophic level species, such as grass carp, might not require ARA in their diets, perhaps due to more efficient fatty acid conversion biocapacity. Moreover, ARA synthesis is limited due to the affinity of desaturases and elongases for n-3 over the n-6 pathways (Bell and Sargen, 2003). To the best of our knowledge, this study is the first to evaluate the effects of dietary ARA supplementation on growth performance and the stress and immune responses in sub-adult rainbow trout. We hypothesized that dietary ARA would affect fish growth performance, stress, and inflammatory response in sub-adult rainbow trout (300 g). Hence, after 12 weeks of the feeding trial, fish were exposed to acute stress to reveal potential effects of dietary ARA supplementation following a the stress challenge.

Increasing dietary supplementation of ARA did not affect rainbow trout growth performance and feed utilization indices. In agreement with this study, several studies with barramundi Lates calcarifer (Salini et al., 2016), Atlantic salmon Salmo salar (Dantagnan et al., 2017), gilthead sea bream Sparus aurata (Van Anholt et al., 2004b), and Malabar red snapper Lutjanus malabaricus (Chee et al., 2020) reported that ARA does not promote growth performance. However, studies with cobia Rachycentron canadum (Araújo et al., 2019), golden pompano Trachinotus ovatus (Huang et al., 2016), Japanese eel Anguilla *japonica* (Bae et al., 2010), rabbitfish *Siganus rivulatus* (Nayak et al., 2017), and striped bass Morone saxatilis (Araújo et al., 2021) demonstrated that dietary ARA improved growth performance. Although no growth differences were observed in the current study, research on mammals has demonstrated that growth performance may be affected by altering the ratio of PGE<sub>2</sub>, involved in protein degradation, to prostaglandin  $F_{2\alpha}$ , involved in protein synthesis (Bell and Sargent, 2003). Furthermore, Norambuena et al. (2016) reported that the inclusion of ARA and EPA significantly improved Atlantic salmon growth performance when compared to fish diets either richer in ARA or EPA, suggesting that ARA/EPA ratio may be linked to improved growth in this species.

In the present study, whole-body and ovary fatty acid profiles generally reflected those of the diets. However, whole-body EPA content was significantly higher in the ARA 0 group compared to the ARA-H group, demonstrating that rainbow trout is capable of biosynthesizing EPA from the substrate, ALA. The capacity to bioconvert ALA to EPA has been reported to be heavily dependent on substrate availability, indicating that higher ALA content in the diet increases EPA biosynthesis in fish (Takeuchi and Watanabe, 1976). In contrast to the results of whole-body EPA content, EPA and DHA contents in the ovary were less affected by dietary ARA supplementation, likely reflecting selective deposition of those fatty acids during vitellogenesis, suggesting their essential roles in embryonic development (Furuita et al., 2007; Bentancor et al., 2015; Torrecillas et al., 2017). According to ovary ARA fatty acid profile results, the ARA-H group did not show a significantly higher ARA content than the ARA-M group. This result may be because, as reported by Norambuena et al. (2016), ARA deposition can only be increased to a maximally optimal level.

Non-specific immune parameters play a crucial role as the first line of defense, especially in fish (Nayak et al., 2017). SOD and CAT are representative antioxidant enzymes; SOD converts superoxide anion to water and hydrogen peroxide, followed by CAT breaking down hydrogen peroxide into water and oxygen molecules (Luo et al., 2012). In this study, SOD, CAT, and LYS activity in plasma significantly increased in both pre-and poststress groups by incremental levels of dietary ARA. These results were consistent with the findings in Japanese seabass *Lateolabrax japonicus* (Xu et al., 2012), Malabar red snapper *Lutjanus malabaricus* (Chee et al., 2020), and Javelin goby *Synechogobius hasta* (Luo et al., 2012) fed diets with increasing dietary ARA levels. The mechanism by which ARA affects fish immune function is known to be through alterations in eicosanoid production associated with neutrophil activity (Samuelsson, 1983; Crooks and Stockley, 1998). Therefore, increased activities of these two crucial antioxidant enzymes likely counteracted the high level of reactive oxygen species (ROS) that would have resulted from the increased respiratory burst activity.

Taken together, dietary ARA appears to provide several benefits regarding immune response and health in rainbow trout. In fish, lysozyme plays a significant role in host protection against microbial invasion, causing the lysis of pathogen bacteria (Kiron, 2012). In the present study, higher plasma lysozyme activity levels in ARA-supplemented groups (ARA-L, M, H) are consistent with the findings in Japanese seabass (Xu et al., 2010), rabbitfish (Nayak et al., 2017) and Malabar red snapper (Chee et al., 2020), in which lysozyme activity increased with increasing dietary ARA levels. Leukotriene B4, a metabolite of ARA, is known to be responsible for the production and release of lysosomal enzymes and superoxide in leukocytes (Samuelsson et al., 1983); thus, increased dietary ARA levels facilitate lysosomal enzyme production. In this sense, it is believed that these antioxidants and lysosomal enzymes are released in response to stress to scavenge ROS and suppress further ROS generation. Similar to the results of non-specific immune parameters, a trend towards increasing plasma total PGE<sub>2</sub> level was observed with the provision of dietary ARA in this study. This finding differs from results in cobia (Araújo et al., 2019), where the prostaglandin level was not proportional to the ARA inclusion levels. These different trends may be due to different fish species, sizes, and inclusion level of ARA. In the case of the findings of Araújo et al. (2019), it is not easy to directly compare with this study since EPA and DHA were supplied in the feed to meet the requirements of this marine fish.

The present study showed no statistically significant differences in cortisol levels in response to ARA levels because of the relatively large variability recorded. However, there was a significant difference between the pre-and post-stress groups. Cortisol is commonly used to measure the stress status in fish. The primary physiological function of cortisol in response to stress is to promote coping and adaptation by regulating energy distribution and balancing osmotic pressure (Bonga, 1997).

The expression of several genes related to eicosanoid production and pro- and antiinflammatory response were measured in the current study. High dietary ARA supplementation significantly downregulated the expression of tnf- $\alpha$  (P < .05), whereas different levels of ARA supplementation did not significantly influence other target genes. The functions of *cox* and *lox* are mainly to catalyze ARA to derivative eicosanoids, initiating the inflammatory response (Calder, 2006; Holen et al., 2015). This concept appears to be consistent with our findings that there were no changes in *lox* and *cox-2* expression in ARAsupplemented groups, suggesting that the *cox* and *lox* pathways are probably not activated under normal conditions but may be activated only when stress or inflammatory response is detected. Interestingly, the expression of tnf- $\alpha$  was significantly downregulated in ARA-M and H groups, suggesting that dietary ARA had an anti-inflammatory effect. This finding is contrary to the notion that n-6 fatty acids, especially ARA, are generally related to the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Xu et al., 2022). In general, ARA-derived eicosanoids in mammals are considered pro-inflammatory, but Calder (2009) reported that PGE<sub>2</sub>, a metabolite of ARA, may have both pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory effects. Moreover, PGE<sub>2</sub> is known to inhibit lymphocyte proliferation and interferes with the production of *tnf-a*, *il-1*, *il-6*, and *il-2* (Calder and Grimble, 2002; Tian et al., 2014). However, further research is required to identify the exact mechanisms of by which ARA and its metabolites influence rainbow trout health.

In conclusion, in this study, dietary ARA did not affect growth performance, survival, and feed utilization indices of sub-adult rainbow trout. In contrast, dietary ARA showed significant increases in non-specific parameters pre- and post-stress, indicating a role for dietary ARA in modulating fish health. To the best of our knowledge, this was the first study to investigate the effects of ARA on growth and health response in rainbow trout.

## **Literature Cited**

- Alves Martins, D., Rocha, F., Castanheira, F., Mendes, A., Pousão-Ferreira, P., Bandarra, N., Coutinho, J., Morais, S., Yúfera, M., Conceição, L.E. and Martínez-Rodríguez, G., 2013. Effects of dietary arachidonic acid on cortisol production and gene expression in stress response in Senegalese sole (*Solea senegalensis*) postlarvae. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry, 39(5), pp.1223-1238.
- Araújo, B.C., Honji, R.M., Rombenso, A.N., de Souza, G.B., de Mello, P.H., Hilsdorf,
  A.W.S. and Moreira, R.G., 2019. Influences of different arachidonic acid levels and temperature on the growth performance, fatty acid profile, liver morphology and expression of lipid genes in cobia (*Rachycentron canadum*) juveniles. Aquaculture, 511, p.734245.
- Araújo, B.C., Rodriguez, M., Honji, R.M., Rombenso, A.N., del Rio-Zaragoza, O.B., Cano,
  A., Tinajero, A., Mata-Sotres, J.A. and Viana, M.T., 2021. Arachidonic acid
  modulated lipid metabolism and improved productive performance of striped
  bass (*Morone saxatilis*) juvenile under sub-to optimal
  temperatures. Aquaculture, 530, p.735939.
- Arts, M.T. and Kohler, C.C., 2009. Health and condition in fish: the influence of lipids on membrane competency and immune response. Lipids in Aquatic Ecosystems, pp.237-256.
- Bae, J.Y., Kim, D.J., Yoo, K.Y., Kim, S.G., Lee, J.Y. and Bai, S.C., 2010. Effects of dietary arachidonic acid (20: 4n-6) levels on growth performance and fatty acid composition of juvenile eel, *Anguilla japonica*. Asian-Australasian Journal of Animal Sciences, 23(4), pp.508-514.
- Bell, J.G. and Sargent, J.R., 2003. Arachidonic acid in aquaculture feeds: current status and future opportunities. Aquaculture, 218(1-4), pp.491-499.
- Betancor, M.B., Sprague, M., Sayanova, O., Usher, S., Campbell, P.J., Napier, J.A.,
   Caballero, M.J. and Tocher, D.R., 2015. Evaluation of a high-EPA oil from
   transgenic Camelina sativa in feeds for Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L*.): effects

on tissue fatty acid composition, histology and gene expression. Aquaculture, 444, pp.1-12.

- Bonga, S.W., 1997. The stress response in fish. Physiol. Rev., 77, pp.591-625.
- Calder, P.C. and Grimble, R.F., 2002. Polyunsaturated fatty acids, inflammation and immunity. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 56(3), pp.S14-S19.
- Calder, P.C., 2006. n– 3 Polyunsaturated fatty acids, inflammation, and inflammatory diseases. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 83(6), pp.1505S-1519S.
- Calder, P.C., 2009. Polyunsaturated fatty acids and inflammatory processes: new twists in an old tale. Biochimie, 91(6), pp.791-795.
- Chee, W.L., Turchini, G.M., Teoh, C.Y. and Ng, W.K., 2020. Dietary arachidonic acid and the impact on growth performance, health and tissues fatty acids in Malabar red snapper (*Lutjanus malabaricus*) fingerlings. Aquaculture, 519, p.734757.
- Cho, S.Y., Kwon, Y.K., Nam, M., Vaidya, B., Kim, S.R., Lee, S., Kwon, J., Kim, D. and Hwang, G.S., 2017. Integrated profiling of global metabolomic and transcriptomic responses to viral hemorrhagic septicemia virus infection in olive flounder. Fish & Shellfish Immunology, 71, pp.220-229.
- Dantagnan, P., Gonzalez, K., Hevia, M., Betancor, M.B., Hernández, A.J., Borquez, A. and Montero, D., 2017. Effect of the arachidonic acid/vitamin E interaction on the immune response of juvenile Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) challenged against Piscirickettsia salmonis. Aquaculture Nutrition, 23(4), pp.710-720.
- de Vrieze, E., Moren, M., Metz, J.R., Flik, G. and Lie, K.K., 2014. Arachidonic acid enhances turnover of the dermal skeleton: studies on zebrafish scales. PLoS One, 9(2), p.e89347.
- Fei, S., Chen, Z., Xia, Y., Liu, H., Han, D., Jin, J., Yang, Y., Zhu, X. and Xie, S., 2021. Effects of dietary arachidonic acid on reproduction performance, tissue fatty acid profile and gonadal steroidogenesis in female yellow catfish *Pelteobagrus fulvidraco*. Aquaculture Nutrition, 27(3), pp.700-711.

- Fountoulaki, E., Alexis, M.N., Nengas, I. and Venou, B., 2003. Effects of dietary arachidonic acid (20: 4n-6), on growth, body composition, and tissue fatty acid profile of gilthead bream fingerlings (*Sparus aurata L.*). Aquaculture, 225(1-4), pp.309-323.
- Furuita, H., Hori, K., Sugita, T. and Yamamoto, T., 2007. Effect of n-3 and n-6 fatty acids in broodstock diet on reproduction and fatty acid composition of broodstock and eggs in the Japanese eel *Anguilla japonica*. Aquaculture, 267(1-4), pp.55-61.
- Furne, M., Holen, E., Araujo, P., Lie, K.K. and Moren, M., 2013. Cytokine gene expression and prostaglandin production in head kidney leukocytes isolated from Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*) added different levels of arachidonic acid and eicosapentaenoic acid. Fish & Shellfish Immunology, 34(3), pp.770-777.
- Gregory, M.K. and James, M.J., 2014. Rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) Elov15 and Elov12 differ in selectivity for elongation of omega-3 docosapentaenoic acid. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids, 1841(12), pp.1656-1660.
- Gregory, M.K., Collins, R.O., Tocher, D.R., James, M.J. and Turchini, G.M., 2016.
   Nutritional regulation of long-chain PUFA biosynthetic genes in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). British Journal of Nutrition, 115(10), pp.1721-1729.
- Holen, E., He, J., Espe, M., Chen, L. and Araujo, P., 2015. Combining eicosapentaenoic acid, decosahexaenoic acid and arachidonic acid, using a fully crossed design, affect gene expression and eicosanoid secretion in salmon head kidney cells in vitro. Fish & Shellfish Immunology, 45(2), pp.695-703.
- Hong, J., Bledsoe, J.W., Overturf, K.E., Lee, S., Iassonova, D. and Small, B.C., 2022.
  LatitudeTM Oil as a Sustainable Alternative to Dietary Fish Oil in Rainbow
  Trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss): Effects on Filet Fatty Acid Profiles, Intestinal
  Histology, and Plasma Biochemistry. Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems, 6, p.837628.

- Huang, Z., Lin, H.Z., Zhao, S.Y., Xiao-Hong, T., Niu, J., Wang, J., Wang, Y., Zhou, C.P. and Qi, C.L., 2016. Effects of dietary arachidonic acid levels on growth performance, whole-body proximate composition, digestive enzyme activities and gut morphology of juvenile golden pompano trachinotus. Israeli Journal of Aquaculture-Bamidgeh, 68, p.20819.
- Hundal, B.K., Liland, N.S., Rosenlund, G., Höglund, E., Araujo, P., Stubhaug, I. and Sissener, N.H., 2021. Increasing the dietary n-6/n-3 ratio alters the hepatic eicosanoid production after acute stress in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Aquaculture, 534, p.736272.
- Jonge, H.W.D., Dekkers, D.H. and Lamers, J.M., 1996. Polyunsaturated fatty acids and signalling via phospholipase C-β and A 2 in myocardium. Biochemistry of Signal Transduction in Myocardium, pp.199-210.
- Khozin-Goldberg, I., Cohen, Z., Pimenta-Leibowitz, M., Nechev, J. and Zilberg, D., 2006.
  Feeding with arachidonic acid-rich triacylglycerols from the microalga
  Parietochloris incisa improved recovery of guppies from infection with
  Tetrahymena sp. Aquaculture, 255(1-4), pp.142-150.
- Kiron, V., 2012. Fish immune system and its nutritional modulation for preventive health care. Animal Feed Science and Technology, 173(1-2), pp.111-133.
- Koven, W., Barr, Y., Lutzky, S., Ben-Atia, I., Weiss, R., Harel, M., Behrens, P. and Tandler, A., 2001. The effect of dietary arachidonic acid (20: 4n- 6) on growth, survival and resistance to handling stress in gilthead seabream (*Sparus aurata*) larvae. Aquaculture, 193(1-2), pp.107-122.
- Koven, W., Van Anholt, R., Lutzky, S., Atia, I.B., Nixon, O., Ron, B. and Tandler, A., 2003. The effect of dietary arachidonic acid on growth, survival, and cortisol levels in different-age gilthead seabream larvae (*Sparus auratus*) exposed to handling or daily salinity change. Aquaculture, 228(1-4), pp.307-320.
- Lie, K.K., Kvalheim, K., Rasinger, J.D., Harboe, T., Nordgreen, A. and Moren, M., 2016. Vitamin A and arachidonic acid altered the skeletal mineralization in Atlantic

cod (*Gadus morhua*) larvae without any interactions on the transcriptional level. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology, 191, pp.80-88.

- Lund, I. and Steenfeldt, S.J., 2011. The effects of dietary long-chain essential fatty acids on growth and stress tolerance in pikeperch larvae (Sander luciopercaL.). Aquaculture Nutrition, 17(2), pp.191-199.
- Luo, Z., TAN, X.Y., LI, X.D. and YIN, G.J., 2012. Effect of dietary arachidonic acid levels on growth performance, hepatic fatty acid profile, intermediary metabolism and antioxidant responses for juvenile Synechogobius hasta. Aquaculture Nutrition, 18(3), pp.340-348.
- Ma, H.N., Jin, M., Zhu, T.T., Li, C.C., Lu, Y., Yuan, Y., Xiong, J. and Zhou, Q.C., 2018. Effect of dietary arachidonic acid levels on growth performance, fatty acid profiles and lipid metabolism of juvenile yellow catfish (*Pelteobagrus fulvidraco*). Aquaculture, 486, pp.31-41.
- Montero, D., Terova, G., Rimoldi, S., Betancor, M.B., Atalah, E., Torrecillas, S., Caballero, M.J., Zamorano, M.J. and Izquierdo, M., 2015. Modulation of the expression of components of the stress response by dietary arachidonic acid in European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) larvae. Lipids, 50(10), pp.1029-1041.
- Murakami, M., Nakatani, Y., Kuwata, H. and Kudo, I., 2000. Cellular components that functionally interact with signaling phospholipase A<sub>2</sub>s. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids, 1488(1-2), pp.159-166.
- Nayak, S., Al Ashhab, A., Zilberg, D. and Khozin-Goldberg, I., 2020. Dietary supplementation with omega-6 LC-PUFA-rich microalgae regulates mucosal immune response and promotes microbial diversity in the zebrafish gut. Biology, 9(6), p.119.
- Nayak, S., Koven, W., Meiri, I., Khozin-Goldberg, I., Isakov, N., Zibdeh, M. and Zilberg, D., 2017. Dietary arachidonic acid affects immune function and fatty acid

composition in cultured rabbitfish *Siganus rivulatus*. Fish & Shellfish Immunology, 68, pp.46-53.

- Norambuena, F., Mackenzie, S., Bell, J.G., Callol, A., Estévez, A. and Duncan, N., 2012. Prostaglandin (F and E, 2-and 3-series) production and cyclooxygenase (COX-2) gene expression of wild and cultured broodstock of Senegalese sole (*Solea senegalensis*). General and Comparative Endocrinology, 177(2), pp.256-262.
- Norambuena, F., Morais, S., Emery, J.A. and Turchini, G.M., 2015. Arachidonic acid and eicosapentaenoic acid metabolism in juvenile Atlantic salmon as affected by water temperature. PLoS One, 10(11), p.e0143622.
- Norambuena, F., Rombenso, A. and Turchini, G.M., 2016. Towards the optimization of performance of Atlantic salmon reared at different water temperatures via the manipulation of dietary ARA/EPA ratio. Aquaculture, 450, pp.48-57.
- Overturf, K., Welker, T., Barrows, F., Towner, R., Schneider, R. and LaPatra, S., 2013. Variation in rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss*, to biosynthesize eicosapentaenoic acid and docosahexaenoic acid when reared on plant oil replacement feeds. Journal of the World Aquaculture Society, 44(3), pp.326-337.
- Rivero-Ramirez, F., Torrecillas, S., Betancor, M.B., Izquierdo, M.S., Caballero, M.J. and Montero, D., 2020. Effects of dietary arachidonic acid in European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) distal intestine lipid classes and gut health. Fish physiology and biochemistry, 46(2), pp.681-697.
- Roy, J., Mercier, Y., Tonnet, L., Burel, C., Lanuque, A., Surget, A., Larroquet, L., Corraze, G., Terrier, F., Panserat, S. and Skiba, S., 2020. Rainbow trout prefer diets rich in omega-3 long chain polyunsaturated fatty acids DHA and EPA. Physiology & Behavior, 213, p.112692.
- Salini, M.J., Wade, N.M., Araújo, B.C., Turchini, G.M. and Glencross, B.D., 2016. Eicosapentaenoic acid, arachidonic acid and eicosanoid metabolism in juvenile barramundi *Lates calcarifer*. Lipids, 51(8), pp.973-988.
- Samuelsson, B., Dahlen, S.E., Lindgren, J.Å., Rouzer, C.A. and Serhan, C.N., 1987. Leukotrienes and lipoxins: structures, biosynthesis, and biological effects. Science, 237(4819), pp.1171-1176.
- Santigosa, E., Constant, D., Prudence, D., Wahli, T. and Verlhac-Trichet, V., 2020. A novel marine algal oil containing both EPA and DHA is an effective source of omega-3 fatty acids for rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Journal of the World Aquaculture Society, 51(3), pp.649-665.
- Sargent, J., Bell, G., McEvoy, L., Tocher, D. and Estevez, A., 1999. Recent developments in the essential fatty acid nutrition of fish. Aquaculture, 177(1-4), pp.191-199.
- Shahkar, E., Yun, H., Lee, S., Kim, D.J., Kim, S.K., Lee, B.I. and Bai, S.C., 2016. Evaluation of the optimum dietary arachidonic acid level and its essentiality based on growth and non-specific immune responses in Japanese eel, *Anguilla japonica*. Aquaculture, 452, pp.209-216.
- Takeuchi, T., Watanabe, T., 1976. Nutritive value of ω3 highly unsaturated fatty acids in Pollock liver oil for rainbow trout. Bull. Japan. Soc. Sci. Fish. 42, 907-919
- Tian, J., Ji, H., Oku, H. and Zhou, J., 2014. Effects of dietary arachidonic acid (ARA) on lipid metabolism and health status of juvenile grass carp, *Ctenopharyngodon idellus*. Aquaculture, 430, pp.57-65.
- Tian, J.J., Lei, C.X., Ji, H., Kaneko, G., Zhou, J.S., Yu, H.B., Li, Y., Yu, E.M. and Xie, J., 2017. Comparative analysis of effects of dietary arachidonic acid and EPA on growth, tissue fatty acid composition, antioxidant response and lipid metabolism in juvenile grass carp, *Ctenopharyngodon idellus*. British Journal of Nutrition, 118(6), pp.411-422.
- Torrecillas, S., Betancor, M.B., Caballero, M.J., Rivero, F., Robaina, L., Izquierdo, M. and Montero, D., 2018. Supplementation of arachidonic acid rich oil in European sea bass juveniles (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) diets: effects on growth performance, tissue fatty acid profile and lipid metabolism. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry, 44(1), pp.283-300.

- Torrecillas, S., Román, L., Rivero-Ramírez, F., Caballero, M.J., Pascual, C., Robaina, L., Izquierdo, M.S., Acosta, F. and Montero, D., 2017. Supplementation of arachidonic acid rich oil in European sea bass juveniles (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) diets: Effects on leucocytes and plasma fatty acid profiles, selected immune parameters and circulating prostaglandins levels. Fish & Shellfish Immunology, 64, pp.437-445.
- Van Anholt, R.D., Koven, W.M., Lutzky, S. and Bonga, S.W., 2004a. Dietary supplementation with arachidonic acid alters the stress response of gilthead seabream (*Sparus aurata*) larvae. Aquaculture, 238(1-4), pp.369-383.
- Van Anholt, R.D., Spanings, F.A.T., Koven, W.M., Nixon, O. and Bonga, S.W., 2004b. Arachidonic acid reduces the stress response of gilthead seabream *Sparus aurata L*. Journal of Experimental Biology, 207(19), pp.3419-3430.
- Van Dorp, D.A., 1975. Essential fatty acid metabolism. Proceedings of the Nutrition Society, 34(3), pp.279-286.
- Wang, T., Fu, X., Chen, Q., Patra, J.K., Wang, D., Wang, Z. and Gai, Z., 2019. Arachidonic acid metabolism and kidney inflammation. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 20(15), p.3683.
- Xu, H., Ai, Q., Mai, K., Xu, W., Wang, J., Ma, H., Zhang, W., Wang, X. and Liufu, Z., 2010.
   Effects of dietary arachidonic acid on growth performance, survival, immune response and tissue fatty acid composition of juvenile Japanese seabass, *Lateolabrax japonicus*. Aquaculture, 307(1-2), pp.75-82.
- Xu, H., Meng, X., Wei, Y., Ma, Q., Liang, M. and Turchini, G.M., 2022. Arachidonic acid matters. Reviews in Aquaculture.
- Zupa, R., Rodríguez, C., Mylonas, C.C., Rosenfeld, H., Fakriadis, I., Papadaki, M., Pérez, J.A., Pousis, C., Basilone, G. and Corriero, A., 2017. Comparative study of reproductive development in wild and captive-reared greater amberjack *Seriola dumerili* (Risso, 1810). PLoS One, 12(1), p.e0169645.

Ingradiants (9/)		Di	ets	
Ingreulents (76)	ARA 0	ARA-L	ARA-M	ARA-H
Fish meal, white fish <sup>a</sup>	10	10	10	10
PBM, feed grade <sup>b</sup>	10	10	10	10
Blood meal, spray dried <sup>b</sup>	5.0	5.0	5.0	5.0
Soy meal, sol ext. <sup>b</sup>	15	15	15	15
Soy protein concentrate <sup>c</sup>	5.0	5.0	5.0	5.0
Wheat gluten meal <sup>b</sup>	5.0	5.0	5.0	5.0
Corn protein conc. 75% CP <sup>d</sup>	15	15	15	15
Wheat flour <sup>b</sup>	14	14	14	14
L-Lysine HCL <sup>e</sup>	1.2	1.2	1.2	1.2
DL-Methionine <sup>e</sup>	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0
Monocalcium phosphate <sup>b</sup>	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.9
Trace mineral mix, Trouw <sup>f</sup>	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1
Vitamin Premix, ARS 702 <sup>g</sup>	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0
Choline chloride (60%) <sup>h</sup>	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.6
Stay C (35%) vitamin <sup>h</sup>	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2
Linseed oil <sup>i</sup>	16	14.78	13.53	11.03
ARA oil <sup>j</sup>	0.00	1.22	2.47	4.97
Composition (% as-fed basis)				
Dry Matter	95.42	95.15	95.53	95.49
Protein	51.4	51.8	51.6	51.5
Fat	14.9	14.9	14.8	15.5
Ash	4.95	4.96	5.00	5.02
Gross energy (MJ/kg)	22.8	23.2	22.8	23.4

Table 5.1. Formulation and proximate composition of the experimental diets (as fed).

<sup>a</sup>SeaPro 75, BioOregon Protein, Inc. Warrenton, OR, USA.

<sup>b</sup> Rangen Inc., Buhl, ID, USA.

° Profine VF, The Solae Company, St. Louis, MO, USA.

<sup>d</sup> Empyreal<sup>®</sup> 75, Cargill Corn Milling, Cargill, Inc., Blair, NE, USA.

<sup>e</sup> Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis MO, USA.

<sup>f</sup> US Fish and Wildlife Service Trace Mineral Premix #3 supplied the following (mg kg<sup>-1</sup> diet): Zn (as ZnSO4·7H2O), 75; Mn (as MnSO4), 20; Cu (as CuSO4·5H2O), 1.54; I (as KIO3), 10.

<sup>g</sup> Vitamin premix supplied the following per kg diet: vitamin A, 2.4 mg; vitamin D, 0.15 mg; vitamin E, 267 mg; vitamin K as menadione sodium bisulfite, 20 µg; thiamin as thiamin mononitrate, 32 mg; riboflavin, 64 mg; pyridoxine as pyridoxine-HCl, 64 mg; pantothenic acid as Ca-d-pantothenate, 192 mg; niacin as nicotinic acid, 240 mg; biotin, 0.56 mg; folic acid, 12 mg; vitamin B<sub>12</sub>, 50 µg; and inositol as meso-inositol, 400 mg.

<sup>h</sup> Skretting USA, Tooele, UT, USA.

<sup>i</sup> Barlean's Ferndale, WA, USA

<sup>j</sup> Cabio Biotech, Wuhan, China

#### Table 5.2. Analyzed fatty acid profile of the experimental diets.

	Diets			
	ARA 0	ARA-L	ARA-M	ARA-H
C14:0	0.19	0.12	0.18	0.15
C16:0	5.24	5.60	5.73	6.07
C18:0	2.84	2.92	2.99	3.35
C18:1n-9	20.7	18.6	17.6	16.5
C18:2n-6	18.4	18.4	18.1	17
C18:3n-3	39.2	36.3	32.4	25.9
C20:4n-6	0.10	3.95	7.67	14.8
C20:5n-3	0.99	1.09	1.09	0.96
C22:6n-3	1.04	0.99	1.04	0.95

		Die	ets	
	ARA 0	ARA-L	ARA-M	ARA-H
Initial weight (g)	309 ± 5.13	307 ± 3.81	306 ± 2.53	308 ± 1.90
Final weight (g)	$606\pm39.0$	$617\pm50.0$	$595\pm23.1$	$612 \pm 18.9$
Weight gain (g/fish)	$298 \pm 43.6$	$310\pm46.2$	$289 \pm 23.0$	$304 \pm 19.8$
SGR (%/day) <sup>2</sup>	$0.80 \pm 0.10$	$0.83\pm0.08$	$0.79\pm0.05$	$0.82\pm0.04$
Feed intake (g/fish)	$501\pm70.0$	$479 \pm 18.7$	$489\pm50.4$	$498 \pm 35.0$
FCR <sup>3</sup>	$1.69\pm0.04$	$1.58\pm0.25$	$1.69\pm0.05$	$1.64\pm0.01$
Survival (%)	$79.7\pm2.05$	$78.3\pm3.55$	$81.2\pm7.39$	$87.0\pm9.39$
Condition factor (%)	$1.43\pm0.08$	$1.43\pm0.07$	$1.34\pm0.05$	$1.44\pm0.04$
HSI <sup>4</sup>	$0.77\pm0.05$	$0.75\pm0.04$	$0.72\pm0.05$	$0.75\pm0.05$
GSI <sup>5</sup>	$0.53\pm0.06$	$0.60\pm0.11$	$0.64\pm0.09$	$0.59\pm0.03$

Table 5.3. Growth performance and feed utilization of rainbow trout sub-adult fed for 12 weeks<sup>1</sup>.

<sup>1</sup>Values are mean  $\pm$  SE (n=3). In the same row, absence of superscripts are not statistically different (*P* > 0.05; Completely Randomized Design, One-way ANOVA; Tukey's HSD test).

<sup>2</sup>SGR: specific growth rate (% day<sup>-1</sup>)

<sup>3</sup>FCR: feed conversion ratio

<sup>4</sup>HSI: hepatosomatic index (%)

<sup>5</sup>GSI: gonadosomatic index (%)

Genes	Component	Sequences	Gene Accession NO
;1.8	Forward	CTCGCAACTGGACTGACAAA	A 1270060
11-0	Reverse	TGGCTGACATTCTGATGCTC	AJ279009
tuf a	Forward	CACACTGGGCTCTTCTTCGT	NM 001124257 1
mj-a	Reverse	CAAACTGACCTTACCCCGCT	INIVI_001124557.1
:1.10	Forward	CGACTTTAAATCTCCCATCGAC	A D 1 1 9000
11-10	Reverse	GCATTGGACGATCTCTTTCTTC	AD116099
tof P	Forward	TCCGCTTCAAAATATCAGGG	<b>V</b> 00202
igj-p	Reverse	TGATGGCATTTTCATGGCTA	A99303
	Forward	GGGCTTTGACATCCTCAACA	NIM 001124249 1
cox-2	Reverse	CATCGGACAAGAACCCTTGA	NWI_001124548.1
low 5	Forward	CTGTCCTCCCTCTGTTCTATCT	NIM 001165225 1
lox-S	Reverse	AGCATTCTGTAGGACGCTAATG	NWI_001103223.1
	Forward	GAAGGCTGTGGTGCTCAT	VM 021(10240.2
arp	Reverse	CAGGGCAGGGTTCTC	AWI_021010240.2
elf1α	Forward	ATGCCCCCAAGTTCCTGAAG	NIM 001124220 1
	Reverse	AACAGCAACAGTCTGCCTCA	NWI_001124559.1

Table 5.4. Primers sequences used in real-time qPCR for the determination of gene expression.

Table 5.5. Whole-body proximate composition and gross energy (wet basis) of rainbow trout fed experimental diets for 12 weeks\*.

	In:4:01**	Diets			
	Innual	ARA 0	ARA-L	ARA-M	ARA-H
Proximate composition					
Dry matter (%)	28.6	$30.1\pm2.80$	$31.0\pm1.52$	$28.8 \pm 1.06$	$29.0 \pm 1.23$
Crude protein (%)	17.4	$18.2\pm0.33$	$18.5\pm0.31$	$18.6\pm0.23$	$18.4\pm0.59$
Crude fat (%)	8.47	$8.70 \pm 1.07$	$9.07\pm0.90$	$8.17\pm0.82$	$7.75\pm0.37$
Ash (%)	2.65	$1.9\pm0.17$	$1.7\pm0.32$	$2.1\pm0.14$	$2.2\pm0.37$
Gross energy (MJ/kg)	26.1	$27.0 \pm 1.32$	$27.8 \pm 1.01$	$26.7\pm0.05$	$26.8\pm0.86$

\*Mean $\pm$ SE (n=3) in the same row that share the same superscript are not statistically different (*P*> 0.05; Completely Randomized Design, One-way ANOVA; Tukey's HSD test).

\*\*Initial values were not included for statistical analysis

	Diets			
-	ARA 0	ARA-L	ARA-M	ARA-H
C14:0	$1.54\pm0.13$	$1.38\pm0.30$	$1.21\pm0.04$	$1.76\pm0.42$
C16:0	$14.1\pm0.35$	$14.2\pm0.39$	$14.7\pm0.21$	$15.8 \pm 1.40$
C18:0	$4.35\pm0.79$	$4.24\pm0.35$	$4.83\pm0.00$	$5.31\pm0.40$
C18:1n-9	$20.6 \pm 1.25$	$19.8\pm2.90$	$19.5\pm0.31$	$17.6\pm0.83$
C18:2n-6	$15.5\pm0.74$	$15.6\pm0.63$	$16.1\pm0.10$	$15.8\pm1.18$
C18:3n-3	$29.1\pm0.29^{\rm a}$	$28.3\pm0.43^{ab}$	$27.4\pm0.23^{ab}$	$24.7\pm0.45^{b}$
C20:4n-6	$0.43 \pm 0.02^{\text{d}}$	$0.59\pm0.00^{\text{c}}$	$0.66\pm0.02^{\text{b}}$	$0.85\pm0.03^{a}$
C20:5n-3	$0.63\pm0.10^{\rm a}$	$0.62\pm0.06^{a}$	$0.49\pm0.02^{ab}$	$0.36\pm0.06^{\text{b}}$
C22:6n-3	$4.86\pm0.41$	$4.64\pm0.77$	$4.31\pm0.08$	$4.33\pm0.10$

Table 5.6. Fatty acid composition (% of total fatty acids) of whole-body of rainbow trout sub-adult fed experimental diets for 12 weeks<sup>\*</sup>.

\*Mean±SE (n=3) in the same row that share the same superscript are not statistically different (*P*> 0.05; Completely Randomized Design, One-way ANOVA; Tukey's HSD test).

		Diets			
	ARA 0	ARA-L	ARA-M	ARA-H	
C14:0	$0.70\pm0.11$	$0.65\pm0.04$	$0.76\pm0.06$	$0.84\pm0.05$	
C16:0	$18.4\pm0.11^{\rm c}$	$19.1\pm0.64^{bc}$	$20.9\pm0.74^{b}$	$24.0\pm0.70^{a}$	
C18:0	$2.42\pm0.09^{\text{b}}$	$2.47\pm0.07^{b}$	$2.65\pm0.10^{ab}$	$2.73\pm0.04^{\rm a}$	
C18:1n-9	$22.5\pm0.72^{\rm a}$	$21.1\pm0.74^{ab}$	$20.7\pm0.50^{ab}$	$19.5\pm0.30^{b}$	
C18:2n-6	$7.63\pm0.30^{ab}$	$8.29\pm0.10^{a}$	$7.72\pm0.21^{\rm a}$	$6.83\pm0.17^{\text{b}}$	
C18:3n-3	$11.8\pm0.54^{\rm a}$	$9.79 \pm 1.04^{ab}$	$9.21\pm0.15^{bc}$	$7.13\pm0.22^{\rm c}$	
C20:4n-6	$7.65\pm0.28^{\rm c}$	$9.82\pm0.66^{\text{b}}$	$12.3\pm0.08^{\rm a}$	$12.8\pm0.54^{\rm a}$	
C20:5n-3	$3.03\pm0.08$	$2.96\pm0.00$	$3.32\pm0.68$	$2.90\pm0.60$	
C22:6n-3	$14.3 \pm 1.47$	$14.3\pm0.35$	$13.5\pm0.36$	$13.7\pm0.34$	

Table 5.7. Fatty acid composition (% of total fatty acids) of ovaries of rainbow trout sub-adult fed experimental diets for 12 weeks<sup>\*</sup>.

\*Mean±SE (n=3) in the same row that share the same superscript are not statistically different (*P*> 0.05; Completely Randomized Design, One-way ANOVA; Tukey's HSD test).

	SOD <sup>1</sup>	CAT <sup>2</sup>	LYS <sup>3</sup>	$PGE_2^4$	COR <sup>5</sup>
Means of main effects					
Stress					
Non-stress group	5.12 <sup>b</sup>	53.6 <sup>b</sup>	116 <sup>b</sup>	168	38.1 <sup>b</sup>
Stress group	5.57ª	61.9ª	152ª	183	234 <sup>a</sup>
ARA level					
0.10	5.10 <sup>b</sup>	50.1 <sup>b</sup>	114 <sup>b</sup>	101°	142
3.95	5.17 <sup>b</sup>	57.7 <sup>ab</sup>	136 <sup>ab</sup>	144 <sup>b</sup>	150
7.67	5.57 <sup>a</sup>	61.2 <sup>a</sup>	145 <sup>a</sup>	227 <sup>a</sup>	136
14.8	5.55ª	60.7 <sup>a</sup>	140 <sup>a</sup>	231 <sup>a</sup>	115
Multi factors ANOVA (P Value)					
Stress	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.141	< 0.001
ARA level	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.167
Stress $\times$ ARA level	0.93	0.075	0.628	0.497	0.425

Table 5.8. Plasma non-specific immune responses, prostaglandin E2, and cortisol concent	rations of
rainbow trout fed for 12 weeks <sup>*</sup> .	

\*Main effect means followed by a different letter are significantly different at P < .05.

<sup>1</sup>SOD: superoxide dismutase (%inhibition)

<sup>2</sup>CAT: catalase activity (nmol min<sup>-1</sup> ml<sup>-1</sup>)

<sup>3</sup>LYS: lysozyme activity (unit ml<sup>-1</sup> enzyme) <sup>4</sup>PGE<sub>2</sub>: Prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub> (pg/ml)

<sup>5</sup>COR: Cortisol (ng ml<sup>-1</sup>)



Figure 5.1. Relative mRNA expression of genes involved in conversion of ARA to eicosanoids (*cox-2* and *lox*), and pro- and anti-inflammatory response (*il-8, tnf-a, il-10, and tgf-β*) in distal intestine of rainbow trout fed experimental diets for 12 weeks. Mean  $\pm$  SE (n = 9 fish per treatment) in the same row that share the same superscript are not statistically different (P > 0.05). Three fish from each tank were used for gene expression. Abbreviations: *cox-2*: Cyclooxygenase-2; *lox*: Lipoxygenase; *il-8*: Interleukin-8; *tnf-α*: Tumor necrosis factor alpha; *il-10*: Interleukin-10; *tgf-β*: Transforming growth factor beta.

# Chapter 6: Conclusion Synthesis of Research Findings

Today, we face a problem because the majority of capture fisheries are fully or over exploited in the sea as well as in freshwater, whereas the demand for seafood continues to grow. For this reason, aquaculture has developed rapidly, and is now recognized as an essential food production sector to bridge the gap between supply and demand for food fish. Undoubtably, aquaculture will expand further in response to increasing global population and per capita consumption of seafood. Aquafeed production will also continue to increase, creating higher demand for protein and lipid ingredients. In the early phases of aquaculture development, only fishmeal was thought to be a potential limiting factor, and fish oil became important only in the last decade, with the development of high-fat salmonids diets and the growing significance of n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids (LC-PUFA) for human consumption, especially eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) and docosapentaenoic acid (DHA). As reviewed in Chapter 1, the meta-analysis reported in 2020 has integrated over ten years of experiments and data from aquaculture operations and noted that dropping the use of fish oil in aquafeeds would substantially lower pelagic fish demand more than lowering fishmeal levels since it requires more biomass to produce one ton of fish oil than one ton of fishmeal. In general, 100 kg of fresh-fish raw material yields an average of 10 kg of fish oil (Turchini et al., 2010). Aquaculture uses around 75% of the global fish oil supply, and fish oil costs are expected to continue to rise (Naylor et al., 2021). Therefore, alternative methods are needed to ensure the continuous growth of aquaculture.

## Nutritional and Biochemical Approach to Enhance n-3 LC-PUFA

There are several approaches to enhance the n-3 LC-PUFA content in the edible portion of fish, of which using nutritional or biochemical approaches are favored (Tocher, 2015). These approaches are based on utilizing a specific dietary supplement or ingredient that would increase n-3 LC-PUFA biosynthesis by mechanisms such as affecting gene expression and enzyme activity. In our experiment presented in Chapter 2, 1.43 mg/g diet cholesterol was added to the trout diet, based on the findings of Norambuena et al. (2013) that cholesterol appears to stimulate fatty acid  $\beta$ -oxidation and the conversion of  $\alpha$ -linolenic

acid (ALA) to DHA. The results of our study showed that cholesterol supplementation numerically increased EPA and DHA contents, but not significantly. In addition, the levels of EPA and DHA in fillet were half that of the group fed fish oil, which is insufficient considering the generally known EPA and DHA recommended intake level (500-1,000 mg per day) announced by multiple health agencies (Aranceta and Pérez-Rodrigo, 2012). One could ask whether a further increase in cholesterol supplementation would lead to an even greater increase in EPA and DHA content, but this does not appear to be a practical option, as this would lead to a sharp rise in feed price. Considering the cholesterol powder price of \$60 per gram and the price of fish oil at around \$2 per kilogram, as well as the nonsignificant increase in EPA and DHA observed, it would not be cost-effective. Furthermore, increasing the amount of linseed oil in aquafeed is also limited in practical use due to the high price of linseed oil compared with other vegetable oils (USDA, 2018). In the experiment described in Chapter 2, 21% of crude fat was used, the same as the fat content level typical in feed formulations in trout. When more fat is included than the recommended level for high EPA and DHA deposition, the feed price may be reduced by the reduction of crude protein level, but the excessive energy supply not only reduced feed intake but also damaged fish health by increased fat deposition in the liver. Considering the results obtained from this study and the limitations mentioned above, I concluded that it is not a practical strategy to replace fish oil by supplementing cholesterol with linseed in trout diets.

Following the cholesterol supplementation experiment with the main purpose of tapping into the fatty acid biosynthesis capability of trout, a follow-up study was conducted to confirm the efficacy of genetically modified (GMO) oil (Latitude oil<sup>TM</sup>), high in docosapentaenoic acid (DPA) and arachidonic acid (ARA), compared to fish oil (Table 6.1). The hypothesis of this experiment was similar to the previous experiment in that it takes advantage of the biochemical capacity of fish, with the goal being to confirm whether the DPA in Latitude oil can be converted into DHA in trout fillet. Based on the experimental results, it can be concluded that Latitude oil can successfully replace fish oil and provides another approach that enables sustainable fish production, an important goal for global aquaculture. It is well known that alternating crops can help manage soil fertility and prevent the build-up of disease and pests (Ball et al., 2005; Bennett et al., 2012); hence, this new canola crop could be a win-win for both aquaculture and agriculture, serving as a rotational

crop for Montana growers as well as helping relieve pressure on wild-caught fish to produce fish oil. In addition, it is an attractive alternative, if priced competitively, in the current situation where fish oil prices are increasing due to the rapidly growing aquaculture industry and the increased demand by nutraceutical industries.

Although the results show that Latitude oil can be a good alternative for trout, it is necessary to consider whether this oil is a suitable ingredient in feeds for marine fish species. It is generally acknowledged that marine fish, as well as crustaceans such as shrimp, require n-3 LC-PUFA due to their limited ability to convert ALA to EPA or DHA (Lim et al., 1997; Tocher, 2010). Numerous studies have shown that essential fatty acid requirements cannot be met by either LA or ALA (see Chapter 1). Two separate experiments were conducted to evaluate Latitude oil in Atlantic salmon Salmo salar (unpublished) and Pacific white shrimp Litopenaeus vannamei (Gia Vo et al., 2021). The study with Atlantic salmon was conducted with two size groups of fish, fingerling (10g) in freshwater and juvenile (184g) in seawater, and neither trial showed significant differences in growth, FCR, and survival. In the study with Pacific white shrimp, Latitude oil was able to replace fish oil up to 100% in fishmeal-based diets and up to 75% in poultry meal-based diets without compromising growth, suggesting that Latitude oil may not be a suitable oil source to replace 100% fish oil without fishmeal inclusion. In addition, EPA and DHA contents in Pacific white shrimp decreased as the inclusion level of Latitude oil increased, which is consistent with the generally known fact that Pacific white shrimp have limited capacity to synthesize EPA and DHA from shorter unsaturated fatty acids. Given that the study with Atlantic salmon did not provide the fatty acid analysis data, it would be inappropriate or likely misguided to conclude that Latitude oil may not be a suitable alternative for marine species. However, at least for Pacific white shrimp, there appears to be a limit regarding complete substitute.

In this study, the improved growth of fish fed Latitude oil, which has lower EPA and DHA content than fish oil, was unexpected. Given that this experiment was a one-year study and the growth difference started to separate at 24 weeks, it is presumed that the improved growth is probably due to some subtle positive interactions of the fatty acids that compounded from the beginning the experiment. In a year follow-up study (not reported here), fish fed diets containing Latitude oil also showed improved growth performance. In study presented in Chapter 3, the histology analysis indicated moderate inflammation in the

distal intestines of fish fed the Latitude oil diets. However, there was no significant difference in feed intake, feed utilization, or survival during the entire production cycle. Thus, intestinal inflammation is not considered to be a significant problem with respect to aquaculture production. However, this study was not done on a commercial farm where pathogens and poor water quality might have worsened the health of fish already experiencing an inflammatory response. Taken together with results of the first study, it is challenging to expect a high biochemical fatty acid conversion rate using ALA as a substrate; however, a higher conversion rate can be expected when higher levels of DPA and EPA are used as substrates, such as when feeds contain Latitude oil.

### Potential Issues of Fish oil Replacement

We hypothesized that the signs of inflammation in the distal intestine and improved growth performance of trout fed diets containing a high inclusion of Latitude oil were attributed to ARA, thus follow-up studies in two different sizes of trout, swim-up fry (0.17  $\pm$  0.01 g) and sub-adult (307  $\pm$  3.34 g) were conducted to characterize the effects of dietary ARA. According to the gene expression results in the distal intestine in the sub-adult experiment, ARA alone showed an anti-inflammatory effect rather than a pro-inflammatory effect. In mammals, it is known that n-6 fatty acids are converted to ARA in the body and promote pro-inflammatory effects; thus, the importance of the n-3/n-6 ratio has been highlighted (Burghardt et al., 2010). However, at least the results of this experiment suggest that ARA may play the opposite role in trout.

By linking the results of the Latitude oil and ARA sub-adult studies, it can be concluded that ARA in Latitude oil was not responsible for inflammation in the distal intestine. Based on the published literature, ARA/EPA ratio or DPA may have been a factor potentially causing the inflammation. There are very few studies on the integrated effect of EPA and ARA on the inflammatory response in fish. However, one of them confirmed that ARA alone did not have a pro-inflammatory effect, but when combined with EPA, the expression of genes involved in pro-inflammatory pathways was upregulated in Atlantic salmon (Holen et al., 2015). In our ARA experiment, only 10% fish meal was used to minimize EPA and DHA to evaluate the effect of ARA alone; therefore, the residual EPA and DHA content in fishmeal was extremely low, which led to the absence of a combined effect of EPA and ARA. Commercial feeds, especially for trout and salmon, use a lipid source with an optimal amount of EPA and DHA, and therefore, are not expected to show similar results to our experimental results in production aquaculture settings. However, given the importance of pursuing sustainable aquaculture, it is necessary to investigate the appropriate ARA/EPA ratio to maintain fish health.

The other potential factor that may have caused intestinal inflammation is DPA in Latitude oil (more than twice that of fish oil). DPA has recently attracted much attention in humans, with a few reports that it can significantly lower cholesterol and triglycerides compared to EPA or DHA (Drouin et al., 2019) and inhibit the expression of proinflammatory genes (Backes et al., 2016). Usually, eicosanoids are directly involved in the inflammatory response, and since these eicosanoids are derived only from C20, the fact that DPA is involved in the inflammatory response is interesting. Perhaps it can be speculated that DPA is oxidized through beta-oxidation to EPA and is involved in the inflammatory response. Very few trials have investigated the bioavailability of DPA in humans, but none have been studied in fish. The main reason for the scarcity of studies is due to the scarcity of highly purified DPA at a reasonable cost to conduct *in vivo* studies (Drouin et al., 2018).

As fish oil has become an increasingly limited and costly ingredient for fish feeds, a significant amount of research has been conducted to replace fish oil with alternative lipid sources, primarily vegetable oils, which are ARA deficient. ARA was not classified as an essential fatty acid since the content of this fatty acid contained in fishmeal, and fish oil is relatively small compared to EPA and DHA. However, studies demonstrated that selective retention of ARA is generally observed in fish due to physiological requirements in various organs, such as the heart (Om et al., 2003), muscle (Norambuena et al., 2013), brain (Trushenski et al.; 2012), and gonad (Emata et al., 2003), when dietary levels are low (Rivero-Ramirez et al., 2020). Based on the literature showing that ARA is selectively retained in muscle and brain, as referenced above, a follow-up study was performed with swim-up fry rainbow trout under the hypothesis that ARA would play an important role in muscle growth and neural development. Since the results indicated that ARA did not affect growth and survival during the 24-week growth trial, it is suggested that trout can sufficiently synthesize ARA from intermediate fatty acids, mainly from LA. These results indicate that the growth differences in the Latitude oil-fed group (Chapter 3) may not be attributed to

ARA alone. Again, given that there may be an interaction between fatty acids, it is inappropriate to conclude that ARA is not involved in growth performance or survival, but at least it can be concluded that ARA itself does not have an effect on these parameters.

In recent years, intensive aquaculture farming has been facing a series of new issues, including low dissolved oxygen levels and sub-optimal water temperature conditions as the result of climate change, such as is the case for Atlantic Salmon (*Salmo salar*) farming in Australia during the summer season (Norambuena et al., 2016). Given the putative role of ARA in inflammation, I also evaluated the effects of ARA on inflammatory response factors under two extreme environmental factors (hypoxia and hyperthermia), where the results revealed that ARA has an antioxidant effect and plays a role in relieving the inflammatory response caused by these environmental factors. Given that anti-inflammatory pathways were upregulated in two separated ARA experiments, ensuring adequate ARA in diets low in fish oil is very likely beneficial to trout. In particular, the swim-up fry stage is more susceptible to disease than later life stages; thus, ARA supplementation in the starter diet may prove useful to fight against pathogens and unexpected stressors. In general, since a significant amount of fish oil is used in starter diets, it seems unnecessary, currently, to supplement ARA. However, when replacing fish oil with ingredients with low to no ARA, it is recommended to provide ARA, either through other oil sources or supplements.

To date, studies on ARA are remarkably lacking compared to other essential fatty acids and even published literature often shows conflicting results. Current research results on rainbow trout show that ARA is a fatty acid that is particularly important for the immune system and inflammatory response. However, its role and effect are not yet fully understood, as it may be conditionally determined by many factors, including the relationship between other fatty acids and the environment.

#### Future Research Directions

Seafood is a rich source of omega-3 fatty acids, which have well-known beneficial effects for cardiovascular and inflammatory diseases and neurodevelopment (Tur et al., 2012; Calder, 2013; Tocher, 2015). In particular, feeds for high-trophic species have traditionally consisted of fishmeal and fish oil, for which these ingredients have been very efficient in supplying EPA and DHA. However, continued aquaculture growth cannot be achieved by

relying solely on marine resources to supply protein and oil in fish feeds. Therefore, the steady growth of the aquaculture industry depends on the development of sustainable feeds containing alternative ingredients that supply n-3 LC-PUFA.

As covered in Chapter 1, dietary supplementation has been investigated with several compounds, such as bioactive fatty acids, sesamin, lignin, and cholesterol, with some success, including enhancing n-3 LC-PUFA biosynthesis. However, the increase in biosynthesis levels observed in the above studies was relatively small and insufficient compared to the amount supplied from dietary fish oil. Therefore, fatty acid metabolism in fish is fundamentally limited by biochemical mechanisms, and maintaining high n-3 LC-PUFA levels in fish itself is unlikely in the absence of external supply. This suggests that dietary supply is the only feasible option for maintaining high levels of n-3 LC-PUFA in farmed fish. Several promising oil sources have emerged recently, such as insect oil, singlecell oil, and genetically modified plant (GMO) oils, each of which has drawbacks. In the case of insect oil, raising insects on a substrate rich in n-3 LC-PUFA increases the n-3 LC-PUFA content in insects, but this also has a limitation in that it is necessary to source byproducts with a high contents of LC-PUFA. In general, the production cost of algae oils is exceptionally high due to the small scale of production and apparent technical challenges. One of the most significant challenges in terms of the use of GMO oil, especially in the EU, is to change public perception towards acceptance of GMO products so that these products can be used commercially in the aquaculture sector. There are two potential ways to alleviate reliance on limited resources for aquaculture's future success: the application of a blend of vegetable oils and algae oils or GMO oils and a finishing diet. The idea of an oil blend is already known to be more effective than using the single source alone, and high n-3 LC-PUFA levels can be expected without compromising fish growth by employing a mixture of vegetable oils and the minimal levels of algae or GMO oils containing high n-3 LC-PUFA values. Since various fatty acids in the feed interact with each other, this method requires much research and careful formulation considering the ratio of fatty acids in the feed. Fish fed a diet mainly containing fish oil generally have a lower EPA and DHA retention, indicating that a large proportion of EPA and DHA are used for energy purposes in fish. In order to minimize energic waste, increasing the level of monounsaturated fatty acids (oleic

acid) available as an energy source in the feed will reduce the reliance on limited feed sources without detrimental effects on fish.

The implementation of a finishing diet on algae oils or GMO oils could also be an option. Studies with several species, such as Atlantic salmon, gilthead seabream, and European sea bass, were conducted to identify the efficacy of a finishing diet with fish oilbased after a grow-out period. In all the trials, the fatty acid composition was similar to that of the group supplied with fish oil. Yet, a finishing diet with a fish oilbased diet is considered a mitigation solution to the problem of fish oil replacement in aquafeed since a significant amount of fish oil is still needed. Therefore, replacing fish oil with algal or similar oil during the fishing period could lower the production costs, rather than supplying fish oil or algae oil during the entire production cycle. However, the initial fatty acid concentration in fillet affects the time needed for fatty acid composition to be improved. In general, according to the papers published, it is known to take 8 to 14 weeks to restore the fatty acid contents tissues depending on initial levels (see Chapter 1).

More research is required not only on the efforts to replace fish oil but also on the issues that may arise from replacing fish oil. Fish oil may have unknown interactions between fatty acids and other components that makes fish oil "special," similar to the situation with taurine supplementation, which as not considered to be necessary until fishmeal was removed from marine fish feeds. Unlike the biochemical mechanisms of amino acids, fatty acids involved in n-3 and n-6 pathways interact, making it more complex to identify the specific role of each fatty acid. Therefore, future studies are needed identify an optimal ratio of n-3/n-6 LC-PUFA or monounsaturated fatty acids/polyunsaturated fatty acids to identify the overall impact of each group of fatty acids rather than one specific fatty acid alone.

#### **Literature Cited**

- Aranceta, J. and Pérez-Rodrigo, C., 2012. Recommended dietary reference intakes, nutritional goals and dietary guidelines for fat and fatty acids: a systematic review. British Journal of Nutrition, 107(S2), pp. S8-S22.
- Backes, J., Anzalone, D., Hilleman, D. and Catini, J., 2016. The clinical relevance of omega-3 fatty acids in the management of hypertriglyceridemia. Lipids in Health and Disease, 15(1), pp.1-12.
- Ball, B.C., Bingham, I., Rees, R.M., Watson, C.A. and Litterick, A., 2005. The role of crop rotations in determining soil structure and crop growth conditions. Canadian Journal of Soil Science, 85(5), pp.557-577.
- Bennett, A.J., Bending, G.D., Chandler, D., Hilton, S. and Mills, P., 2012. Meeting the demand for crop production: the challenge of yield decline in crops grown in short rotations. Biological Reviews, 87(1), pp.52-71.
- Burghardt, P.R., Kemmerer, E.S., Buck, B.J., Osetek, A.J., Yan, C., Koch, L.G., Britton, S.L. and Evans, S.J., 2010. Dietary n-3: n-6 fatty acid ratios differentially influence hormonal signature in a rodent model of metabolic syndrome relative to healthy controls. Nutrition & Metabolism, 7(1), pp.1-6.
- Calder, P.C., 2013. n-3 fatty acids, inflammation and immunity: new mechanisms to explain old actions. Proceedings of the Nutrition Society, 72(3), pp.326-336.
- Cottrell, R.S., Blanchard, J.L., Halpern, B.S., Metian, M. and Froehlich, H.E., 2020. Global adoption of novel aquaculture feeds could substantially reduce forage fish demand by 2030. Nature Food, 1(5), pp.301-308.
- Drouin, G., Catheline, D., Guillocheau, E., Gueret, P., Baudry, C., Le Ruyet, P., Rioux, V. and Legrand, P., 2019. Comparative effects of dietary n-3 docosapentaenoic acid (DPA), DHA and EPA on plasma lipid parameters, oxidative status and fatty acid tissue composition. The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry, 63, pp.186-196.

- Drouin, G., Guillocheau, E., Catheline, D., Baudry, C., Le Ruyet, P., Rioux, V. and Legrand,
   P., 2018. Impact of n-3 docosapentaenoic acid supplementation on fatty acid
   composition in rat differs depending upon tissues and is influenced by the
   presence of dairy lipids in the diet. Journal of Agricultural and Food
   Chemistry, 66(38), pp.9976-9988.
- Emata, A.C., Ogata, H.Y., Garibay, E.S. and Furuita, H., 2003. Advanced broodstock diets for the mangrove red snapper and a potential importance of arachidonic acid in eggs and fry. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry, 28(1), pp.489-491.
- Gia Vo, L.L., Galkanda-Arachchige, H.S., Iassonova, D.R. and Davis, D.A., 2021. Efficacy of modified canola oil to replace fish oil in practical diets of Pacific white shrimp *Litopenaeus vannamei*. Aquaculture Research, 52(6), pp.2446-2459.
- Holen, E., He, J., Espe, M., Chen, L. and Araujo, P., 2015. Combining eicosapentaenoic acid, decosahexaenoic acid and arachidonic acid, using a fully crossed design, affect gene expression and eicosanoid secretion in salmon head kidney cells in vitro. Fish & Shellfish Immunology, 45(2), pp.695-703.
- Lim, C., Ako, H., Brown, C.L. and Hahn, K., 1997. Growth response and fatty acid composition of juvenile Penaeus vannamei fed different sources of dietary lipid. Aquaculture, 151(1-4), pp.143-153.
- Naylor, R.L., Hardy, R.W., Buschmann, A.H., Bush, S.R., Cao, L., Klinger, D.H., Little, D.C., Lubchenco, J., Shumway, S.E. and Troell, M., 2021. A 20-year retrospective review of global aquaculture. Nature, 591(7851), pp.551-563.
- Norambuena, F., Lewis, M., Hamid, N.K.A., Hermon, K., Donald, J.A. and Turchini, G.M., 2013. Fish oil replacement in current aquaculture feed: is cholesterol a hidden treasure for fish nutrition? PLoS One, 8(12), p.e81705.
- Norambuena, F., Morais, S., Estévez, A., Bell, J.G., Tocher, D.R., Navarro, J.C., Cerdà, J. and Duncan, N., 2013. Dietary modulation of arachidonic acid metabolism in

senegalese sole (*Solea senegalensis*) broodstock reared in captivity. Aquaculture, 372, pp.80-88.

- Norambuena, F., Rombenso, A. and Turchini, G.M., 2016. Towards the optimization of performance of Atlantic salmon reared at different water temperatures via the manipulation of dietary ARA/EPA ratio. Aquaculture, 450, pp.48-57.
- Om, A.D., Ji, H., Umino, T., Nakagawa, H., Sasaki, T., Okada, K., Asano, M. and Nakagawa, A., 2003. Dietary effects of eicosapentaenoic acid and docosahexaenoic acid on lipid metabolism in black sea bream. Fisheries Science, 69(6), pp.1182-1193.
- Rivero-Ramirez, F., Torrecillas, S., Betancor, M.B., Izquierdo, M.S., Caballero, M.J. and Montero, D., 2020. Effects of dietary arachidonic acid in European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) distal intestine lipid classes and gut health. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry, 46(2), pp.681-697.
- Tocher, D.R., 2010. Fatty acid requirements in ontogeny of marine and freshwater fish. Aquaculture Research, 41(5), pp.717-732.
- Tocher, D.R., 2015. Omega-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids and aquaculture in perspective. Aquaculture, 449, pp.94-107.
- Trushenski, J., Schwarz, M., Bergman, A., Rombenso, A. and Delbos, B., 2012. DHA is essential, EPA appears largely expendable, in meeting the n- 3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acid requirements of juvenile cobia Rachycentron canadum. Aquaculture, 326, pp.81-89.
- Tur, J.A., Bibiloni, M.M., Sureda, A. and Pons, A., 2012. Dietary sources of omega 3 fatty acids: public health risks and benefits. British Journal of Nutrition, 107(S2), pp.S23-S52.
- Turchini, G.M., Ng, W.K. and Tocher, D.R., 2010. Fish oil replacement and alternative lipid sources in aquaculture feeds. CRC Press.

USDA, 2018. Oilseeds: World Markets and Trade. Foreign Agricultural Service (ed). United States Department of Agriculture, Washington, DC.

Fatty acid (%)	Fish oil <sup>a</sup>	Latitude oil
C14:0	2.24	0.07
C15:0	0.26	0.07
C16:0	21.53	409
C16:1 n7	7.56	0.15
C18:0	3.40	2.45
C18:1 n9	23.24	24.47
C18:1 n7	6.78	2.95
C18:2 n9	0.00	2.27
C18:2 n6	0.98	27.18
C18:3 n3	0.44	2.52
C18:4 n3	0.00	0.30
C20:0	0.00	0.64
C20:1 n9	0.86	0.69
C20:2 n6	0.00	0.24
C20:3 n6	0.00	5.72
C20:4 n6 (ARA)	0.80	2.25
C20:4 n3	0.00	2.22
C20:5 n3 (EPA)	15.98	9.13
C22:0	0.00	0.32
C22:5 n3 (DPA)	0.98	2.28
C22:6 n3 (DHA)	8.99	0.91
Sum n3	26.39	17.36
Sum n6	1.78	36.07
EPA+DHA	24.98	10.04
EPA+DHA+DPA	25.95	12.32

 Table 6.1. Fatty acid composition of fish oil and Latitude oil used in the study (Chapter 3).

<sup>a</sup> Rangen Inc., Buhl, ID, USA.

<sup>b</sup>Cargill Inc., Minneapolis, Mn, USA.